

Representations of biological calcification in two climate models

Author: Kvale, Karin

Publication Date: 2014

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/17208

License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/54069 in https:// unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-04-27

Representations of biological calcification in two climate models

Karin F. Kvale

A thesis in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

CLIMATE CHANGE RESEARCH CENTRE SCHOOL OF BIOLOGICAL, EARTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES

FACULTY OF SCIENCE

December 2014

Abstract

Present and future changes to the ocean organic carbon and carbonate pumps are and will continue to affect ocean ecosystem dynamics and biogeochemical cycles. In this thesis, the ocean organic and carbonate cycles are modelled with a variety of parameterisations and complexity and used to simulate both pre-industrial as well as future hypothetical states. The models produce similar pre-industrial states but very different transient behaviours. A simplistic Biogeochemistry-Ocean Model, the CSIRO-Mk3L, demonstrates a large future ocean saturation state sensitivity to enhanced organic carbon export and reduced carbonate export, though sedimentary carbonate compensation is not considered. A more complex Earth System Model, the University of Victoria Earth System Climate Model (UVic ESCM), is improved with the inclusion of a calcifying phytoplankton functional type, a full calcite tracer, carbonate chemistry dependent calcite dissolution rates, and a ballasting scheme. These modifications slightly improve UVic ESCM performance with respect to observed carbon and nutrient fluxes and greatly improve the mechanistic realism of the model. Addition of a carbonate chemistry dependency on calcifier microbial recycling rates improves calcifier biogeography, but produces mixed results with respect to observed carbon and nutrient fluxes. Greenhouse gas forcing of four variations of the UVic ESCM (1: without calcifiers, 2: with calcifiers, 3: with calcifiers and prognostic CaCO₃, and 4: with calcifiers, prognostic CaCO₃, and chemistry-dependent calcifier microbial recycling) show a common response of a transition between two globally dominant biogeochemical feedbacks. The first is a physically driven one that dominates at lower changes in sea surface temperatures (SSTs) and is sensitive to phytoplankton community composition. The second dominant feedback is biologically driven and overtakes the first at higher SST changes. The deep ocean carbon export and oxygen response is found to be highly sensitive to the inclusion of a prognostic calcite tracer for higher SST changes under this second dominant feedback. This thesis underscores the importance of accurate representation of phytoplankton physiology and ecology in climate models, as well as inclusion of prognostic calcite that accounts for organic carbon ballasting. It also highlights the potentially underappreciated role of microbial processes under both ocean warming and acidification.

Originality Statement

'I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and to the best of my knowledge it contains no materials previously published or written by another person, or substantial proportions of material which have been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at UNSW or any other educational institution, except where due acknowledgement is made in the thesis. Any contribution made to the research by others, with whom I have worked at UNSW or elsewhere, is explicitly acknowledged in the thesis. I also declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work, except to the extent that assistance from others in the project's design and conception or in style, presentation and linguistic expression is acknowledged.'

Relevant Publications and Presentations

Publications and presentations have arisen over the course of writing this thesis. Full citations for the manuscripts can be found in the bibliography.

Publications:

- Kvale KF et al. (2014). Explicit planktic calcifiers in the University of Victoria Earth System Climate Model version 2.9, Atmosphere-Oceans, in review.
- Kvale KF et al. (2011). The combined impact of CO_2 dependent parameterizations of Redfield and rain ratios on ocean carbonate saturation. Biogeosciences Discussions.

Presentations:

- Explicit planktic calcifiers in the UVic ESCM, American Geophysical Union Ocean Sciences Meeting. Salt Lake City, USA, 02/23/2012.
- Adding calcifiers to the UVic Model, SOLAS Summer School. Corsica, France, 08/2011.
- The combined impact of CO₂-dependent parameterizations of Redfield and rain ratios on ocean carbon chemistry, American Society of Limnology and Oceanography Aquatic Sciences Meeting. San Juan, Puerto Rico, 02/17/2011.

Acknowledgements

This thesis was supported by an award under the Merit Allocation Scheme on the NCI National Facility at the ANU, as well as by UNSW through a University International Postgraduate Award, and the ARC Centre of Excellence for Climate System Science.

The author would like to thank Assoc. Prof. Katrin Meissner and Prof. Andy Pitman, both of whom went beyond their regular duties to ensure she was supported through the sometimes difficult circumstances of her tenure. Dr. Meissner's thesis supervision at times included roles as cheerleader, bulldog, baby sitter, swim instructor, slave driver, chef, fashion advisor, fortune teller, life coach and friend, for which the author is grateful.

Contents

List of Figures					
$\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{i}}$	ist of	Table	S	x	
N	Nomenclature				
1	Intr	oduct	ion	1	
	1.1	Pelagi	c Calcifiers and the Marine Carbon Cycle	1	
	1.2	Calcif	ier Characteristics	2	
		1.2.1	Coccolithophores	2	
		1.2.2	Calcifying Zooplankton	4	
	1.3	Calcif	ication in Ocean and Climate Models	5	
		1.3.1	Fixed Production/Remineralisation Models	5	
		1.3.2	NPZD Models	7	
		1.3.3	Multi-PFT Models	7	
	1.4	Calcif	ication Modelling Applications	8	
		1.4.1	Plankton Response to Ocean Warming and Stratification $\ .$.	9	
		1.4.2	Plankton Response to a Changing CO ₂ Thermodynamic Equi-	10	
		1 / 9	Climate Despanse to Changes in Oscan Pickery, a Thesis Outline	10	
		1.4.0	Chimate Response to Changes in Ocean Blology- a Thesis Outline	19	
2	The	e Coml	oined Impact of CO ₂ -Dependent Parameterisations of El-		
	eme	ental a	nd Rain Ratios on Ocean Carbonate Saturation	16	
	2.1	Model	and Experimental Design	17	
		2.1.1	Elemental Ratio Parameterisation	17	
		2.1.2	Rain Ratio Parameterisation	18	
		2.1.3	Experimental Design	20	
		2.1.4	Model Evaluation	20	
	2.2	Trans	ient Simulations	23	
		2.2.1	$CaCO_3$ and POC Surface Export	23	
		2.2.2	Carbonate Saturation	26	
	2.3	Summ	ary and Conclusions	28	

3	\mathbf{A} \mathbf{N}	New Calcification Submodel for the UVic ESCM	30
	3.1	Model Description	31
		3.1.1 Tracer Equations	33
		3.1.2 Calcite Production and Export	35
		3.1.3 Phytoplankton	36
		3.1.4 Grazing	38
	3.2	Model Tuning	39
	3.3	Model Assessment	45
	3.4	Conclusions	61
1	A ni	plication of a Calcite Saturation State Dependency on the Cal	_
4	cifie	er Population in the UVic ESCM	64
	4.1	Introduction	64
	4.2	Methods	65
	4.3	Results and Discussion	66
		4.3.1 Growth Rate	66
		4.3.2 Mortality Rate	67
		4.3.3 Microbial Fast Recycling Rate	68
	4.4	Conclusions and Caveats	71
5	UV	ic ESCM Transient Future Simulations	75
	5.1	Methods	76
	5.2	Results and Discussion	77
		5.2.1 Changes in Net Primary Production and Biology	77
		5.2.2 NPP/SST Sensitivity	88
		5.2.3 Changes in Carbon Export	89
		5.2.4 Changes in Oxygen	92
		5.2.5 Changes in Carbonate Chemistry and DIC	94
	5.3	Summary and Conclusions	95
6	Cor	nclusions	100
P	blice	rranhy	109
	ເກມດຄ	Srapny	TOO

List of Figures

1.1	Marine carbon cycle schematic	2
1.2	$E. hux bloom \dots $	3
1.3	Ocean biogeochemical model hierarchy	6
1.4	Mineral ballast hypothesis	12
1.5	The rain ratio	12
2.1	Redfield C:P scaling	18
2.2	Scaling of CaCO ₃ :P	19
2.3	GLODAP and pre-industrial Mk3L simulation comparison 1	21
2.4	GLODAP and pre-industrial Mk3L simulation comparison 2	22
2.5	Global $CaCO_3$ and POC surface export production	23
2.6	Organic and carbonate pump feedback schematic	25
2.7	Pre-industrial and year 2500 calcite saturation anomalies	27
3.1	UVic ESCM biogeochemical model schematic	32
3.2	Simulated tracers compared to observations	46
3.3	Taylor diagrams of simulated tracers	48
3.4	Annual average PFT biomass	49
3.5	Zonally averaged PO_4^{3-} by basin $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	50
3.6	Zonally averaged DIC by basin	51
3.7	Zonally averaged alkalinity by basin	52
3.8	Zonally averaged $CaCO_3$ concentration by basin $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	54
3.9	Model/observation regression of $CaCO_3$ and POC concentration	55
3.10	Taylor diagram of model $CaCO_3$ concentrations	56
3.11	Model average carbon export fluxes and rain ratio	57
3.12	Percent $CaCO_3$ sediment composition	58
3.13	Hovmöller diagrams of depth-integrated PFT concentrations	59
4.1	Scaling factor	67
4.2	Microbial recycling rate maps	69
4.3	Depth-integrated annual average PFT biomass	70
4.4	Biogeochemical simulated tracers	72
4.5	OMEGA average $CaCO_3$ and POC export	73
5.1	Global biogeochemical response to RCP8.5 forcing	79

5.2	Hovmöller diagrams of variable anomalies	80
5.3	Tropical biogeochemical response to RCP8.5 forcing	83
5.4	Middle latitude biogeochemical response to RCP8.5 forcing	84
5.5	Southern Ocean biogeochemical response to RCP8.5 forcing	85
5.6	UVic ESCM biogeochemical response schematic	86
5.7	Global % NPP change versus change in global average SSTs	89
5.8	Timeseries of export production	91
5.9	Change in suboxic water volume	94
5.10	Diagnosed global carbon emissions	95
5.11	Depth integrated DIC anomalies	96

List of Tables

3.1	Miscellaneous UVic ESCM biogeochemical model parameters	40
3.2	UVic ESCM model $CaCO_3$ export-production parameters	41
3.3	UVic ESCM biogeochemical model phytoplankton production param-	
	eters	42
3.4	UVic ESCM biogeochemical model zooplankton parameters	43
3.5	Globally integrated biological properties	47
4.1	Changed UVic ESCM parameters	71
4.2	Globally integrated biological properties	71
5.1	Globally integrated oxygen trends	93

Nomenclature

- DIC Dissolved Inorganic Carbon
- DMS Dimethyl Sulphide
- DOC Dissolved Organic Carbon
- EMIC Earth Models of Intermediate Complexity
- EP Export Production; POC and CaCO₃ production and export from the nearsurface
- GLODAP Global Data Analysis Project
- Mk3L CSIRO-Mk3L coarse resolution climate model
- NPP Net Primary Production
- NPZD Nutrients Phytoplankton Zooplankton Detritus
- OCMIP Ocean Carbon-Cycle Model Intercomparison Project
- OGCM Ocean General Circulation Model
- PFT Plankton Functional Type
- POC Particulate Organic Carbon
- POP Particulate Organic Phosphate
- Rain Ratio CaCO₃:POC production ratio
- RCP Representative Concentration Pathways
- SST Sea Surface Temperature

UVic ESCM University of Victoria Earth System Climate Model

WOA World Ocean Atlas

Chapter 1

Introduction

Earth system models are incorporating ever larger ecological schemata to represent our growing mechanistic understanding of biological connections to global biogeochemical cycles. In the ocean, "Dynamic Green Ocean Models" (Le Quéré et al., 2005) use multiple plankton functional types (PFTs) to explicitly link marine organisms to global chemical cycles through ecology and physiology. PFTs are not explicit organisms, but are instead conceptual classifications of marine plankton according to their biogeochemical role (Hood et al., 2006).

1.1 Pelagic Calcifiers and the Marine Carbon Cycle

Pelagic calcifiers as a PFT (phytoplankton coccolithophores, and zooplankton foraminifera and pteropods) are responsible for over half of the global calcium carbonate production (Milliman, 1993), with 59–77% of this production from coccolithophores (Fabry, 1989), 23–56% from foraminifera (Schiebel, 2002), and 4–13% from pteropods (Fabry, 1989). Biogenic calcification (Equation 1.1) forms particulate calcium carbonate (CaCO₃,), which accounts for about 4% of the global annual carbon export out of the euphotic zone (Jin et al., 2006, , and Figure 1.1). Global annual export fluxes of CaCO₃ amount to about 1.14 Pg C per year (Jin et al., 2006).

$$\operatorname{Ca}^{2+} + 2\operatorname{HCO}_3^- \longrightarrow \operatorname{CaCO}_3 + \operatorname{CO}_{2(aq)} + \operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{O}.$$
 (1.1)

A 34% global average calcium carbonate composition in marine sediments (Archer, 1996a), however, indicates that biogenic CaCO₃ is an important vector for longterm, open ocean carbon sequestration. Furthermore, CaCO₃ exporting from the surface ocean might act as a globally significant ballast for particulate organic carbon (POC, Armstrong et al., 2002), a phenomenon responsible for 80–83% of the POC



Figure 1.1: Marine carbon cycle schematic from Heinze et al. (1991).

that ends up in the benchos (Klaas and Archer, 2002), though the presence of a simple physical mechanism has recently been called into question due to a lack of spatial correlation between $CaCO_3$ and POC (Wilson et al., 2012).

Pelagic calcifiers not only contribute to deep sea and benchic carbon inventory, but also affect the atmosphere-ocean CO_2 gradient through the release of CO_2 during calcification (Equation 1.1, Zondervan et al., 2001, , and Figure 1.1). This release of CO_2 provides a chemical link between calcification and photosynthesis (Equation 1.2 and Figure 1.1), where some of it is used for POC production. Global annual export fluxes of POC amount to about 9.8 Pg C per year (Jin et al., 2006).

$$106CO_2 + 16NO_3^- + HPO_4^{2-} + 78H_2O + 18H^+ \longrightarrow C_{106}H_{175}O_{42}N_{16}P + 150O_2.$$
 (1.2)

Phytoplankton coccolithophores participate in the production and export of both $CaCO_3$ and POC. Calcifying zooplankton fecal material is a combination of $CaCO_3$ and POC as a result of their diet, and is an effective transport mechanism for POC to the deep ocean (summarised by Le Quéré et al., 2005).

1.2 Calcifier Characteristics

1.2.1 Coccolithophores

Roughly 200 coccolithophore species live in the modern global ocean (Winter and Siesser, 1994). Of these, *Emiliania huxleyi* has been studied most extensively. The

1. Introduction



Figure 1.2: Satellite image of an *E. hux* bloom in the Barents Sea (NASA, 2013).

reasons are partly historical; Westbroek et al. (1993) called for experimental and modelling work to focus on this single representative species as a first step towards constraining the role of all coccolithophores in the global carbon cycle and their role in dimethyl sulphide (DMS) production. The reasons are also partly practical; E. *huxleyi* is one of only a few coccolithophore species that form blooms observable by satellites (Figure 1.2), it is widely distributed and composes 20–50% of the coccolithophore community over most of the global ocean, and it is easy to grow and study in controlled laboratory or mesocosm conditions (summarised by Westbroek et al., 1993). Tuning calcification in models to *E. huxleyi* introduces two major biases; the first being that the role of the species is overstated and significantly under-estimates the CaCO₃ export contribution from non-bloom forming species (Sarmiento et al., 2002). The second major bias is that E. huxleyi is not physiologically representative of extinct but formerly abundant coccolithophore species (which were generally more massive), and tuning to the species biases the model to the modern ocean, hampering our efforts to understand rapid warming events like the Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum.

Satellite reconstructions of $CaCO_3$ concentration in the euphotic zone show strong seasonal and regional variability (Balch et al., 2005). A recent data compilation by O'Brien et al. (2013) shows coccolithophore presence and abundance peaks around 20°S and 60°N. Much of the seasonal variability comes in the form of high latitude summer calcifier blooms, where about 69% of the October to March global CaCO₃ concentration occurs in the Southern Hemisphere (40% south of 30° S), and 59% of the April through September global CaCO₃ concentration occurs in the Northern Hemisphere (29% north of 30°N; Balch et al., 2005). These blooms can be extensive and have been observed to exceed $100,000 \text{ km}^2$ (Brown and Yoder, 1994). E. huxleyi blooms occur in the upper 30 m (see review by Zondervan, 2007), and correlate with a narrow range of sea surface temperatures, light levels, and nutrient depletion (Iglesias-Rodríguez et al., 2002a). Surface stratification appears to be prerequisite (Zondervan, 2007). E. huxleyi blooms have also been linked to high ambient $[CO_3^{2-}]$, though whether this relationship functions as a control on growth is unknown (Merico et al., 2006). Blooms of coccolithophores tend to follow blooms of diatoms, which explains why they correlate with nutrient-depleted conditions, but coccolithophores have shown an ability to grow in nutrient-rich substrate, suggesting limited nutrients alone is not a necessary condition for blooms (Zondervan, 2007). Generally compared with other phytoplankton, E. huxleyi have a greater tolerance for high irradiance, an enhanced ability to utilise phosphate and non-nitrate nitrogen, a lesser susceptibility to iron limitation and a greater susceptibility to zinc limitation (Zondervan, 2007).

A recent global survey of coccolithophore populations found large variations in the degree of calcification between species and morphotypes, with more heavily calcified types associated with higher seawater concentrations of carbonate (Beaufort et al., 2011). An exceptional heavily calcified morphotype of *E. hux* was also described by Beaufort et al. (2011) in very low-carbonate concentration seawater, highlighting the complications of assigning global characteristics to a calcifier PFT.

1.2.2 Calcifying Zooplankton

Zooplankton CaCO₃ export is also highly episodic. Planktonic foraminifera generally bloom in spring when deep-dwelling species ascend to feed on blooming phytoplankton stocks, and again in autumn when increased vertical mixing increases food supply (Schiebel, 2002). Their seasonal pattern however is not easily correlated at a global scale to primary production because many forams are omniverous (Schiebel and Movellan, 2012). Like phytoplankton coccolithophores, most research into heterotrophic calcification has focused on select species (e.g., *Orbulina universa* and *Globigerina bulloides*) for the practical reason that their preservation in sediments is useful for paleoclimate reconstructions (see review by Hood et al., 2006). Estimates of foraminifer biomass production are very poorly constrained, with Schiebel and Movellan (2012) estimating 8.2–32.7 Tg C yr⁻¹ based on a compilation of published data. Pteropod dynamics are poorly understood and their CaCO₃ production seems to be even more episodic than foraminifera (summarised in Schiebel, 2002), though a recent data compilation by Bednaršek et al. (2012) suggests pteropod biomass is only episodic in the Southern Hemisphere. Most pteropods appear to live within the $30-60^{\circ}$ N latitudinal band, with the lowest populations in Equatorial regions (Bednaršek et al., 2012). Because they secrete aragonite (a more soluble carbonate than calcite) their contribution to global deep export is more difficult to measure (Hood et al., 2006).

1.3 Calcification in Ocean and Climate Models

1.3.1 Fixed Production/Remineralisation Models

The episodic nature of $CaCO_3$ production is ignored in models that assume globally uniform, fixed CaCO₃:POC (rain ratio) production and export (e.g., Yamanaka and Tajika, 1996; Dutay et al., 2002; Najjar et al., 2007). Fixed ratio models are tuned to modern ocean carbon profiles and do not resolve biology (upper left green box in Figure 1.3, with sample processes listed in the pink box). They do not contain the requisite mechanistic flexibility needed to model significantly different or transitioning biogeochemical climates. Some attempt to circumvent this limitation by adding parameterisations that adjust $CaCO_3$ and/or POC export according to changes in a state variable (e.g. depth or pCO₂, Schneider et al., 2004; Ridgwell et al., 2007a). Chapter 2 illustrates some of the strengths and weaknesses of such a model using the CSIRO-Mk3L (Phipps, 2010) climate model to explore non-linear changes in ocean carbonate saturation state with increasing pCO_2 . As is demonstrated in Chapter 2, one strength of fixed production/remineralisation models is the ease of implementing variable stoichiometry (an onerous task in the more complex UVic ESCM used in subsequent chapters). These types of models are useful for gaining first-order understanding of the interplay between various compartments of the Earth System; e.g., the non-linear impact on ocean interior carbonate saturation state from changes in organic and inorganic carbon pump stoichiometry demonstrated in Chapter 2. A limitation of these types of models is that they cannot simulate feedbacks within Earth System compartments that are internally-derived; e.g., the runaway nutrient transport feedback that arises in the UVic ESCM in Chapter 5.



Figure 1.3: Schematic of common ocean biogeochemical model components and

Figure 1.3: Schematic of common ocean biogeochemical model components an hierarchy, modelled after (U.S. Joint Global Ocean Flux Study).

1.3.2 NPZD Models

Other models introduce greater complexity and calculate CaCO₃ export production using a rain ratio and explicit phytoplankton and zooplankton PFTs, while also including carbon and nutrient pools (e.g., Six and Maier-Reimer, 1996; Palmer and Totterdell, 2001; Heinze, 2004; Schmittner et al., 2005; Popova et al., 2006; Hofmann and Schellnhuber, 2009, , bottom two green boxes in Figure 1.3). These models (often abbreviated as NPZD, for nutrients-phytoplankton-zooplankton-detritus) might also include adjustments to CaCO₃ and POC export from changes in state variables or carbonate chemistry (e.g., Six and Maier-Reimer, 1996; Heinze, 2004; Hofmann and Schellnhuber, 2009) but they do not capture shifts in ecosystem structure or physiology and also cannot produce strong PFT seasonality when applied globally. The University of Victoria Earth System Climate Model (UVic ESCM, Weaver et al. 2001, Eby et al. 2009) base version 2.9 fits into this category of model.

1.3.3 Multi-PFT Models

While the simplest single-PFT models can fit data equally well as more complex multi-PFT models when a very limited pelagic regime is considered, increasing the PFTs in a model increases the portability to multiple regimes (Friedrichs et al., 2007). Multiple explicit PFTs can represent non-linear biological responses to resource-based and grazing selective pressures, though within PFTs there will still exist enough variety that results from lab experiments can only provide qualitative descriptions of physiology (Le Quéré et al., 2005). Multi-PFTs have better success in reproducing seasonal succession in regional models (particularly studies focused at high latitudes, e.g., Tyrrell and Taylor, 1996; Gregg et al., 2003; Merico et al., 2004; Litchman et al., 2006) than they have when used globally (e.g., Moore et al., 2002; Aumont et al., 2003; Gregg et al., 2003; Le Quéré et al., 2005) (summarised by Anderson, 2005). The UVic ESCM presented here is a multi-PFT model that includes a mixed phytoplankton type, calcifiers, diazotrophs, and a zooplankton PFT. While model structures varies substantially, a general weakness of this approach is that models are not written with enough flexibility in community structure or biodiversity to allow for emergent PFTs, a key capability for understanding climate change response.

A variety of approaches are taken to representing calcification in multi-PFT models. Implicit calcification of one or more PFTs with fixed rain ratios are common (Le Quéré et al., 2005; Schmittner et al., 2008; Aumont and Bopp, 2006, and the UVic ESCM version described in Chapters 3-5); less common approaches include

co-limitation of calcification by light and temperature (Moore et al., 2002), with a coccolith shedding parameterisation (Tyrrell and Taylor, 1996), or adjustment of the rain ratio with changes in carbonate chemistry (Gehlen et al., 2007; Yool et al., 2013) or latitude (Yool et al., 2011). Other models simply ignore CaCO₃ altogether (Aumont et al., 2003; Gregg et al., 2003; Litchman et al., 2006).

Dissolution of CaCO₃ typically follows the method of Dutay et al. (2002) by assuming that sinking speed and dissolution rates are static (e.g., Le Quéré et al., 2005; Aumont and Bopp, 2006; Schmittner et al., 2005, 2008), but can also be parameterised as dependent on carbonate chemistry (Gehlen et al., 2007). The UVic ESCM version presented in Chapters 3 to 5 includes a prognostic CaCO₃ tracer as well as dissolution rates that are chemistry-dependent.

1.4 Calcification Modelling Applications

The annual fraction of anthropogenic CO_2 emissions remaining in the atmosphere has increased over the past 50 years from 40 to 45% (Le Quéré et al., 2009). The building up of anthropogenic CO_2 in the atmosphere is intensifying greenhouse warming and contributing heat to the oceans. Between 1961 and 2003, the heat content in the upper 700 m increased an average of $16\pm 3 \times 10^{22}$ J (Domingues et al., 2008), while the heat content in the abyssal 3000 m increased an average of 0.8×10^{22} J per decade between 1985 and 2006 (Kouketsu et al., 2011). Disparate rates of warming between the surface and deep ocean are increasing water column stratification and altering ocean circulation (e.g., Johnson et al., 2008). At the same time, the oceans absorbed an average of 2.2 ± 0.4 Pg C per year between 1990-2000 (Le Quéré et al., 2009). Dissolution of CO_2 in seawater lowers the pH, and the ocean has acidified an average of 0.1 pH units since 1750 (Caldeira and Wickett, 2003). Increasing ocean stratification and sea surface temperature could act as positive feedbacks on the ocean-atmosphere CO₂ equilibrium by furthermore reducing the solubility of CO_2 in seawater (Maier-Reimer et al., 1996; Joos et al., 1999; Chuck et al., 2005).

Future ocean warming and shifting carbon cycle thermodynamics are expected to have global biogeochemical repercussions (recently summarised by Gruber, 2011). Increased water column stratification is expected to increase temperature-dependent biological rates and light availability, as well as to diminish resupply of nutrients to the euphotic zone from the deep ocean (e.g., Bopp et al., 2001; Steinacher et al., 2010), and to reduce gas exchange between the atmosphere, surface and deep ocean (e.g., Sarmiento et al., 1998). Dissolved oxygen concentrations in seawater are declining (e.g., Keeling and Garcia, 2002; Whitney et al., 2007; Stramma et al., 2008) because increasing temperatures and stratification decrease oxygen solubility and transport (e.g., Bopp et al., 2002; Matear and Hirst, 2003), and increase biological oxygen consumption (e.g., Keeling and Garcia, 2002; see Keeling et al., 2010, for a recent review). The net response of ocean biology is highly uncertain and of high concern because biological pathways for carbon export out of the euphotic zone are non-trivial (around 11 Pg C per year, Jin et al. 2006). Climate models incorporating multi-PFT biogeochemistry are tools ideally suited to understanding and quantifying these feedbacks.

1.4.1 Plankton Response to Ocean Warming and Stratification

The net marine biological response to ocean warming and stratification in models seems to depend on whether biological processes are considered temperature dependent (Taucher and Oschlies, 2011; Segschneider and Bendtsen, 2013). Coupled ocean-climate models take a varied approach to representing temperature-dependent processes, with most limiting temperature dependency to primary production. These models project decreases in global mean primary production and export over coming decades, caused by stratification reducing nutrient resupply to the euphotic zone (Maier-Reimer et al., 1996; Bopp et al., 2005; Steinacher et al., 2010; Bopp et al., 2013; Moore et al., 2013a). Some models that include temperature-dependent heterotrophy and remineralisation project increases in primary production as a warmer and more stratified euphotic zone enhances nutrient recycling (Schmittner et al., 2005, 2008; Taucher and Oschlies, 2011; Segschneider and Bendtsen, 2013).

In either scenario, alteration of net primary production will also likely be accompanied by changing phytoplankton community composition (Cermeno et al., 2008; Marinov et al., 2010, 2013). Marinov et al. (2010) find a dual susceptibility in small phytoplankton (a proxy for coccolithophores) versus diatoms, where shifts in the "critical nutrient" threshold over the 21^{st} century are projected to favour diatoms between 45° N and 45° S, and small phytoplankton in the high latitudes. Coccolithophores out-compete diatoms in nutrient poor (deep nutricline) regions, and a shift to coccolithophore rather than diatom-dominated communities could reduce net primary production and provide another positive feedback to atmospheric CO₂ (Cermeno et al., 2008). A shift to small phytoplankton under warming and stratification would furthermore decrease the export ratio and carbon export rate (Bopp et al., 2005). Should increasing primary production be accompanied by increasing calcification, a positive climate feedback would occur owing to the increasing release of CO_2 as a by-product of the calcification (Iglesias-Rodríguez et al., 2008; Schmittner et al., 2008). However, changes in timing and strength of coccolithophore seasonal blooms and their associated contributions to $CaCO_3$ export could be affected by short term, local changes in calcite saturation (Merico et al., 2006), so it remains unclear to what degree coccolithophores might benefit from changes in nutrient and light limitation.

1.4.2 Plankton Response to a Changing CO₂ Thermodynamic Equilibrium

An overview of marine carbonate chemistry is first provided before discussing the role of marine biology. The following chemical reactions govern the marine carbonate system:

$$\operatorname{CO}_2(g) \longleftrightarrow \operatorname{CO}_2(aq)$$
 (1.3)

$$\operatorname{CO}_2(aq) + \operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{O} \longleftrightarrow \operatorname{H}^+ + \operatorname{HCO}_3^-$$
 (1.4)

$$\mathrm{HCO}_{3}^{-} \longleftrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{+} + \mathrm{CO}_{3}^{2-} \tag{1.5}$$

$$H_2 O \longleftrightarrow H^+ + O H^- \tag{1.6}$$

$$B(OH)_4^- + H^+ \longleftrightarrow B(OH)_3 + H_2O.$$
(1.7)

These equations represent the dissolution and hydration of carbon dioxide (Equation 1.3), the dissociation of carbon dioxide into bicarbonate, hydrogen and carbonate (Equations 1.4 and 1.5), the self-dissociation of water (Equation 1.6), and the dissociation of borate (Equation 1.7).

Characterisation of the carbonate system requires the estimates of two of the following four measurable quantities: pH, total alkalinity ([TA]), dissolved inorganic carbon ([DIC]), and the CO_2 partial pressure (pCO₂), (Park, 1969; Millero et al., 2006). These quantities are defined as follows:

$$pH = -log_{10}([H^+])$$
(1.8)

$$[TA] = 2[CO_3^{2-}] + [HCO_3^{-}] + [B(OH)_4^{-}] + [OH^{-}] - [H^{+}]$$
(1.9)

$$[DIC] = [CO_3^{2-}] + [HCO_3^{-}] + [CO_2(aq)]$$
(1.10)

$$pCO_2 = \frac{1}{K_0^*} [CO_2(aq)].$$
(1.11)

In Equation 1.11, K_0^* is the inverse of Henry's constant. CaCO₃ precipitation (calcification) removes bicarbonate from solution (Equation 1.1). DIC remaining in the water column is re-partitioned in favour of CO₂(aq), which raises seawater pCO₂ (Zondervan et al., 2001). The thermodynamic potential of calcification is measured as calcium carbonate saturation (Ω), where the product of the concentrations of calcium and carbonate are divided by the solubility constant K_{sp} (Equation 1.12).

$$\Omega = \frac{[\mathrm{Ca}^{2+}][\mathrm{CO}_3^{2-}]}{K_{sp}}$$
(1.12)

An increase in seawater pCO_2 reduces carbonate concentration (Eqns 1.4 and 1.5) and lowers Ω , reducing the biotic carbonate precipitation rate (Shaojun and Mucci, 1993).

Seventy percent of total calcification is performed by pelagic coccolithophores, foraminifera, and pteropods, making their response to Ω particularly relevant for the global carbon budget (Zondervan et al., 2001). The reduction of CaCO₃ as a response to increased pCO₂ (Riebesell et al., 2000) means less CO₂ is released to the surface mixed layer as a by-product of calcification. This "CO₂-calcification feedback" has been examined using simple box (Boudreau et al., 2010) and NPZD models (Heinze, 2004; Ridgwell et al., 2007b) as well as a multi-PFT size class model with calcifying nanoplankton (Gehlen et al., 2007; Gangstø et al., 2011). While only a minor player in global carbon budgets over the short term (Gehlen et al., 2007; Ridgwell et al., 2009; Gangstø et al., 2011) there is an expanding (but still minor) role on a millennial horizon (e.g. Heinze, 2004; Ridgwell et al., 2007b; Gehlen et al., 2007; Boudreau et al., 2010). There are however more immediate changes in nutrient and carbonate profiles that could impact on ecosystem dynamics by decreasing nearsurface alkalinity (e.g. Ridgwell et al., 2007b; Boudreau et al., 2010).

Carbon export away from the surface is also impacted by changes in calcification: sinking CaCO₃ might act as ballast for sinking POC (Klaas and Archer, 2002). Ballasting occurs as a result of the waste products of organisms that produce both CaCO₃ and POC, or as the result of physical or biological particle aggregation (Figure 1.4). Biogeochemical models often assume a fixed rain ratio for this ballasting based on global compilation of sediment trap data (see Figure 1.5 from Klaas and Archer, 2002), but increasing pCO₂ can reduce the aggregation of CaCO₃ by coccoliths and affect ballasting rates (Riebesell et al., 2000; Zondervan et al., 2001; Biermann and Engel, 2010).

Enhanced CO_2 in seawater has been observed to increase the rate of POC production by enhancing photosynthesis (Equation 1.2), termed the "POC production feedback" (Zondervan et al., 2001). The efficiency of the biological pump has historically been thought to be controlled not by the availability of CO_2 , which is abundant, but by temperature, light, and the availability of nutrients nitrate (NO_3^-) and phosphate (PO_4^{3-}). Hence the fixed stoichiometry of the photosynthesis equation is



Figure 1.4: Formation of mineral ballast (Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Ocean Science).



Figure 1.5: Scatterplots, correlation coefficient and probability for individual cup measurements of POC flux versus CaCO3, opal and lithogenic material fluxes for trap experiments below 1000 m depth. Slopes of the regression lines are 0.126 for CaCO₃, 0.061 for opal and 0.180 for lithogenic material. Shaded circles in the plot of POC versus opal represent the variations in mass opal/total mass ratios levels. The lighter shading corresponds to high mass opal/total mass ratios, dark shading to low mass opal/total mass ratios. Reproduced from Klaas and Archer (2002).

1. Introduction

typically applied to marine carbon cycle models, based on the empirically-derived Redfield ratio (Anderson, 1995). Thus enhanced CO_2 model experiments show increasing POC production is accompanied by proportional depletion of nutrient pools, which limits primary production (Bopp et al., 2005).

Mesocosm experiments by Riebesell et al. (2007) suggest carbon-to-phosphate stoichiometry may increase by as much as a factor of 6 under high-pCO₂ conditions, significantly increasing the efficiency of primary producers consuming DIC and reducing the effect of nutrient limitation. Near term (to 2100) high CO₂ model studies that incorporate a variable C:N (or P) ratio (e.g. Schneider et al., 2004; Oschlies et al., 2008; Boudreau et al., 2010) yield only a small additional negative impact on the global anthropogenic carbon budget as coincident changes in ocean physics compensate internally and air/ocean exchange is limited by the solubility pump. On a millennial scale the impact is potentially more significant, though also more theoretical as predicted carbon concentrations far exceed the values for which the Riebesell et al. (2007) linear parameterisation is valid. There are important biogeochemical impacts from enhanced POC production efficiency related to remineralisation, e.g. expanding suboxic zones (Oschlies et al., 2008), a shoaled carbonate compensation horizon and decreasing deep water pH (Boudreau et al., 2010).

A recent meta-analysis of coccolithophore biogeography reveals a clear correlation between high Ω and high coccolithophore calcification, manifesting in regional patterns of differentially calcifying species' relative abundances (Beaufort et al., 2011). Ocean acidification can therefore be expected to selectively modify existing ecological community structures (Ridgwell et al., 2009), though how is largely uncharacterised, particularly in the context of changes in other selective pressures like light, temperature and nutrient availability. Decreasing net calcification (and consequential declining biological CO₂ production) is expected to act as a negative climate feedback (Riebesell et al., 2000; Zondervan et al., 2001; Ridgwell et al., 2007b).

1.4.3 Climate Response to Changes in Ocean Biology- a Thesis Outline

Impacts on global carbon uptake from the above feedbacks are expected to be small relative to the positive climate feedbacks of increasing ocean stratification and seawater temperature (e.g., Maier-Reimer et al., 1996; Joos et al., 1999; Chuck et al., 2005; Ridgwell et al., 2009), and the reduction of solubility caused directly by acidification (Sarmiento et al., 1995).

Looking beyond carbon uptake, changes in open ocean biogeochemistry affected

through ocean warming, acidification and deoxygenation are expected to be major (summarised by Gruber, 2011). The common biogeochemical metrics used to assess these changes are net primary production (NPP), carbon export to the deep ocean, and seawater oxygen content. The common result from modelling studies that systematically explore net biogeochemical changes under anthropogenic forcing scenarios for multiple models is the dependence of outcomes on model parameterisation (e.g., Taucher and Oschlies, 2011; Segschneider and Bendtsen, 2013; Yool et al., 2013; Bopp et al., 2013). Chapter 2 illustrates a non-linear impact on open-ocean Ω owing to combined export production and calcification feedbacks in a simple fixed production and remineralisation ocean model. Changes in biogeochemistry due to changing physics (circulation and temperature) are ignored to isolate the affect of changing stoichiometric ratios on carbon export. The model does not resolve NPP and oxygen content is not examined. Biogeochemistry is approached more holistically in subsequent chapters.

Long-term ocean biogeochemical trends under a high carbon emissions scenario have been speculated to follow those of the 21st century (declining NPP, oxygen content, and carbon export, increasing acidification) (e.g., Moore et al., 2013b). However, Schmittner et al. (2008) demonstrated the combination of reduced stratification and warming-enhanced biological processes after the 21st century result in large increases in global NPP beyond 2100, though oxygen content, carbon export and surface pH still decline. Given the discrepancy between the Schmittner et al. (2008) and other model studies' NPP trend to 2100, it would be interesting to perform a longer-term comparison of coupled models using high emissions scenarios to see if others also show eventual reversal of the NPP trend. So far, no coupled Earth system model studies have been published that examine the ocean biogeochemical response past 2100 using high emissions scenarios and models other than the University of Victoria Earth System Climate Model (UVic ESCM; Weaver et al., 2001; Eby et al., 2009, 2013) that is used by Schmittner et al. (2008). Additionally it is worthwhile to better understand the reason for the discrepancy in the sign of 21st century NPP trends between the Schmittner et al. (2008) study and other model studies. The treatment of temperature sensitivity of biological processes has been shown to influence the sign of the NPP change to 2100 in the UVic ESCM (Taucher and Oschlies, 2011), though other models also include temperature dependent biological processes and still show a decline in NPP over the 21st century (e.g., Yool et al., 2013).

The modified UVic ESCM biogeochemical model presented in Chapter 3 contains four PFTs including an explicit phytoplankton calcifier and a prognostic $CaCO_3$

1. Introduction

tracer. It is a tool uniquely positioned among Earth Models of Intermediate Complexity (EMICs) because it is of a coarse enough resolution to run long simulations, yet it has the mechanistic realism to fully explore feedbacks in the ocean carbon cycle. Chapter 4 details the application of a theoretical acidification handicap on the calcifier population in the UVic ESCM, and describes the effect on phytoplankton biogeography in the model. This handicap acts to reduce calcification and ballasting even while NPP increases. Chapter 5 describes the different responses of the UVic ESCM to transient greenhouse gas forcing with and without calcifiers, and with and without prognostic $CaCO_3$ over long simulations extending to year 2400. Firstly, the discrepancy in 21st century NPP trend between the UVic ESCM and other EMICs is attributed to the grazing parameterisation. The latest UVic ESCM control version is demonstrated to now agree with similar EMICs over the 21st century with respect to the common biogeochemical metrics. Then two dominating ocean feedbacks are described; the first one occurs under smaller changes in ocean temperature and is controlled by physical processes, in which the choice to include or exclude the calcifier PFT controls the sign of the NPP response to warming. Transition to the second dominating ocean feedback occurs at higher temperature changes in all models, though when is determined by phytoplankton community composition. This second feedback is controlled by accelerated nutrient recycling by microbes in all models, though is shown to be sensitive to whether a prognostic ballast model is included.

Chapter 2

The Combined Impact of CO₂-Dependent Parameterisations of Elemental and Rain Ratios on Ocean Carbonate Saturation

A version of this chapter appeared online in Biogeosciences Discussions (Kvale et al., 2011). Contributions by the co-authors listed on the manuscript were largely editorial. Copyright is retained by the authors.

Future changes to the organic carbon and carbonate pumps are likely to affect ocean ecosystem dynamics and biogeochemical cycles. In this chapter, biological dependencies of rain and elemental ratios on pCO₂ are implemented in a coupled Biogeochemistry-Ocean Model, the CSIRO-Mk3L, to establish extreme-case carbonate saturation vulnerability to enhanced POC export and decreased CaCO₃ export at year 2500 using IPCC Representative Concentration Pathway 8.5. Surface carbonate saturation is relatively insensitive to the combined effects of variable ratios (an anomaly of less than 10% of the corresponding change in the control configuration by year 2500), but the global zonally-averaged ocean interior anomaly due to these feedbacks is up to 130% by 2500. A combined interaction between organic and carbonate pumps is found in export production, where higher rates of photosynthesis enhance calcification by raising surface alkalinity. This combined effect has a negligible influence on surface carbonate saturation but does significantly influence ocean interior carbonate saturation fields (an anomaly of up to 45% in 2500) owing to different CaCO₃ and POC remineralisation length scales. The strongest sensitivity to the feedbacks occurs in low-latitude remineralisation zones below regions of enhanced biological production, where dissolved inorganic carbon rapidly accumulates.

2.1 Model and Experimental Design

The coupled climate-carbon model, CSIRO-Mk3L (Phipps, 2010), is employed in ocean-only mode, as the focus of the study is ocean biogeochemistry. The Mk3L ocean has a resolution of 2.8 degrees longitude by 1.6 degrees latitude with 21 vertical levels, with a similar structure to the higher-resolution CSIRO Mk3 and CSIRO Mk2 models (Gordon et al., 2002; Hirst et al., 1996). The background mean ocean circulation simulation has been described previously by Najjar et al. (2007); Dutay et al. (2002). The ocean biogeochemistry component of Mk3L follows Matear and Hirst (2003), using OCMIP protocol (Dutay et al., 2002) for CO_2 air/sea gas exchange and carbonate chemistry.

2.1.1 Elemental Ratio Parameterisation

In order to explore the interaction between biological carbon pump feedbacks, dependencies on pCO₂ are added to the fixed Redfield carbon-to-phosphate (POC:POP, referred to hereafter as an 'elemental ratio') and carbonate-to-phosphate (CaCO₃:POP, the rain ratio) parameterisations. POC export (F^{POC}) and POP export (F^{POP}) are varied with a linear response scaled against pre-industrial seawater pCO₂ (Riebesell et al., 2007, and Figure 2.1):

$$F^{\rm POC} = 106 F^{\rm POP} F_{scale} \tag{2.1}$$

$$F_{scale} = 1 + \frac{2}{700} \frac{16}{106} (\text{pCO}_2 - 280). \tag{2.2}$$

Tagliabue et al. (2011) recently explored the sensitivity of carbon export to assumptions surrounding stoichiometric enhancement of remineralisation and found that the assumption used herein (equal enhancement of production and remineralisation) constitutes a high-end approximation of carbon export response, whereas a shedding of extra carbon as DOC in the surface reduces the POC export at 100 m depth.

The elemental ratio parameterisation explores response to ocean acidification only. Stoichiometric ratios might also be increased by increasing ambient temperature (Woods et al., 2003) or decreased mixed layer depth (Diehl et al., 2005).



Figure 2.1: Linear scaling of F^{POC} : F^{POP} by pCO₂.

2.1.2 Rain Ratio Parameterisation

Biological calcification in the model contains an additional scaling factor from Ridgwell et al. (2007b) to vary carbonate production (γ) with local calcite saturation, where η is a power parameter (with a value of 0.81) controlling the non-linearity of the calcification response.

$$\gamma = (\Omega - 1)^{\eta} \qquad \text{For } \Omega > 1.0 \tag{2.3}$$

$$\gamma = 0.0 \qquad \text{For } \Omega \le 1.0 \tag{2.4}$$

Carbonate export (F^{CaCO_3}) is linked to POP export by a calculated rain ratio modified by γ :

$$F^{\text{CaCO}_3} = \gamma \times r_0^{\text{CaCO}_3:\text{POC}} \times F^{\text{POP}} \times r_0^{\text{POC:POP}}$$
(2.5)

where $r_0^{\text{CaCO}_3:\text{POC}}$ is a globally fixed ratio (Ridgwell et al., 2007b) and $r_0^{\text{POC}:\text{POP}}$ is fixed following Equation 2.1 without the scaling factor F_{scale} . Figure 2.2 illustrates the scaling. Note that carbonate export is used as a proxy for calcite productionother parameterisations exist; Ridgwell et al. (2009) and Gangstø et al. (2011) provide two recent reviews. The Ridgwell et al. (2007b) parameterisation is one of the



Figure 2.2: Scaling of F^{CaCO_3} : F^{POP} by Ω .

more sensitive parameterisations (Ridgwell et al., 2009), and is therefore applied to this study for examining high-end vulnerability. This rain ratio parameterisation does not account for particle aggregation (which would allow variable sinking rates), nor does it differentiate between particle classes, but it does demonstrate a latitudinal dependency which roughly aligns with observations, owing to the calcite saturation scaling factor γ .

Following OCMIP protocol (Dutay et al., 2002), model CaCO₃ dissolution below the surface layer utilises a rigid exponential depth dependency so changes to surface CaCO₃ production mostly affect the depth of complete CaCO₃ dissolution; i.e. increasing CaCO₃ production yields a more penetrating CaCO₃ inorganic chemical signal in the water column. The current arrangement maintains independence between inorganic and organic carbon pump feedbacks while allowing for interactions with carbonate chemistry from both. Note this independence is only true below the surface; the scaling factors applied at the surface for CaCO₃ and POC with respect to POP (Eqns. 2.1 and 2.5) allow for direct interaction between organic and inorganic export feedbacks via alteration of surface pCO₂ and calcite saturation.

2.1.3 Experimental Design

Four different configurations of the model (CONTROL, RAIN, REDFIELD, RAIN-RED) are spun up for six thousand years under a constant atmospheric concentration of 278 ppm to reach pre-industrial equilibrium, and are then forced by an atmospheric carbon concentration pathway following RCP8.5 (Riahi et al., 2007) to 2500. This scenario exhibits growth in atmospheric CO_2 concentrations to 936 ppm by 2100 and 1962 ppm by 2250, whereupon the concentration remains constant until 2500. The CONTROL configuration utilises globally uniform fixed Redfield (Equation 1.2) and rain ratios (CaCO₃:POP value of 8.48). The RAIN configuration parameterises the rain ratio following Ridgwell et al. (2007b, Eqns. 1.1 to 1.12 and 2.3 to 2.5), where $r_0^{\text{CaCO}_3:\text{POC}}$ is set to 0.02 (the negative one standard deviate given in Ridgwell et al. (2007b)) and the rain ratio is solved prognostically. The REDFIELD configuration fixes the rain ratio using the CONTROL value but varies elemental stoichiometry according to Eqns. 2.1 and 2.2. A 2 ppm discrepancy exists between the F_{scale} equilibrium and the RCP 8.5 pre-industrial atmospheric concentration, but the effect is negligible. Finally, RAINRED varies both rain and elemental ratios. Note only $CaCO_3$ and POC vary between runs; POP does not change across configurations. Also, as this is an ocean-only model, increasing CO_2 concentrations in the experiments impact neither the global radiative balance nor ocean circulation, so no physical feedback to atmospheric CO₂ is simulated.

2.1.4 Model Evaluation

The physical ocean module of Mk3L is fully evaluated in Phipps (2010). Integrated global inorganic carbon fields vary less than 0.4% within model configurations in equilibrium. Figure 2.3 compares global zonally averaged RAIN and REDFIELD pre-industrial equilibrium DIC, alkalinity, calcite saturation, and nitrate with GLO-DAP gridded observations (Key et al., 2004). Varying the rain ratio with respect to pCO_2 increases the alkalinity and DIC of the surface and intermediate water and slightly lowers the abyssal carbonate saturation values. Differences in carbonate saturation within the deep ocean across configurations are within tenths of a point. Nitrate is slightly overestimated in the abyssal ocean, because of the model's overturning strength which is somewhat weaker than present day estimates (Phipps, 2010).

Figure 2.4 compares GLODAP and model full fields for the surface ocean. The RAIN and RAINRED models better simulate high GLODAP alkalinity values in the surface gyres than the CONTROL and REDFIELD models. All models show

 $\mathbf{20}$



Figure 2.3: Global zonally averaged GLODAP observations (left column) and preindustrial Mk3L simulation results (RAIN- middle column, and REDFIELD- right column) in mmol m^{-3} . Top row is DIC, second row is alkalinity, third row is calcite saturation (unitless), bottom row is nitrate. The apparent plot artefact at 40°N is due to values simulated in the Mediterranean.



Figure 2.4: Surface GLODAP observations (top row) and pre-industrial Mk3L simulation results (CONTROL- second row, RAIN- third row, REDFIELD- fourth row, RAINRED, bottom row) in mmol m^{-3} . Left column is alkalinity, middle column is DIC, right column is nitrate.

a bias towards high surface DIC and nitrate values, particularly in the equatorial upwelling zones.

Generally good agreement of model equilibrium carbon distributions with gridded observations suggests that POC and CaCO₃ export estimates from the model surface (a depth layer extending the upper 25 m) are appropriate, despite the apparently large initial export value for POC (about 20 Pg C per year for all model configurations) shown in Figure 2.5 at year 1900. Model POC export at 80 m (level 3 in Mk3L) is roughly half of the export at 25 m, which is in agreement with the Jin et al. (2006) estimate of 9.8 Pg C per year at 75 m depth. Model CaCO₃ export is more conservative than POC because of its longer remineralisation length scale.



Figure 2.5: Timeseries of integrated global CaCO₃ (top left plot) and POC (top right plot) surface export production in Pg C per year. Color key is as follows: CONTROL (red), RAIN (blue), REDFIELD (green), RAINRED (black). Bottom plots show the change in CaCO₃ (left plot) and POC (right plot) fluxes at year 2500 relative to the pre-industrial equilibrium in the RAIN and REDFIELD configurations, respectively. Units in the bottom plots are mmol $m^{-3}y^{-1}$.

 $CaCO_3$ flux at 25 m is 1.2 to 1.6 Pg C per year (compare with the Jin et al. 2006 estimate of 1.14 Pg C per year at 75 m depth).

2.2 Transient Simulations

2.2.1 CaCO₃ and POC Surface Export

Rain and elemental ratio feedbacks alter $CaCO_3$ and POC export from the surface layer. Figure 2.5 summarises globally integrated annual surface carbon export from year 1900 to year 2500 for each configuration and also shows the change in surface $CaCO_3$ and POC export fluxes from pre-industrial equilibrium to year 2500 for the RAIN and REDFIELD configurations, respectively. CaCO₃ and POC export remain constant over the CONTROL simulation (red lines) because both rain and elemental ratio feedbacks are fixed constants. RAIN (blue stars) CaCO₃ export decreases relative to CONTROL because as surface calcite saturation decreases with
2. The Combined Impact of CO₂-Dependent Parameterisations of Elemental and Rain Ratios on Ocean Carbonate Saturation

increasing pCO_2 , less calcification occurs in the surface layer and less $CaCO_3$ is exported. RAIN $CaCO_3$ also has a lower initial value from CONTROL owing to this export dependence on surface calcite saturation. POC export is unaffected by changes to the rain ratio and hence RAIN POC mirrors CONTROL POC. CaCO₃ export in the REDFIELD experiment (green diamonds) is unaffected by changes in elemental stoichiometry and hence REDFIELD CaCO₃ mirrors CONTROL CaCO₃. The POC field in RAINRED (black lines) mirrors that of REDFIELD POC, which like REDFIELD sees increases in POC export as pCO_2 increases the efficiency of the organic carbon pump. Initial POC values for REDFIELD and RAINRED are slightly higher than those of RAIN and CONTROL owing to the dependence of export on pCO_2 anomaly from 278 ppm, which has increased by year 1900. Note that RAINRED $CaCO_3$ does not exactly mirror RAIN $CaCO_3$, even though in the REDFIELD configuration $CaCO_3$ export is shown to be unaffected. This incongruence is nearly indistinguishable in Figure 2.5 but crucially reveals a "combined" exchange between rain and elemental ratio feedbacks in the RAINRED simulation, where reduced $CaCO_3$ export (calcification) due to the decreasing carbonate saturation in the inorganic carbon pump is slightly tempered by the additional release of carbonate owing to an enhanced organic carbon pump. Said another way, the calculated direct response in abyssal carbonate saturation owing to changes in the rain ratio, when summed with the calculated direct response owing to changes in elemental ratios, does not equal the actual model response in abyssal carbonate saturation. This combined chemical exchange is summarised in Figure 2.6 and revolves about the enhanced consumption of free hydrogen in Equation 1.2 as part of enhanced POC formation. Figure 2.6 is similar to a Bond graph (common in electrical engineering), where individual components (photosynthesis, dissolution, etc.) are connected through effort $(H^+, CO_3^{2-}, etc.)$ and flow (positive and negative gains). In the figure, there are 3 routes that lead from increased surface CO_2 to a change in deep ocean Ω . Route 1 follows the green line through the organic carbon pump. Route 2 follows the orange line through the carbonate pump. Route 3 follows the blue line between the organic carbon and carbonate pumps. The blue and red gain lines which connect the components and effort show non-quantitative gains resulting from an increase in component A, which causes component B to either decrease (negative gain) or increase (positive gain). Route 3, the combined impact via both carbon and carbonate pumps, occurs because inorganic carbon chemistry dictates a reduction in free hydrogen resulting in an addition of carbonate ions, according to $HCO_3^- \rightleftharpoons H^+ + CO_3^{2-}$. This small increase in carbonate ion buffers the carbonate saturation which controls $CaCO_3$ export production in the model (shown as a blue

 $\mathbf{24}$



Figure 2.6: A qualitative schematic of feedback processes operating between organic and inorganic carbon pumps and carbonate saturation. The impact of the variable rain and elemental ratio parameterisations on deep ocean carbonate saturation are shown as coloured pathways with fat arrows: rain (orange), elemental (green), rain and elemental (blue). Positive gains (an increase in A leads to an increase in B) are presented in thin blue and negative gains (an increase in A leads to a decrease in B) in thin red. An even number of negative gains (red arrows) in a pathway sum to a positive feedback, while an odd number of negative gains remain negative. The sign of the net feedbacks do not sum across pathways.

pathway). In the RAINRED configuration, CaCO₃ formation is still reduced by the decreased saturation, but not as much as it is in the RAIN configuration (orange pathway) where no additional carbonate input from altered photosynthesis occurs. Therefore, an even number of negative gains in Route 3 creates a net positive feedback (an increase in CO₂ leads to an increase in Ω), while an odd number of gains in Routes 1 and 2 creates a net negative feedback (an increase in CO₂ leads to a decrease in Ω). Figure 2.6 says nothing about the cumulative effects of combining the net feedbacks in the 3 routes, nor does it say anything about the relative strengths of the net feedbacks.

2.2.2 Carbonate Saturation

The impact of variable CaCO₃ and POC export production on ocean carbonate saturation in the RAINRED configuration can be quantified using snapshot and anomaly plots, shown in Figure 2.7. By 2500 only a shallow region between 40 degrees North and South latitude meets the CaCO₃ production criteria (Equation 2.3). In the third row, RCP 8.5 forcing over the simulation is removed by subtracting the pre-industrial equilibrium state from 2500, and then subtracting that difference for the CONTROL run from the remainder (e.g., Δ RAINRED- Δ CONTROL where Δ is year of simulation minus pre-industrial state). As mentioned in Section 2.2.1, the added effect of RAIN and REDFIELD is not equal to the combined effect in the RAINRED simulation. The combined component of these anomalies are shown in the bottom row. Positive combined anomaly values indicate a mitigation response for carbonate saturation. Negative combined anomaly values indicate an amplification of the carbonate saturation anomaly.

A striking pattern emerges in the additional total and combined effects of the feedbacks (Figure 2.7). By 2500 the global zonally averaged RAINRED anomaly is up to 0.25 units larger than that of CONTROL in the tropical abyssal ocean (third row, leftmost panel), an anomaly more than twice as large as the change in Δ CONTROL over this time (not shown). The RAINRED anomaly contributes up to 45% of the global zonally averaged background RAINRED carbonate saturation in this same region, even though the additional impact on carbonate saturation at the surface is less than 10% (seen when comparing leftmost panels in the second and third rows). This increasing impact on carbonate saturation in the ocean interior away from the surface is due to the decoupling of CaCO₃ and POC remineralisation owing to differing remineralisation length scales, where POC remineralisation is accelerated by the variable elemental ratio but CaCO₃ dissolution varies in depth of complete dissolution only.

A positive (mitigative) combined response is present in the ocean interior (bottom left panel), and is valued at roughly 10% of the global zonally averaged RAINRED anomaly (seen when comparing leftmost panels in the third and fourth rows). A weak negative combined response is found in the upper 500 m (up to 1.5% of Δ CONTROL, not shown). This RAINRED amplification at the surface and mitigation at depth is due to the combined effect of POC enhancement on CaCO₃ production described earlier and shown in Figure 2.6. Reduction of CaCO₃ export production in RAINRED is tempered by the additional availability of carbonate owing to enhanced POC production, which allows for slightly reduced carbonate saturation at the surface and



Figure 2.7: Pre-industrial (first row) and year 2500 (second row) RAINRED calcite saturation, and year 2500 RAINRED calcite saturation (Δ RAINRED - Δ CONTROL, third row) and combined (Δ RAINRED - [Δ RAIN + Δ REDFIELD], fourth row) anomalies. Left column shows the global zonal mean. Middle column is a map view at 1000 m depth. Right column is a map view at 3000 m depth.

enhanced saturation at depth, relative to what would be seen in purely independent carbon and inorganic carbon pump feedbacks.

Tropical regions show greater variability in Ω than what the global mean profile plots in Figure 2.7 suggest. Figure 2.7 middle and right columns show the strongest impacts on carbonate saturation are confined to regions with strong POC enhancement, such as upwelling zones in eastern ocean basins. RAINRED anomalies in these regions are the largest nearing depths of complete $CaCO_3$ dissolution, hence are more apparent in the 3000 m depth plots (right column) than the 1000 m plots (middle column). The eastern Pacific in particular shows the strongest response, where the $\Delta RAINRED$ anomaly is over 0.3 units at 3000 m depth (third row, right panel), a saturation change eight times that of $\Delta CONTROL$ in this same region (not shown). The combined anomaly (bottom right panel) in this region is also significant, with a mitigating effect of about 20% the RAINRED anomaly value in this region (seen when comparing rightmost panels in the third and fourth row). As POC production is most enhanced in this region, the impact on $CaCO_3$ export production extends the deepest within this region by the fixed $CaCO_3$ dissolution gradient. In contrast to the eastern Pacific, the Indian Ocean has generally less POC and $CaCO_3$ production and hence has a weaker combined signal. While enhanced carbonate undersaturation and a small combined positive anomaly are seen by year 2500 in the Indian Ocean, the signal does not extend as deep as in the Pacific and the maximum combined anomaly values peak around 1000 m depth (bottom middle panel).

2.3 Summary and Conclusions

This study has demonstrated the sensitivity of the interior ocean carbonate saturation to the combined effects of varying elemental and rain ratios. CO₂-induced calcification and POC production feedbacks operate in the same region of the ocean interior and may both mitigate and enhance each other. As such, caution is warranted when assessing ocean carbonate chemistry using only one feedback at a time. This is particularly true in the low-latitude sub-surface and abyssal ocean regions, which show particular sensitivity to the combined contribution of the dual feedbacks of varying elemental and rain ratios. As carbonate saturation is a commonly accepted proxy for calcification, such a sensitivity has relevance for predicting changes in ecosystem dynamics in an increasingly acidic marine environment. These results build upon previous work, most notably Boudreau et al. (2010), who calculated a strong added rain and elemental ratio feedback on ocean interior pH and carbonate compensation depth in a box model. These results also show that biogeochemical feedbacks have the potential to significantly alter carbonate saturation without coincident changes in the mean circulation, and may explain at least part of a mechanism operating around high carbon perturbation events in the past (434, 350, 250, and 200 M.A.) when calcification shows evidence of both lasting and preferential depression with respect to other forms of production (as reviewed by Veron, 2008), even in the absence of a stagnant circulation (e.g. Winguth and Maier-Reimer, 2005). It must, however, be stressed that this study is a sensitivity study of biogeochemical parameterisations. Results are not projections of future ocean chemical climate because the model includes neither sediments nor radiative feedback. Likewise, the parameterisations reflect observed responses of an incomplete sampling of the biodiversity found in the global ocean, include neither multiple functional types nor multiple trophic levels, and the REDFIELD parameterisation in particular is tested beyond its calibration limit of 1050 ppm. Additional experimental limitations might include nutrient trapping as a side-effect of model resolution (e.g. Aumont et al., 1999), which would contribute to an overestimate of the magnitude of the combined effect, though this is likely a small influence as only anomalies are discussed and circulation remains unchanged in the experiments. The dependence of $CaCO_3$ dissolution on depth and not Ω might, on the other hand, be contributing to an underestimate of the combined effect by artificially lowering the depth of $CaCO_3$ dissolution below the zone of POC remineralisation. While the physical justification of widespread Ω -dependent CaCO₃ export is debatable (as summarised by Sarmiento and Gruber, 2006, pages 371-374), severely undersaturated water such as what is calculated in this hypothetical parameter test does approach a calcite dissolution e-folding timescale of a similar order to that of carbonate particle sinking. Should subsurface pooling of DIC owing to enhanced POC export and remineralisation accelerate $CaCO_3$ dissolution, the combined carbonate anomaly would be enhanced following the deep ocean schematic in Figure 2.6.

The potentially critical omissions of sediment, radiative forcing and carbonate chemistry-dependent $CaCO_3$ dissolution feedbacks, in addition to the simple structure of the biological parameterisation, limits the usefulness of the CSIRO-Mk3L for testing earth system biogeochemical responses to environmental change. Subsequent chapters present a model, the UVic ESCM, that includes sediments, radiative forcing, and chemistry-dependent dissolution, as well as a more complex biological structure.

Chapter 3

A New Calcification Submodel for the UVic ESCM

A version of this chapter is currently under review online in Atmosphere-Oceans (Kvale et al., 2014). Contributions by the co-authors listed on the manuscript include both technical assistance as well as editorial comments. Copyright is retained by the journal pending formal acceptance.

Marine calcifiers as a plankton functional type (PFT) are a crucial part of the global carbon cycle, being responsible for much of the carbon export to the deep ocean entering via biological pathways. Deep ocean carbon export through calcifiers is controlled by physiological, ecological and biogeochemical factors. This chapter describes the implementation of a calcifying phytoplankton PFT in the University of Victoria Earth System Climate Model (UVic ESCM), and mechanistic improvements to the representation of model carbon export (a full calcite tracer, carbonate chemistry dependent calcite dissolution rates, and a ballasting scheme). The UVic ESCM now fills a niche in Earth System modelling that was previously unoccupied in that it is relatively inexpensive to run (up to 750 years in 1 day using Intel Xeon E5 processors), yet resolves the complete Earth System carbon cycle including prognostic calcium carbonate and a separate calcifier PFT. The model is now ideally suited to test the parameter space of feedbacks between the carbonate and carbon cycles and the climate system as transient simulations. The described modifications improve the mechanistic realism of the UVic ESCM carbon cycle without negatively impacting performance with respect to observed carbon and nutrient fluxes. Primary production, export production, particulate organic carbon and calcite fluxes all fall within independently observed estimates.

3.1 Model Description

The UVic Earth System Climate Model (UVic ESCM, Weaver et al. 2001, Eby et al. 2009) version 2.9 is a coarse-resolution $(1.8^{\circ} \times 3.6^{\circ} \times 19 \text{ ocean} \text{ depth} \text{ layers})$ oceanatmosphere-biosphere-cryosphere-geosphere model. It has a history of applications ranging from climate connections with land surface dynamics (Matthews et al., 2003, 2005; Meissner et al., 2003), to sea ice dynamics (Mysak et al., 2005; Sedlacek and Mysak, 2009), ocean circulation (Spence and Weaver, 2006), Earth System thresholds, tipping points, and nonlinearities (Fyke and Weaver, 2006; Nof et al., 2007; Weaver et al., 2007; Meissner et al., 2008; Zickfeld et al., 2011), paleoclimate (Meissner, 2007), and ocean carbon cycle feedbacks (Schmittner et al., 2008; Oschlies et al., 2008; Meissner et al., 2012). The role of the global carbon cycle in these various applications has been a key research interest.

Schmittner et al. (2005, 2008) added an ocean carbon cycle submodel to the UVic ESCM with two phytoplankton PFTs (general phytoplankton and diazotrophs) and one zooplankton PFT, as well as particulate detritus. The PFTs and detritus are linked to biogeochemical tracers oxygen, nitrate and phosphate through fixed Redfield stoichiometry using a base unit of mmol nitrogen m⁻³. PFT contributions to the inorganic carbon cycle (alkalinity and DIC tracers) are calculated from POC production and remineralisation using a fixed rain ratio. Ecological interactions within the Schmittner et al. (2005, 2008) model were improved by Keller et al. (2012). The primary differences between the Schmittner et al. (2005, 2008) and Keller et al. (2012) versions are the application of a mask to account for phytoplankton iron limitation, a new formulation of grazing by zooplankton, and changed growth rate parameter values for phytoplankton and zooplankton.

In this latest version the general phytoplankton PFT is exactly replicated, but given new parameter values to reflect key physiological characteristics of calcifiers, albeit biased towards *E. huxleyi*. This new model version therefore contains "calcifiers", "diazotrophs" and "general phytoplankton". The general phytoplankton PFT includes diatoms as well as all other autotrophic non-calcifying phytoplankton. Just as the general phytoplankton PFT cannot perfectly describe the physiology or ecology of any of the individual classifications of phytoplankton it represents, the calcifying PFT represents a group of phytoplankton with a common role in the carbonate cycle (calcification) and a few generalised shared physiological traits. CaCO₃ is calculated prognostically as a model tracer and dissolution of calcifier and zoo-plankton export is now dependent on ambient carbonate concentration. The new model schematic is shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: UVic ESCM biogeochemical model schematic. Arrows indicate the flux direction of nutrients.

In the following model description, notation will generally follow the symbols used in Keller et al. (2012), with additionally "p" standing for the general phytoplankton PFT, "c" standing for the calcifier PFT, and "z" representing zooplankton when a distinction is necessary. Relevant model parameters are listed in Tables 3.1 to 3.4, with the Keller et al. (2012) model being referred to as NOCAL, and this version referred to as CAL. The model description here covers only the most relevant equations, and equations that have changed in this newest version; please see Keller et al. (2012), Schmittner et al. (2005), and Schmittner et al. (2008) for a complete description of the other equations.

3.1.1 Tracer Equations

Tracer concentrations (C) vary according to:

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} = T + S \tag{3.1}$$

with T including all transport terms (advection, diffusion, and convection), and S representing all source and sink terms. Phytoplankton and calcifier (X representing either) populations are:

$$S(X) = J_X X - G_X - \mu_X^* X - m_X X$$
(3.2)

where growth rate (J), mortality (m), and fast recycling (μ^*) terms are described in Section 3.1.3, and losses to zooplankton grazing (G) are described in Section 3.1.4. Diazotroph population follows:

$$S(Diaz) = J_{Diaz}Diaz - G_{Diaz} - m_{Diaz}Diaz.$$
(3.3)

Zooplankton population (Z) is calculated as the total available food scaled with a growth efficiency coefficient (ϖ) minus mortality.

$$S(Z) = \varpi \times (G_P + G_C + G_{Diaz} + G_{Detr_{tot}} + G_Z) - m_Z Z^2 - G_Z.$$
(3.4)

Detritus sources and sinks now include contributions from calcifiers and are split into "free" and "ballast" pools using a fixed ratio ($R_{bal:tot}$). Ballasted detritus is formed of the protected portion of calcifier and zooplankton grazing and mortality. This protected portion does not interact with nutrient pools directly, and instead transfers from the "ballast" to "free" detrital pool at the rate of CaCO₃ dissolution (λ , Equation 3.18):

$$Detr_{tot} = Detr_{bal} + Detr_{free} \tag{3.5}$$

$$S(Detr_{bal}) = (1 - \gamma)[G_{Detr_{bal}} + (G_Z + G_C)R_{bal:tot}] + (m_Z Z^2 + m_C C)R_{bal:tot} - G_{Detr_{bal}} - \frac{R_{bal:tot}\lambda CaCO_3}{R_{CaCO_3:POC}R_{C:N}} - w_C \frac{\partial Detr_{bal}}{\partial z}$$
(3.6)

$$S(Detr_{free}) = (1 - \gamma)[G_P + G_{Diaz} + G_{Detr_{free}} + G_Z(1 - R_{bal:tot}) + G_C(1 - R_{bal:tot})] + m_P P + m_{Diaz}Diaz + m_Z Z^2(1 - R_{bal:tot}) + m_C C(1 - R_{bal:tot}) - \mu_D Detr_{free} - G_{Detr_{free}} + \frac{R_{bal:tot}\lambda CaCO_3}{R_{CaCO_3:POC}R_{C:N}} - w_D \frac{\partial Detr_{free}}{\partial z}$$
(3.7)

where γ is the food assimilation efficiency, $R_{\text{CaCO}_3:\text{POC}}$ is a fixed production ratio of CaCO₃ and detritus, $R_{\text{C:N}}$ is a Redfield molar ratio, and μ_D is the detrital remineralisation rate. As in Keller et al. (2012), detritus is exported from the surface with a sinking speed ($w_{\text{Dor}C}$) that increases linearly (in per second units) with depth:

$$w_C = w_{C0} + 5.0e^{-2} \times z \tag{3.8}$$

$$w_D = w_{D0} + 2.0e^{-2} \times z. aga{3.9}$$

The initial surface sinking speeds of POC and CaCO₃ (w_{DorC0}) are assigned different values to represent the denser structure of CaCO₃ relative to that of POC. Ballasted detritus sinks at the CaCO₃ speed, but once it enters the free pool it uses the detrital sinking speed and remineralisation rate. Any detritus reaching the sediments is dissolved back in to the water column.

Ocean nutrients follow:

$$S(PO_4^{3-}) = (\mu_D Detr_{free} + \mu_P^* P + \mu_C^* C + (\gamma - \varpi)(G_P + G_C + G_{Diaz} + G_{Detr_{free}} + G_Z)$$

$$- J_P P - J_C C - J_{Diaz} Diaz) R_{P:N}$$

$$(3.10)$$

$$S(NO_{3}^{-}) = (\mu_{D}Detr_{free} + \mu_{P}^{*}P + \mu_{C}^{*}C + (\gamma - \varpi)(G_{P} + G_{C} + G_{Diaz} + G_{Detr_{free}} + G_{Z})$$
(3.11)
$$-J_{P}P - J_{C}C - u_{N}J_{Diaz}Diaz)(1 - 0.8R_{O:N}r_{sox}^{NO_{3}^{-}})$$

where $R_{P:N}$ and $R_{O:N}$ are Redfield molar ratios and u_N is the Michaelis-Menten nitrate uptake rate. In suboxic water, oxygen consumption is replaced by the oxidation of nitrate,

$$r_{sox}^{\mathrm{NO}_{3}^{-}} = \max\left\{0, 0.5(1 - \tanh(\mathrm{O}_{2} - 8))\right\}$$
(3.12)

$$S(O_2) = F_{sfc} - S(PO_4^{3-})R_{O:P}r_{sox}^{O_2}$$
(3.13)

and ocean surface dissolved oxygen exchanges with the atmosphere (F_{sfc}) . See Equation 3.30 for $r_{sox}^{O_2}$.

DIC and alkalinity tracers are now also a function of sources and sinks of prognostic $CaCO_3$ (Section 3.1.2):

$$S(\text{DIC}) = S(\text{PO}_4^{3-})R_{\text{C:P}} + \lambda \text{CaCO}_3 - S\text{CaCO}_{3\text{liv}} - [(1 - \gamma)(G_C + G_Z) + m_C C + m_Z Z^2]R_{\text{CaCO}_3:\text{POC}}R_{\text{C:N}}$$
(3.14)

$$S(\text{Alk}) = -S(\text{PO}_4^{3-})R_{\text{C:P}} + 2[\lambda \text{CaCO}_3 - S\text{CaCO}_{3\text{liv}}] - 2[(1-\gamma)(G_C + G_Z) + m_C C + m_Z Z^2]R_{\text{CaCO}_3:\text{POC}}R_{\text{C:N}}.$$
(3.15)

3.1.2 Calcite Production and Export

The original model fixed CaCO₃ production to POC using a uniform ratio of CaCO₃ production to non-diazotrophic POC (detritus) production $(R_{CaCO_3:POC})$. The $CaCO_3$ produced then contributed to dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC) and alkalinity with a fixed remineralisation profile dependent exponentially on depth. In our model, the general phytoplankton PFT no longer contributes to CaCO₃ and is instead replaced with the calcifier PFT. Different $R_{CaCO_3:POC}$ values for zooplankton and calcifiers can be assigned in the case that the ballast model is turned off, but a second ballasted detritus tracer would be required for this feature to be used with the ballast model. This second detritus tracer is not yet implemented, so the tuned model presented here includes ballast and a shared $R_{CaCO_3:POC}$ value for zooplankton and phytoplankton calcifiers. In earlier versions of the UVic ESCM, a $R_{CaCO_3:POC}$ value of 0.03 was used. In this version, it is increased to 0.04 since the overall calcifying biomass has decreased, which places it closer to (but still outside of) the low end of the 0.05-0.25 range estimated by others and summarised by Fujii et al. (2005). A CaCO₃:POC production ratio for *E. huxleyi* is summarised by Paasche (2001) to vary between 0.51–2.30. A lower rain ratio for the model therefore indicates the calcifier PFT cannot be considered to represent calcifiers exclusively, with other non-calcifying phytoplankton sharing the physiological traits also represented by the PFT.

 $CaCO_3$ production and dissolution are now a source and sink of a prognostic $CaCO_3$ tracer (Equation 3.17). Calcite held in living tissue is calculated separately as the net source - sink from calcifiers and zooplankton (Equations 3.2 and 3.4), converted to $CaCO_3$ units:

$$SCaCO_{3liv} = [S(C) + S(Z)]R_{CaCO_3:POC} \times R_{C:N}$$
(3.16)

where $R_{\text{C:N}}$ is the Redfield ratio (Table 3.1).

New model tracer particulate $CaCO_3$ (in non-living form) follows the same general model structure as detritus, though the base units are mmol carbon m⁻³ rather than mmol nitrogen m⁻³. The source and sink terms for CaCO₃ include both calcifier and zooplankton sources from grazing and mortality, and losses from dissolution and sinking:

$$S(\text{CaCO}_3) = [(1 - \gamma)(G_C + G_Z) + m_C C + m_Z Z^2] R_{\text{CaCO}_3:\text{POC}} R_{\text{C:N}} - \lambda \text{CaCO}_3 - w_C \frac{\partial \text{CaCO}_3}{\partial z}.$$
(3.17)

A CaCO₃ dissolution rate (λ) that allows for supersaturated dissolution (Milliman et al., 1999) is calculated using a fixed dissolution rate parameter (k), following the calculation used in the PISCES model family (Aumont et al., 2003):

$$\lambda = \min(1, \frac{1 - \delta_{sat}}{\mathbf{k} + |\delta_{sat}|}) \tag{3.18}$$

where δ_{sat} is the deviance of the ambient seawater carbonate concentration from saturation ($\delta_{sat} = [CO_3] - [CO_3]_{sat}$) and any negative λ is set to zero. Other thermodynamic dissolution parameterisations were tested in sensitivity simulations spanning over 100 different combinations, but none produced realistic alkalinity and DIC profiles without allowing for supersaturated dissolution, and none as successfully as the one shown here.

Particulate $CaCO_3$ that reaches the sediments accumulates in an oxygen-only respiration model following Archer (1996b). During model spin-up, losses of alkalinity to the sediment model are exactly compensated by a terrestrial weathering flux (diagnosed from the net sediment burial rate) which is applied as a flux of alkalinity to the ocean through river discharge. Once the model is in equilibrium either a constant or a prognostic terrestrial weathering flux anomaly can be used (Meissner et al., 2012).

3.1.3 Phytoplankton

As in Keller et al. (2012), the maximum possible growth rate of phytoplankton and calcifiers (J_{max}) is a modified Eppley curve (Eppley, 1972), and is a function of seawater temperature (T), an e-folding temperature parameter T_b , and iron availability (u_{Fe}) . Parameter values are listed in Table 3.3. Calcifiers are assigned a lower maximum growth rate (a) than mixed phytoplankton, an assumption used previously by Le Quéré et al. (2005) but also justified by comparing measured growth rates for a selection of four coccolithophores by Buitenhuis et al. (2008) $(0.3-1.0 \text{ day}^{-1} \text{ at})$

15°C) with the general range for phytoplankton by Eppley (1972) (a maximum rate of about 2.2 day⁻¹ at 15°C).

$$J_{\max} = a \times e^{\frac{T}{T_b}} \times u_{\text{Fe}} \tag{3.19}$$

Iron limitation is calculated from the concentration of iron that is prescribed in interpolated monthly-mean fields using an iron half saturation approximation constant $(k_{\rm Fe})$ (Keller et al., 2012; Galbraith et al., 2010). Inclusion of a prognostic iron cycle in the UVic ESCM would increase the computational cost of running the model and is outside of the realm of this model development project, though is currently underway (L. Nickelsen, personal communication). However, accounting for iron limitation on growth rates by means of a limitation mask improves phytoplankton biogeography without additional computational cost (Keller et al., 2012). Calcifiers and mixed phytoplankton are assigned different $k_{\rm Fe}$ values that vary the degree of iron limitation, and that are tuned to produce the best possible PFT distributions, not actual iron affinities. Calcifiers are assigned a lower $k_{\rm Fe}$ value than mixed phytoplankton to simulate the relatively low iron half saturation constant for calcifiers recommended by Le Quéré et al. (2005).

$$u_{\rm Fe} = \frac{\rm Fe}{k_{\rm Fe} + \rm Fe} \tag{3.20}$$

The maximum potential growth rate is then multiplied by a nutrient availability (u) for both nitrate and phosphate to calculate growth under nutrient limitation, where $k_{\rm N}$ and $k_{\rm P}$ are half saturation constants.

$$u_{\rm NO_3^-} = \frac{\rm NO_3^-}{k_{\rm N} + \rm NO_3^-} \tag{3.21}$$

$$u_{\rm PO_4^{3-}} = \frac{\rm PO_4^{3-}}{k_{\rm P} + \rm PO_4^{3-}}$$
(3.22)

These equations are applied to obtain maximum possible growth rates as a function of temperature and nutrients. As in Schmittner et al. (2005), the maximum possible growth rate under limited light availability (J_I) is calculated as:

$$J_I = \frac{J_{\max} \alpha I}{[J_{\max}^2 + (\alpha I)^2]^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(3.23)

where α is the initial slope of the photosynthesis versus irradiance (I) curve. Calcifiers have a lower α than diatoms, though it is similar to non-bloom forming mixed phytoplankton (summarised in Le Quéré et al., 2005). Therefore, a lower α value for calcifiers is used here. Additionally, light scattering by coccoliths is considered in calculating available irradiance at each depth level:

$$I = I_{z=0} \text{PAR}e^{-k_w \tilde{z} - k_c \int_0^{\tilde{z}} (P + C + Diaz) dz - k_{\text{CaCO}_3} \int_0^{\tilde{z}} (\text{CaCO}_3) dz}$$

 $\cdot [1 + a_i (e^{-k_I (h_i + h_s)} - 1)]$ (3.24)

where PAR stands for the photosynthetically available radiation, k_w , k_c , k_{CaCO_3} , and k_I are the light attenuation coefficients for water, all phytoplankton (calcifiers, diazotrophs, and general phytoplankton), CaCO₃, and ice, \tilde{z} is the effective vertical coordinate, a_i is the fractional sea ice cover, and h_i and h_s are calculated sea ice and snow cover thickness. Values for k_c and k_{CaCO_3} come from Balch and Utgoff (2009).

The actual growth rate (J_{PorC}) of the general phytoplankton and calcifier PFTs is taken to be the minimum of the three growth functions described above:

$$J_{PorC} = \min(J_I, J_{\max}u_{NO_2^-}, J_{\max}u_{PO_4^{3-}}).$$
(3.25)

Diazotroph growth is not dependent on NO_3^- concentration and hence follows:

$$J_{Diaz} = \min(J_{(Diaz)I}, J_{(Diaz)\max} u_{PO_4^{3-}}).$$
(3.26)

Two loss terms other than predation (which is described below) are considered. Mortality from old age or disease is parameterised using a linear mortality rate (m). Temperature-dependent fast remineralisation is parameterised using a temperature dependency multiplied by a constant (μ_0^*) :

$$\mu^* = \mu_0^* \times e^{\frac{T}{T_b}}.$$
 (3.27)

3.1.4 Grazing

Zooplankton grazing (G) follows Keller et al. (2012). Relevant parameters are listed in Table 3.4. Grazing of each food source (mixed phytoplankton, calcifiers, diazotrophs, zooplankton, detritus) is calculated using a Holling II function, where a calculated maximum zooplankton grazing rate (μ_Z^{max}) is reduced by a scaling that is weighted by a food preference (ψ_X , where "X" stands for any of general phytoplankton, calcifiers, diazotrophs, zooplankton or total detritus), the total prey population and a half saturation constant for zooplankton ingestion (k_z):

$$G_X = \mu_Z^{\max} \times Z \times X \frac{\psi_X}{P + C + Diaz + Detr_{tot} + Z + k_z}.$$
 (3.28)

The calculated maximum potential grazing rate is a function of a maximum potential grazing rate at 0°C (μ_Z^{θ}), temperature, and oxygen, where grazing activity is capped

when temperatures exceed 20°C:

$$\mu_Z^{\max} = \mu_Z^{\theta} \times \max\left\{0, r_{sox}^{\mathcal{O}_2} \times b^{c \cdot \min(20,T)}\right\}.$$
(3.29)

Grazing is also reduced under hypoxic conditions $(r_{sox}^{O_2})$:

$$r_{sox}^{O_2} = 0.5(\tanh(O_2 - 8) + 1)$$
 (3.30)

where O_2 is dissolved oxygen in μ M.

3.2 Model Tuning

Model tracers alkalinity and DIC are very sensitive to the prognostic $CaCO_3$ described in the previous section, which made model tuning a challenge. Stabilising the model with realistic parameter values required multiple steps. After each step, conservation of global alkalinity and carbon was confirmed before proceeding. The original UVic ESCM ocean chemistry is in fairly good agreement with observations, so the initial goal was to tune the model as closely as possible to the original version. To do this, annual mean $CaCO_3$ dissolution at a pre-industrial equilibrium was diagnosed from the original model. The output file was then fed into the new model (but, for structural reasons, without the ballast model turned on) to prescribe $CaCO_3$ dissolution. $CaCO_3$ production in the new model was not dramatically changed from the original model, but the possibility of greater dissolution than production plus transport into any given grid box meant a correction term was required to avoid negative $CaCO_3$ concentrations. The $CaCO_3$ tracer was therefore calculated from the ocean bottom to the surface in a reverse depth loop, where if the tracer was calculated as negative, a correction term was added to the concentration to set the tracer equal to zero. The correction term was then carried in to the tracer calculation in the grid box above, which was likewise adjusted with a correction term if needed (basically changing the sinking speed). At the surface, the integrated correction was added to the total $CaCO_3$ production to conserve carbon. In this way, the new model with a prognostic $CaCO_3$ tracer was able to reproduce the alkalinity and DIC fields of the original instant-export-production model.

The next step was to tune production as closely as possible to average global estimates and PFT distributions in the modern ocean. Production parameters have been shown to be highly model-dependent (Kriest and Oschlies, 2011). Parameters were adjusted under the constraints that mixed phytoplankton parameters be kept at original model parameter values, and that calcifier growth rate, N and Fe uptake and α values would all be lower than the mixed phytoplankton parameter values

Table 3.1: Miscellaneous UVic ESCM t for 0°C.	piogeochemi	cal model <u>j</u>	parameters.	Tempera	ture-dependent parameter .
Parameter	\mathbf{Symbol}	\mathbf{Units}	NOCAL	CAL	Published range or
					synthesised value
Diazotroph growth handicap	c_D	unitless	0.4	0.4	
E-folding temperature	T_b	°C	15.65	15.65	
Detrital remineralisation rate	μ_{D0}	day^{-1}	0.055	0.055	$0.02{-}0.1^{\mathrm{a}}$
Detrital sinking speed at surface	w_{D0}	m day $^{-1}$	14.0	14.0	$10{-}50^{\rm b}$
Ballast:Total detrital production ratio	$R_{bal:tot}$	unitless	N/A	0.05	0.075^{c}
Molar organic P:N ratio	$R_{\mathrm{P:N}}$	unitless	0.0625	0.0625	
Molar organic C:N ratio	$R_{ m C:N}$	unitless	6.625	6.625	
Molar organic O:N ratio	$R_{\rm O:N}$	unitless	10.0	10.0	
^a Summarised in Sarmiento and Grub	er (2006).				
b From Danalan (9001)					

values are given

From Berelson (2001).

 $^{\rm c}$ From Klaas and Archer (2002).

Parameter	\mathbf{Symbol}	\mathbf{Units}	NOCAL	\mathbf{CAL}	Published range or
					synthesised value
CaCO ₃ :POC production ratio	${ m R}_{ m CaCO_3:POC}$	unitless	0.03	0.04	$0.05 - 0.25^{a}$
CaCO ₃ dissolution half saturation constant	k	mmol C m^{-3}	N/A	100	100 ^b
CaCO ₃ sinking speed	mC0	$m day^{-1}$	N/A	35	50.0^{b}
Light attenuation by CaCO ₃	$k_{\rm CaCO_3}$	$(m mmol m^{-3})^{-1}$	N/A	0.47	$1.19^*k_w^{ m c}$
^a Summarised in Scott et al. (2011).					
^b From PlankTOM10 but originating in PIS	CES Aumont	et al. (2003) .			
^c Where k_w is the light attenuation of water	. From Balch	and Utgoff (2009).			

Table 3.2: UVic ESCM model $CaCO_3$ export-production parameters.

 $\mathbf{41}$

are given for 0°C.					
Parameter	\mathbf{Symbol}	\mathbf{Units}	NOCAL	CAL	Published range or
					synthesised value
Maximum growth rate	a_P	day^{-1}	0.6	0.6^{a}	$0.01{-}5.1^{ m b,c}$
	a_C		N/A	0.52	$0.91{-}1.20^{ m d}$
Half-saturation constant N	$k_{\mathrm{N}P}$	$\mathrm{mmol}\ \mathrm{m}^{-3}$	0.7	0.7	$0.001 - 0.85^{ m b,c}$
	$k_{ m NC}$		N/A	0.4	$0.15 – 0.21^{d}$
Half-saturation constant Fe	$k_{\mathrm{Fe}}{}_P$	$\rm nmol~m^{-3}$	$0.1^{\rm e}$	0.1	0.00002^{a}
	$k_{\mathrm{Fe}C}$		N/A	0.06	0.00002^{a}
	$k_{{ m Fe}Diaz}$		0.1	0.12	0.00012^{a}
Initial slope of P-I curve	α_P	$(W m^{-2})^{-1} d^{-1}$	0.1	0.1	$0.046 - 2.40^{ m b,c}$
	$lpha_C$		N/A	0.06	0.06^{a}
Light attenuation by phytoplankton	k_c	$(m mmol m^{-3})^{-1}$	0.47	0.43	$1.08^*k_w{}^{ m f}$
Phytoplankton mortality rate	m_P	day^{-1}	0.03	0.03	$0.008{-}0.25^{ m b,c}$
	m_C		N/A	0.03	0.05^{a}
	m_{Diaz}		0.015	0.015	0.05^{a}
Microbial fast recycling	μ^*_{0P}	day^{-1}	0.015	0.015	$0.05^{\mathrm{a}}, \ 0.00 - 0.025^{\mathrm{b,c}}$
	μ^*_{0C}		N/A	0.015	0.16^{d}
^a From Le Quéré et al. (2005).					
^b Summarised in Scott et al. (2011).					
^c Range is general and does not disting	guish by PF	Ή.			

Table 3.3: UVic ESCM biogeochemical model phytoplankton production parameters. Temperature-dependent parameter values

 $^{\rm d}$ Summarised in Litchman et al. (2006).

^fWhere k_w is the light attenuation of water. This is a high-end estimate from Balch and Utgoff (2009). ^e UVic ESCM value is tuned to an iron mask and is not the actual physiological iron limitation (Keller et al., 2012).

 $\mathbf{42}$

Table 3.4: UVic ESCM biogeochemic 0°C.	cal model zo	oplankton pe	urameters. T	lemperat	ure-dependent parameter values are given for
Parameter	\mathbf{Symbol}	\mathbf{Units}	NOCAL	CAL	Published range or
					synthesised value
Maximum grazing rate	$\mu^{ heta}_{Z}$	day^{-1}	0.4	0.4	$0.06-2.0^{a}$
Maximum grazing rate parameters	q	unitless	1.066	1.066	
	С	$^{\circ}\mathrm{C}^{-1}$	1.0	1.0	
Food preferences	ψ_P	unitless	0.30	0.225	$\psi_P < \psi_C^{ m b,c}$
	ψ_C		N/A	0.225	
	ψ_Z		0.30	0.225	
	ψ_{Diaz}		0.10	0.1	
	$\psi_{Detr_{tot}}$		0.30	0.225	
Half saturation constant	k_z	mmol m^{-3}	0.15	0.15	$0.4{-}1.0^{a}$
Growth efficiency constant	β	unitless	0.4	0.4	$0.2{-}0.4^{ m d}$
Assimilation efficiency	K	unitless	0.7	0.7	$0.46-0.95^{ m a,c}$
Mortality rate	m_z	day^{-1}	0.06	0.06	$0.03 - 0.2^{a}$
^a Summarised in Scott et al. (2011)					
^b Summarised in Litchman et al. (2	2006).				
^c Model-derived.					
^d Summarised in Stock and Dunne	(2010).				

(Le Quéré et al., 2005). According to Scott et al. (2011), over 10% of model variance in primary production is attributable to four parameters: maximum growth rate (a, a)in the high and mid-latitudes), the initial slope of the photosynthesis-irradiance curve (α , at all latitudes), mortality (a more model-dependent variable having the largest impact at low latitudes, μ_0^* and μ_0 here), and the carbon to chlorophyll ratio (at low latitudes, but not included in this model). Growth rate was by far the most sensitive of the production parameters in this model, with mortality and α holding less of an influence on biomass and biogeography. As has been shown previously (e.g. Cropp and Norbury, 2009), achieving multiple extant PFTs required careful model tuning. Nutrient half saturation constants for nitrate and iron provided calcifiers a competitive advantage, while a lower growth rate and α produced a disadvantage. The tuning of these parameters required an iterative process to "balance" the relative advantages with the relative disadvantages enough that both general phytoplankton and calcifier populations remained extant, and roughly realistically distributed in the surface ocean. As in other multiple-PFT models (e.g., Cropp and Norbury, 2009) similar growth rates for calcifiers and general phytoplankton were required to maintain both populations, but more variable nutrient uptake and grazing parameter values were possible.

With fixed CaCO₃ dissolution, tuned production, and stable alkalinity and DIC, the next step was to tune the CaCO₃ sinking rate. A sensitivity study across a range of w_{C0} and $R_{CaCO_3:POC}$ values was conducted to determine what combination yielded the best fit to the original model CaCO₃ export, and did not substantially alter ocean alkalinity distributions. After these parameter values were determined, the model was integrated for several thousand years to achieve an equilibrated state. The new model CaCO₃ dissolution scheme was run in parallel as a diagnostic only, and roughly tuned to match the original model dissolution. The new model CaCO₃ dissolution scheme replaced the original dissolution scheme after model equilibrium was achieved. The reverse-loop correction of CaCO₃ was not necessary after this step, and so it was turned off and CaCO₃ was treated like any other tracer in the model.

CaCO₃ ballasting of detritus was the last component of the model to be turned on. Parameters $R_{bal:tot}$, w_{D0} , w_{C0} , and $R_{CaCO_3:POC}$ were then re-evaluated to determine the optimal values. Altogether, over two thousand test runs were required to achieve a tuned model.

3.3 Model Assessment

For the purpose of evaluation, the NOCAL and CAL versions of the model (from Keller et al., 2012, and the one described here) were first brought to pre-industrial equilibrium using a fixed atmospheric CO_2 concentration of 283 ppm over ten thousand year integrations. In each case the same physical parameters are used, and the sediment model is coupled in both integrations (it was not included in the study by Keller et al. 2012).

Model CAL biogeochemical tracers averaged globally and by ocean basin reveal generally improved performance with respect to NOCAL in reproducing Global Data Analysis Project (GLODAP) and World Ocean Atlas (WOA) observations (Key et al., 2004; Garcia et al., 2009, Figures 3.2 and 3.3). This may be partly due to the application of a parameter set in NOCAL that was tuned by Keller et al. (2012) to a model that did not include sediments, while the parameter set in CAL is tuned to achieve the best fit including sediments. Both CAL and NOCAL perform well globally and in the Pacific and Southern Oceans, with larger differences in the Indian and Atlantic basins. Globally integrated biogeochemical properties for CAL and NOCAL (Table 3.5) reveal that while both model versions calculate global net primary production (NPP) within observational range, much of the production occurs in the eastern Pacific and Indian Oceans (right-most panels of Figure 3.4). High production in these regions is primarily from the general phytoplankton PFT in both CAL and NOCAL (panels A and E in Figure 3.4), though calcifiers offer an important contribution in the CAL model (panel B in Figure 3.4). High production in the Indian basin can explain generally low surface nutrient concentrations in this region (Figures 3.5 to 3.7). In the Atlantic, the model performs well with respect to observations of PO_4^{3-} and DIC. As with earlier model versions (e.g., Eby et al., 2009), the most notable discrepancy between Atlantic observations and model results is in surface alkalinity concentrations (Figure 3.7), in which model alkalinity is too low in the Northern Hemisphere mid-latitudes and tropics. Surface DIC in the Western Pacific is improved in the CAL version compared to earlier versions (not shown), though DIC in this region remains too low with respect to observations (Figure 3.6) because of high model NPP.

CAL CaCO₃ concentration peaks in latitudinal bands centred on 50°N, the Equator, and 40°S (Figure 3.8). Limited data exist for this key model variable. Comparison to the Aqua MODIS standard CaCO₃ satellite product (NASA, 2013) reveals large differences between model predicted and satellite concentrations, with the majority of CAL CaCO₃ occurring at low latitudes (because of high NPP) not



Figure 3.2: Averaged biogeochemical simulated tracers (CAL, red solid line; NO-CAL, blue dashed line) compared to observations (black line). DIC and alkalinity observations are the standard GLODAP product (Key et al., 2004). Phosphate and nitrate observations are annual averages from the World Ocean Atlas (WOA; Garcia et al., 2009). Bottom row shows globally averaged model-data misfits.

TT 11 0 F	C1 1 11	• • • • 1	1 • 1 • 1	· ·
Table 3 b	(+lobally	integrated	hiological	properties
T able 0.0 .	Globally	mogratou	Diological	proper mes.

Property	NOCAL	CAL	Independent Esti-
Toperty	NOCAL	OAL	mate
Primary Production (Pg C y^{-1})	61.82	64.19	$44-78^{a}$
Export production at 130 m (Pg C y^{-1})	7.77	7.09	5.73 ^b
POC flux at 2 km (Pg C y^{-1})	0.26	0.36	$0.43 \pm 0.05^{\rm b}$
$CaCO_3$ export at 130 m (Pg C y ⁻¹)	0.94	0.83	$1.1 \pm 0.3^{\rm c}$
$CaCO_3$ flux at 2 km (Pg C y ⁻¹)	0.55	0.43	$0.41\pm0.05^{\rm b}$
$CaCO_3$ dissolution (Pg C y ⁻¹)	N/A	0.40	$0.5 \pm 0.2^{\rm d}$
$CaCO_3$ sediment flux (Pg C y ⁻¹)	0.48	0.42	$0.21 0.27 \ ^{\text{e}}$
Total Phytoplankton (Pg C)	0.52	0.47	$0.5 – 2.4 {\rm ~f}$
Calcifiers (Pg C)	N/A	0.15	$0.001 – 0.03^{g}$
Zooplankton (Pg C)	0.55	0.59	$0.03 – 0.67^{g}$

^a Low value from Carr et al. (2006), high value from Jin et al. (2006). Buitenhuis et al. (2013b) recently used a model-data synthesis to constrain the value to 56 Pg C y^{-1} .

- ^b From Honjo et al. (2008).
- ^c From Lee (2001).
- ^d From Feely et al. (2004).
- $^{\rm e}$ 0.1–0.14 Pg C y $^{-1}$ in pelagic zones, 0.11-0.13 Pg C y $^{-1}$ in coastal zones, from Iglesias-Rodríguez et al. (2002b).
- $^{\rm f}$ Total global autotrophic biomass from Buitenhuis et al. (2013a).
- ^g From Buitenhuis et al. (2013a).



Figure 3.3: Normalised Taylor diagrams of simulated tracers (CAL, red symbols; NOCAL, blue symbols) compared to observations (black circle). Observations used are the same as Figure 3.2. Ocean basins are denoted as: global average (star), Atlantic (square), Indian (triangle), Pacific (plus), and Southern Ocean (diamond).

represented in the satellite product. Lower CaCO₃ estimates by the model at high latitudes are the result of calcifiers being out-competed by the faster-growing general phytoplankton PFT, as well as the model not simulating bloom dynamics. Inclusion of silica limitation for the mixed phytoplankton at the high latitudes would likely increase calcifier populations as well. Satellite data must be used with caution, as they have seasonal bias, do not distinguish between living and dead CaCO₃ (Tyrrell and Merico, 2004) and can overestimate CaCO₃ by 2 to 3 times (Balch et al., 2011). Furthermore, Brown and Yoder (1994) estimate subpolar blooms captured by satellite might only represent 0.3% of the total global calcification, with the majority of coccoliths appearing in sediments having a source that is not detectable with satel-







Figure 3.5: Zonally averaged PO_4^{3-} by ocean basin and surface distributions (CAL, left column; WOA observations, right column).



Figure 3.6: Zonally averaged DIC by ocean basin and surface distributions (CAL, left column; GLODAP observations, right column).



Figure 3.7: Zonally averaged alkalinity by ocean basin and surface distributions (CAL, left column; GLODAP observations, right column).

lites. In situ CaCO₃ and POC concentration data are more reliable but sparser. Model living and detached CaCO₃ and POC (detritus and PFT biomass) are used to compare simulated organic and inorganic carbon to *in situ* samples (Figure 3.9). Simulated concentrations of living and detached CaCO₃ are underestimated with respect to the Lam et al. (2011) data compilation for values indicative of blooms (greater than 0.5 mmol C m⁻³). Simulated CaCO₃ concentrations less than 0.2 mmol C m⁻³ are overestimated, which is consistent with higher simulated biomass in the low latitudes. A comparison of detached CaCO₃ concentration in CAL with the pre-industrial control concentration of the CMIP5 multi-model ensemble, normalised to the Lam et al. (2011) dataset shows CAL is within the range of CMIP5 models for which these data are available (Figure 3.10), though it is important to note the total comparable data points number less than 1500 for the entire global ocean.

Annually averaged global $CaCO_3$ export fluxes (Table 3.5 and Figure 3.11) are low compared to sediment trap data from Honjo et al. (2008), though both CaCO₃ and POC fluxes in CAL agree better with observations than those in the NOCAL version (CaCO₃ root mean square error, RMSE, of 147.14 in CAL versus 188.02 in NOCAL, POC RMSE of 97.98 in CAL versus 100.65 in NOCAL, for a sample size of n = 95). Improved fluxes are likely due to the addition of the variable dissolution scheme, which calculates a global average dissolution rate of 0.40 PgC per year (also low but within the range of error when compared to independent estimates, Table 3.5). While application of a ballasting scheme was found to improve POC fluxes, the tuned ballasting parameter $R_{bal:tot}$ yields only a small ballasted POC pool that contributes only 2.6% of the POC reaching the sediments, compared to 80-83% estimated by Klaas and Archer (2002). This result is somewhat interesting in light of Wilson et al. (2012) who propose actual physical ballasting of POC by $CaCO_3$ might not actually exist. Spatial biases in export fluxes follow those found in CaCO₃ concentration, with too much export in the low latitudes and too little poleward of 60 degrees compared to Honjo et al. (2008). Sarmiento et al. (2002) concluded from a simple box model constrained by global export rates that the major contribution of $CaCO_3$ to global export must come from low-latitude, nonbloom forming calcifiers or zooplankton, so perhaps the CAL model is performing better than direct comparison to trap and satellite data suggest. Six percent of global total carbon export flux at 50 m depth is $CaCO_3$, compared to the Jin et al. (2006) estimate of 4% of the total carbon flux leaving the euphotic zone (75 m depth). Model CAL rain ratio follows the pattern calculated in Sarmiento et al. (2002) of a small POC:CaCO₃ export ratio in the low latitudes that increases poleward.



right is the standard CaCO₃ product from AQUA MODIS, accumulated over the entire mission (2002–2013, NASA, 2013). including living $CaCO_3$ attached to calcifiers and zooplankton, in the surface grid box (to 50 m depth, top right plot). Bottom Figure 3.8: Zonally averaged CaCO₃ concentration by ocean basin (left and middle plots). Model CAL CaCO₃ concentration,



Figure 3.9: Model/observation regression of CAL CaCO₃ concentration (left panel) and CAL POC concentration (right panel) from the ocean surface to 1000 m depth. Data are *in situ* measurements from Lam et al. (2011). Solid line denotes a 1:1 relationship, dotted lines indicate ± 1 .

Simulated sediment composition in CAL has overall lower contributions from $CaCO_3$ than NOCAL (Figure 3.12). While lower $CaCO_3$ concentrations represent improvement compared to observational estimates (Archer, 1996a), concentrations are still too high because of the overproduction of calcifiers relative to total production, and the absence of other diluting material in the model.

Unlike earlier versions of the UVic ESCM that used instant export and dissolution, CaCO₃ export now peaks about two months after calcifier biomass reaches seasonal maxima (Figure 3.13, panels A and D). CaCO₃ export is also now lower than in the NOCAL version (Table 3.5 and Figure 3.13, panel E). Model calcifiers bloom too early (March-May, rather than June-July, O'Brien et al. 2013) in the northern latitudes. Zooplankton population in the Northern Hemisphere high latitudes peaks about three months after calcifier biomass, with the seasonal progression being calcifiers first, then general phytoplankton and then zooplankton (Figure 3.13, panels A to C). The model biomass succession is in contrast to the observed diatom to non-diatom progression (e.g., Joint et al., 1993; Riebesell et al., 2007), though without explicit diatoms in the model it is expected that the model ecology could not replicate the behaviour of this keystone PFT. A previously noted correlation between Bering Sea Shelf E. huxleyi blooms and seasonal peaks in carbonate ion concentration (Merico et al., 2006) is also not seen in the CAL model because the proposed mechanism (precursor draw-down of DIC by a diatom bloom) is missing. Implementing an explicit dependence for calcifier growth on high CO_3^{2-} would likely shift the calcifier biomass peak several months later in the season and move the gen-



Figure 3.10: Normalised Taylor diagram of model CaCO₃ concentrations compared to the Lam et al. (2011) dataset (black circle). Models are CAL (red circle), GFDL-ES2M (green star), MIROC-ESM (light blue circle), CNRM-CM5 (blue diamond), MPI-ESM-LR (yellow plus), and IPSL-CM5B-LR (purple circle). With the exception of CAL, the data for all models were obtained by mining the CMIP5 database (http://cmip-pcmdi.llnl.gov) using the following search terms: CMIP5, ocean biogeochem, pre-industrial control, annual output, calcite concentration.

eral phytoplankton biomass peak forward, possibly improving model performance. Such a dependence might also improve CaCO₃ distributions by reducing the production and export in the low latitude upwelling zones. While increasing calcification correlates with increasing CO_3^{2-} concentrations, no significant correlation between coccolith mass and chlorophyll or cell abundance is apparent in global sampling of surface water and sediment core samples (Beaufort et al., 2011). In the Southern Hemisphere, zooplankton seasonality is the primary driver of CaCO₃ fluxes because of the absence of a model calcifier population south of 40°S.

CAL model calcifiers are reported as a molar concentration, while actual coccolithophores have cell biovolumes (in typical units of μ m³) that are taxonomically







Figure 3.12: Percent $CaCO_3$ sediment composition. CAL is shown upper left, NO-CAL is shown bottom left, and gridded sample data from Archer (1996a) is shown top right.

variable (summarised in O'Brien et al., 2013). Hence predicted calcifier concentrations in the CAL model are more indicative of the presence or absence of the PFT and cannot be expected to reasonably quantify abundance. CAL calcifiers can be compared to the recent Marine Ecosystem Data (MAREDAT) (Buitenhuis et al., 2013a; O'Brien et al., 2013) sample data synthesis. Since the CAL model does not resolve coastal processes, globally integrated total phytoplankton PFT concentrations (Table 3.5) are lower than the MAREDAT estimate. Calcifiers, however, are over-represented by a factor of ten. This overestimate is primarily due to the low number of PFTs in the model, which requires that the calcifier PFT use parameter values (i.e., the growth rate factor) more similar to the general phytoplankton PFT than data support, if it is to avoid extinction. The sparseness of the MAREDAT dataset limits conclusions to noting the CAL model calcifiers have a far greater distribution than what in situ sampling supports, and have the highest concentrations in the low latitudes, in contrast to MAREDAT. The discrepancy is mostly due to the overestimate of total production in this region coupled with the necessary over-representation of calcifiers to maintain an extant population. It may also be partly due to the likely sampling bias towards high-latitude blooms in the MARE-



Figure 3.13: Hovmöller diagrams of CAL depth-integrated PFT concentrations by latitude and month (calcifiers, panel A; general phytoplankton, panel B; zooplankton, panel C). Also shown is $CaCO_3$ flux at 130 m depth by latitude and month for CAL (panel D) and NOCAL (panel E).
DAT synthesis, with lower latitude open ocean regions having relatively few sample points (O'Brien et al., 2013). CAL calcifier biomass maxima in the mid-latitudes $(40-60^{\circ}N, 40^{\circ}S)$ are generally consistent with observed high concentrations at 60°N and 20–40°S (O'Brien et al., 2013), and high CaCO₃ export values at 40°N and S calculated by Jin et al. (2006). Also consistent with MAREDAT is the lack of much seasonality in the model Southern Ocean calcifier population, though only calcifying zooplankton are present in this region.

Regional models with multiple PFTs (e.g., Litchman et al., 2006; Tyrrell and Taylor, 1996) or models using nutrient-restoring methods (e.g., Jin et al., 2006) are better able to represent coccolithophore abundances and community composition with data-based (rather than model-based) parameter values; Jin et al. (2006) estimate coccolithophores contributing only 2% of NPP, which is in better agreement with the MAREDAT relative abundance estimate for coccolithophores (Buitenhuis et al., 2013a). Models with fully prognostic PFTs coupled to ocean general circulation models (OGCMs) have a more difficult time reproducing calcifier biogeography and proportionality. Coccolithophores in NASA's biogeochemical model NOBM (five PFTs) (Gregg et al., 2003; Gregg and Casey, 2007) show an overall positive correlation with *in situ* data, though fail to appear in the North Pacific and Antarctic regions. Like the CAL model, coccolithophores in NOBM are over-represented in the Equatorial Pacific (Gregg and Casey, 2007). Though the NOBM coccolithophores contribute more to global NPP (17%) than the Jin et al. (2006) estimate, this is still much less than the CAL model calcifiers' 44% contribution to total NPP. The biogeochemical model PlankTOM5.2 (five PFTs) coupled to two different OGCMs cannot reproduce high-latitude calcifier populations, and mixed phytoplankton and calcifiers do not easily co-exist (Sinha et al., 2010). Also apparent in the coupled PlankTOM5.2–NEMO model is an over-representation of the calcifier population in the Indian and Western Pacific basins (Sinha et al., 2010), which is a problem shared by this model.

Aside from calcifiers, PFT relative concentrations are otherwise in agreement with Buitenhuis et al. (2013a), with diazotrophs having the lowest concentration, followed by general phytoplankton. Diazotroph concentration is substantially lower than the general phytoplankton PFT and is able to remain extant because of its critical advantage of not being nitrogen limited. In CAL as was found by Buitenhuis et al. (2013a), zooplankton concentrations are higher than total phytoplankton concentrations.

As with any model, this one is not without caveats regarding its application. Collapsing complex and poorly understood natural biogeochemical cycles into a rigid artificial model structure introduces uncertainty into the parameter space of the constructed equations. The degree of under-determination of the model equations is large enough that a priori assumptions and optimisation methods have been shown to influence results, with "optimal" parameter values comprising a broad range, each performing equally well with respect to independent data (Ward et al., 2010). It is important to note that while this model has been tuned manually to reduce the model-data error in global state variables, it cannot be considered optimised (Kriest et al., 2010). Furthermore, nutrients to a degree and PFT distributions especially are sensitive to model structure and parameter choice (Anderson et al., 2010; Manizza et al., 2010; Sailley et al., 2013), as well as physical biases in any given ocean model (Doney et al., 2004; Najjar et al., 2007; Sinha et al., 2010). Similarly, models can perform comparatively well for very different structural reasons (Hashioka et al., 2013). It is therefore often difficult to tell if the model is getting the right answer for the wrong reason (e.g. Friedrichs et al., 2007; Sinha et al., 2010). More specifically, biological parameter choice for the calcifying PFT is biased towards *E. huxleyi*, which necessarily biases model results. One must therefore be careful to interpret model results appropriately, given these limitations.

3.4 Conclusions

Calcifying phytoplankton and zooplankton are key components of the ocean carbon cycle and thus their representation in coupled climate models is important for understanding systemic response to change. This model is a unique attempt to include calcifiers as an explicit phytoplankton PFT alongside a general phytoplankton and diazotroph PFT in an intermediate complexity model, and to make the calcifiers and zooplankton responsible for $CaCO_3$ production and prognostic export, and detrital ballasting. The UVic ESCM now fills a niche in Earth System modelling that was previously unoccupied in that it is relatively inexpensive to run, yet resolves the complete Earth System carbon cycle including prognostic calcium carbonate and a separate calcifier PFT. Since the UVic ESCM includes ocean sediments and calcite compensation (something none of the CMIP5 models do), it is now a model that is particularly well suited to reducing the uncertainty of the fate of emissions over the long term. It is also ideally suited to test the parameter space of feedbacks between the carbonate and carbon cycles and the climate system in transient simulations. The modifications improve the UVic ESCM model's performance with respect to nutrient distributions and carbon fluxes, and make the model mechanistically more realistic. Primary production, export production, POC and CaCO₃ fluxes at various depths all fall within independent estimates. While the model is able to reasonably reproduce observed patterns of mid-latitude maximum calcifier concentrations, it also shares biases common to other calcifier PFT models coupled to OGCMs: calcifiers are over-represented in total biomass and at low latitudes, and underrepresented at high latitudes compared to satellite and sample data (Gregg and Casey, 2007; Sinha et al., 2010; Vogt et al., 2013). In the CAL model, failure to resolve coastal processes results in necessarily too-high NPP, CaCO₃, and POC export-production fluxes in the low latitudes in order to match global estimates. With possibly 48%of total global POC flux occurring in water depths of less than 50 m (Dunne et al., 2007), lacking any sort of parameterisation for these regions imposes a significant bias to the model. In other calcifier multi-PFT models, exact regions of bias are model dependent and attributable to physical and ecosystem differences, but the systematic over-representation of calcifiers in the low latitudes may have some physical justification. Previous studies have shown global export budgets require high CaCO₃ export in this region (Sarmiento et al., 2002), and high latitude bloom $CaCO_3$ is underrepresented in sediments (Brown and Yoder, 1994). Vogt et al. (2013) noted the similarity of calcifier model biogeography to observed picophytoplankton biogeography, so inclusion of additional picophytoplankton PFTs might improve calcifiers in models.

There are four potential improvements to the CAL model that have not yet been addressed. Simulated calcifiers are wholly dependent on relative competitive advantage, and can easily go extinct or cause the general phytoplankton PFT to go extinct with only small adjustments to production parameter values, especially the growth rate. Because their niche is so poorly defined with respect to the general phytoplankton PFT, additional PFTs (particularly diatoms) are expected to improve their population biogeography, stability, and seasonal behaviour, and may allow calcifier parameter values to become less model- and more data-dependent (though this assumption has not been tested). Secondly, the ballast model does not include a parameterisation for particle aggregation, which would increase the fraction of ballasted POC ending up in the sediments. Thirdly, static stoichiometric ratios in the model ignore their dependence on remineralisation processes (Schneider et al., 2003), carbonate chemistry (Riebesell et al., 2007), biogeography (Weber and Deutsch, 2010), and taxonomy (Arrigo et al., 1999). Including a parameterisation of flexible stoichiometric ratios would have a significant influence on the ecology (Flynn, 2010), nutrient distributions, and carbon uptake (Kortzinger et al., 2001; Schneider et al., 2004). Lastly, the model does not account for decreasing calcification with increasing CO_2 concentration (Riebesell et al., 2000), which would doubtless affect

simulated tracer distributions and biogeography. Furthermore, using a single dissolution parameterisation for zooplankton and calcifier $CaCO_3$ ignores the likely significant contribution of aragonite dissolution to global alkalinity (Gangstø et al., 2008). These last two were considered for inclusion in this model, but the current code structure is not amenable to flexible or multiple rain ratios, and will require a significant restructuring should these changes be implemented in the future. An alternative to a flexible rain ratio for representing the effect of acidification on production in the calcifier PFT is presented in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4

Application of a Calcite Saturation State Dependency on the Calcifier Population in the UVic ESCM

4.1 Introduction

Calcification of coccolith tests by coccolithophores is a critical biological pathway for atmospheric and ocean carbon into the deep ocean and sediments (Jin et al., 2006; Archer, 1996a), and yet modelling of this pathway presents a challenge because no significant correlation between coccolith mass and chlorophyll or cell abundance is found in global sampling of surface water and sediments (Beaufort et al., 2011). This means that in ocean or earth system models, achieving excellent agreement between coccolithophore biomass *in-situ* data (e.g., O'Brien et al., 2013) and a coccolithophore or calcifier phytoplankton functional type (PFT) does not necessarily produce excellent agreement between CaCO₃ production, concentrations or export, and *in-situ* (e.g., Lam et al., 2011), sediment trap (e.g., Honjo et al., 2008), or satellite (e.g., NASA, 2013) CaCO₃ data.

Coccolithophore calcification does, however, correlate well with carbonate chemistry, specifically $[CO_3^{2-}]$, $[HCO_3^{-}]$, and calcite saturation state (Ω) (Beaufort et al., 2011). This includes not only the absolute mass of the coccolith tests, which increases with increasing Ω , but also in the relative proportion of CaCO₃ in every unit of cell volume (Beaufort et al., 2011). A global survey of ocean samples reveals this correlation more dramatically than culture experiments, and underscores the role of biodiversity rather than physiology in maintaining the relationship (Beaufort et al., 2011). In general, low $[CO_3^{2-}]$ (and low Ω) correlates with lesser diversity and lighter coccolith tests, and this relationship is apparent both in the modern ocean as well as in sediment records since the Last Glacial Maximum (Beaufort et al., 2011). This presents a conundrum for biogeochemical modelling, in that while there is no apparent link between calcifier primary production and calcification, clearly there are ecological consequences controlled by carbonate chemistry.

Malformation of coccolith tests in low $[CO_3^{2-}]$ water might be the relevant effect with ecological consequences. In the Beaufort et al. (2011) analysis, the lightest calcifying *Emiliania huxleyi* coccolithophore morphotype C appeared in very low $[CO_3^{2-}]$ (less than 200 μ mol kg⁻¹) water with substantial malformations. Increasing coccolith malformation with increasing CO₂ concentrations has also been observed in culture (Riebesell et al., 2000). The physiological function of coccolith tests is uncertain but it can be safely assumed their production provides a benefit that outweighs the cost of production (see review by Raven and Crawfurd, 2012). To a modeller interested in representing calcification in the global carbon cycle, the specific ecological trade-offs associated with coccolith malformation are probably not as important as capturing the overall effect on net calcifier and calcite production (i.e., changes to the production or loss terms in the population equations).

Glacial-interglacial box model simulations by Omta et al. (2013) suggest explicitly increasing calcifier growth rate with alkalinity improves the simulation of atmospheric CO_2 observed in the ice record and reproduces calcifier population spikes recorded in the sediments. This is the only previous global carbon cycle modelling example to explicitly link carbonate chemistry to calcifier primary production.

4.2 Methods

Though each model is different, the UVic ESCM calcifier source-and-sink equation can illustrate the options available for applying a carbonate chemistry dependency to primary production:

$$S(CALCS) = J_C \times CALCS - G_C - \mu_C^* \times CALCS - m_C \times CALCS \qquad (4.1)$$

where calcifier growth rate (J_C) provides the net source, and mortality (m_C) , microbial fast recycling (μ_C^*) and losses to zooplankton grazing (G_C) are the net sink. Scaling terms based on seawater Ω have been applied to the CaCO₃:POC rain ratio (Ridgwell et al., 2007b; Gehlen et al., 2007; Pinsonneault et al., 2012), with the Ridgwell et al. (2007b) parameterisation representing a high-end level of sensitivity. The Gehlen et al. (2007) parameterisation was applied to the UVic ESCM by Pinsonneault et al. (2012) previously and is used again here for calcifier production rather than the rain ratio, but modified as:

scale =
$$1 - \frac{\Omega - 1}{k + (\Omega - 1)}$$
 for scale ≥ 0 (4.2)

where k is a half-saturation constant. The scaling factor (shown in Figure 4.1) could be multiplied by any of the sink terms in Equation 4.1 (or [1 - scale] could be multiplied by the source term) to produce an additional cost between zero and one, with decreasing Ω . The following sections describe the results of a sensitivity study using k values of the same range used in the Pinsonneault et al. (2012) study (0.07–20), applied to the growth rate, linear mortality, and microbial fast recycling terms, and present a tuned model using an optimal k value. The scaling factor is not applied to losses from zooplankton grazing because the UVic ESCM is insensitive to grazing preference parameters. Any increase in grazing preference for calcifiers with decreasing Ω (and necessarily, a decrease in grazing preference for mixed phytoplankton) would only have a marginal impact on the biogeography of either PFT. Furthermore, experimental evidence suggests calcifiers, and especially lithed calcifiers, are generally the preferred food of zooplankton (see discussion by Raven and Crawfurd, 2012).

4.3 Results and Discussion

4.3.1 Growth Rate

Calcifier populations are very sensitive to application of the scaling factor to growth rate ((1 - scale)× J_C), which reduces or stops production in low- Ω regions such as the Eastern Pacific and high latitudes, and increases production in the low latitude western Pacific and Indian Oceans. As discussed in Chapter 3, the calcifier PFT biogeography in the UVic ESCM CAL model version is determined by calcifier relative fitness compared to the mixed phytoplankton PFT, and is the most sensitive to relative growth rates. Multiplication of the growth rate with the 0 to 1 scaling factor determined by Ω reduces the relative fitness of the calcifier PFT in all regions except those with the highest Ω values, which are also regions generally not inhabited by the mixed phytoplankton PFT because of nutrient limitation. The lack of co-existence of multiple PFTs is a common challenge in ocean models, and the UVic ESCM is no exception to this. Application of the scaling factor to growth rate



Figure 4.1: Example scaling factor for calcifier population source (green line) and sink (red line) terms, using k = 1.

further reduces the co-existence of PFTs and does not improve the calcifier biogeography, particle fluxes, or nutrient distributions. Application of the scaling factor to growth rate is also one of the more dubious parameterisation options because of the aforementioned lack of correlation between calcification and chlorophyll (Beaufort et al., 2011). Of the proposed purposes of coccoliths summarised by Raven and Crawfurd (2012), those that apply to alleviating light and nutrient limitation (that would consequently increase growth rate) cannot be represented in the UVic ESCM because vertical migration of plankton is not modelled.

4.3.2 Mortality Rate

Mixed phytoplankton populations are very sensitive to application of the scaling factor to the calcifier linear mortality rate (scale× m_C), and quickly become extinct or nearly extinct for the range of k half-saturation constants used. Since the CAL model uses the same linear mortality rate for both calcifier and mixed phytoplankton PFTs, calcifiers suddenly have a fitness advantage in all regions except where Ω is very low. Application of a higher mortality rate for calcifiers in addition to the scaling factor might improve results of this sensitivity test. Increased mortality of calcifiers from viruses or old age with decreased Ω is debatable as it appears the calcifier *E. huxleyi* actually succumbs more readily to viruses while in the diploid (coccolith bearing) phase (see discussion by Raven and Crawfurd, 2012).

4.3.3 Microbial Fast Recycling Rate

Application of the scaling factor to losses from microbial fast recycling (scale× μ_C^*) yields the most interesting results. The CAL model applied the same fast recycling parameter value to both calcifiers and mixed phytoplankton, but the calcifier fast recycling term is now reduced with increasing Ω (and calcifiers have a relatively greater competitive advantage everywhere but very low- Ω regions). This scaling implies that calcifiers' tests offer some protection to the calcifier from microbial degradation in moderate to high Ω regions. This protection is lost at low values of Ω , whereupon the calcifiers' vulnerability to microbial degradation is the same as the mixed phytoplankton type.

Application of the scaling factor to microbial fast recycling introduces a large positive feedback for calcifier populations. In well mixed, high nutrient regions that also tend to have lower values of Ω , the mixed phytoplankton PFT dominates in the CAL model because of a faster growth rate advantage. In the new model however, calcifiers now have fewer losses to microbial recycling than mixed phytoplankton, so they become more effective exporters of nutrients from these regions. This lowers the surface nutrient concentrations, which is a relative advantage for the calcifiers, whose population expands. A consequence of the increased calcifier population is increased calcification, which lowers surface Ω values and increases the feedback.

Calcifier competitive advantage is now enhanced relative to mixed phytoplankton in high- Ω regions, though the mixed phytoplankton PFT does not inhabit these regions to begin with because of nutrient limitation. Nutrient limitation becomes more of a problem for the calcifier PFT as reduced microbial recycling reduces surface phosphate and nitrate concentrations. The net result is that low- Ω regions are more favourable to calcifiers, high- Ω regions are less favourable, and global calcifier microbial recycling is lower than in the CAL model (Figure 4.2, where "CAL" is the model described in Chapter 3 and "OMEGA" is the model described here). Mixed phytoplankton distributions have a more diatom-like appearance by moving to the high latitudes, and calcifiers are the dominant PFT (Figure 4.3).

The redistribution of PFTs in OMEGA compared to CAL yields the following biogeochemical modifications, following re-tuning of the model (Table 4.1):

1. Carbon and nutrients compared to data products are only slightly changed,



Figure 4.2: Surface microbial recycling of calcifier carbon for OMEGA (top panel) and CAL (bottom panel) configurations.



Figure 4.3: Depth-integrated annual average PFT biomass in gC m⁻² (OMEGA general phytoplankton, panel A; OMEGA calcifiers, panel B; OMEGA diazotrophs, panel C; OMEGA zooplankton, panel D). This figure is comparable to Figure 3.4.

with deep ocean misfits slightly decreased for DIC, slightly increased for PO_4^{3-} and NO_3^{-} , and mixed for alkalinity (Figure 4.4).

- 2. Net primary production decreases, though is still within the published range (Table 4.2). Fluxes of organic and inorganic carbon are neither made clearly worse nor improved (Table 4.2 and Figure 4.5). The RMSE is slightly higher for the OMEGA version 2 km depth CaCO₃ and POC fluxes, but the dataset is sparse (only 95 points compared) and certain regions such as the 40°S latitude band and the North Pacific are clearly improved compared to satellite data (Figure 3.8).
- 3. Calcifier populations are reduced in the western Pacific and Indian Oceans, a region where earth system models typically over-represent calcifier populations (see Figure 4.3 and discussion in Chapter 3). Calcifier populations are increased in the North Pacific, a region where earth system models typically under-represent calcifier populations. Calcifier populations also now exhibit a strong Southern Hemisphere population maximum around 40°S and a greater Southern Ocean presence, which is an improvement over the old model compared to survey data.

Parameter	Symbol	Units	\mathbf{CAL}	OMEGA
Ω scaling half-saturation constant	k	unitless	N/A	1.0
Ballast:Total detrital production ra- tio	$R_{bal:tot}$	unitless	0.05	0.04
CaCO ₃ :POC production ratio	$R_{CaCO_3:POC}$	unitless	0.04	0.03
Maximum calcifier growth rate	a_C	day^{-1}	0.52	0.5

Table 4.1: Changed UVic ESCM biogeochemical model parameters.

Table 4.2: Globally integrated biological properties.

Property	\mathbf{CAL}	OMEGA
Primary Production (Pg C y^{-1})	64.19	55.14
Export production at 130 m (Pg C y^{-1})	7.09	7.16
POC flux at 2 km (Pg C y^{-1})	0.36	0.40
$CaCO_3$ export at 130 m (Pg C y ⁻¹)	0.83	0.84
$CaCO_3$ flux at 2 km (Pg C y ⁻¹)	0.43	0.47
$CaCO_3$ dissolution (Pg C y ⁻¹)	0.40	0.38
$CaCO_3$ sediment flux (Pg C y ⁻¹)	0.42	0.45
Total Phytoplankton (Pg C)	0.47	0.39
Calcifiers (Pg C)	0.15	0.27
Zooplankton (Pg C)	0.59	0.59

4.4 Conclusions and Caveats

It has been observed that calcifier organic tissue protects coccolith tests from dissolution, and that this tissue is eroded by heterotrophic microbial activity (see discussion by Raven and Crawfurd, 2012). Assuming, then, that robust coccolith tests offer a relative fitness advantage, enhanced microbial activity on (or enhanced susceptibility to microbial degradation of) calcifier soft tissue would increase lith dissolution and decrease calcifier relative fitness. So is there evidence of either increased microbial activity or enhanced calcifier bacterial susceptibility with decreasing Ω ? Very little has been published regarding either option. Coccolithophores show rapid adaptability to changing environmental conditions (Lohbeck et al., 2012), which favours the "enhanced microbial activity" over the "enhanced calcifier susceptibility" option. At the same time, particle-associated bacterial communities have been found



Figure 4.4: Averaged biogeochemical simulated tracers (OMEGA, red solid line; CAL, blue dashed line) compared to observations (black line). DIC and alkalinity observations are the standard GLODAP product (Key et al., 2004). Phosphate and nitrate observations are annual averages from the World Ocean Atlas (WOA; Garcia et al., 2009). Bottom row shows globally averaged model-data misfits.



Figure 4.5: OMEGA model average $CaCO_3$ (upper left) and POC (upper right) export at 2 kilometers depth overlaid by trap data from Honjo et al. (2008). Model/observation regression in bottom panels. Comparable to Figure 3.11.

to be more diverse and more productive under elevated pCO_2 (Sperling et al., 2013). Regardless of the actual mechanism, whether calcifiers become more susceptible or microbes more aggressive with decreasing Ω , application of the scaling factor to microbial fast recycling is perhaps the best physically justified option.

It is possible these results could be achieved using a different parameterisation that likewise favours calcifiers in moderate Ω regions but discourages them in low and high Ω regions. Of the available options, however, none offer this result. Calcifier PFT growth rate is already fairly well constrained as lower than a mixed phytoplankton PFT (Le Quéré et al., 2005), and scaling this rate from one lower value to another lower value would only affect calcifier competitive advantage, not offer a feedback limiting calcifier growth in high Ω regions. The same is also true for scaling of grazing preferences, which can only affect regions where both PFTs are present. Scaling the linear mortality coefficient might improve moderate Ω regions but would not reduce biomass from high Ω regions as overall mortality would be lower there and hence nutrient concentrations would be either unchanged or increased by microbial recycling. It is also important to remember that the UVic ESCM biogeochemistry is a relatively simple model, and spatial distribution of calcifiers might be improved without the application of the scaling factor (see Conclusions in Chapter 3). For example, a prognostic iron cycle or increased competition from additional PFTs might also improve biogeography. Additional PFTs that would compete directly with the calcifier PFT could be the most desirable since they would reduce the over-representation of calcifiers in the model (remember, currently the calcifier PFT represents both calcifying and non-calcifying phytoplankton that share physiological traits).

Chapter 5

UVic ESCM Transient Future Simulations

Anthropogenic carbon dioxide emissions to the atmosphere are altering ocean physics, ecology, and chemistry. This chapter presents an overview of the UVic ESCM ocean biogeochemical response to business-as-usual Representative Concentration Pathway forcing (RCP8.5) with and without an explicit calcifier phytoplankton class and calcite ballast model. All models share a common response, including a transition between two globally dominating feedbacks. The first feedback is a physically driven one that dominates at lower changes in sea surface temperatures (SSTs), where reductions in PO_4^{3-} resupply from the deep ocean causes mixed phytoplankton populations to decline in the low and middle latitudes, and warming and reduction of sea ice cause mixed phytoplankton populations to increase in the high latitudes. Inclusion of calcifiers changes the sign of the global net primary production (NPP) trend from negative to slightly positive over the 21st century as calcifiers replace mixed phytoplankton populations in the middle and low latitudes. Global carbon export production (EP) changes very little. An increase in calcifiers in the middle and low latitudes prevents the advection of excess PO_4^{3-} to the Southern Ocean and has follow-on consequences for the Southern Ocean carbon sink, global denitrification rates, and NO_3^- concentrations. All models demonstrate decline in global mean oxygen concentration though the sign of the change in suboxic water volume depends on whether ballasting is included (decrease) or excluded (increase). The second feedback dominates the first at higher SST changes and is biologically driven. Stratification is reduced and warming-enhanced remineralisation rates rapidly recycle nutrients in the near-surface. This feedback increases global NPP, CaCO₃ EP, and suboxic water volume in all model configurations. The linear relationship between global NPP change and SST change found by others does not extend beyond a 2–4°C SST change in these simulations. For higher temperature changes, the relationship becomes exponential. The NPP response is greatest when calcifiers are included and the calcite tracer is not. EP trends likewise become positive for higher SST changes, though deep ocean carbon fluxes decline throughout the timeseries for all model configurations (1800-2400). The deep ocean carbon export and oxygen response is found to be highly sensitive to the inclusion of a prognostic calcite tracer for higher SST changes because ballasted detritus is quickly removed from the nearsurface remineralisation zone. Calcification and calcite export trends follow those of NPP.

5.1 Methods

The new calcification submodel described in Chapter 3 was implemented in an early UVic ESCM model version 2.9 that did not yet have the capability to simulate RCP scenarios. This ability was introduced in the second level of updates to 2.9, which also includes some changes to the carbon cycle. The model had to be re-tuned and re-equilibrated with the new updates before conducting future simulations. The only parameter that changed between Chapter 3 and Chapter 5 is the linear increase in sinking speed for CaCO₃ in Equation 3.8, which increases from $5.0e^{-2}$ to $6.0e^{-2}$ per second. It might well be that increasing this parameter value in the earlier model version would have likewise improved model performance. Model performance with respect to nutrients and carbon are essentially unchanged.

Four model configurations are included in this chapter. The Keller et al. (2012) model (NOCAL) and calcifier model (CAL) that are compared and described in Chapter 3, an intermediary model that includes the calcifier PFT but not the prognostic calcite tracer (NOCACO3), and the calcifier model that includes an Ω dependency on microbial fast recycling described in Chapter 4 (OMEGA). All models were first integrated for ten thousand years in fully coupled mode (ocean, atmosphere, geosphere, cryosphere, biosphere) using a constant pre-industrial CO₂ atmospheric concentration of 283.8 ppm to establish equilibrium. Equilibration was tested by releasing the constant atmospheric CO₂ concentration forcing and running the models several hundred years to check for stability, while allowing the model to compute atmospheric CO₂ prognostically. Historical CO₂ forcing, as well as historical agricultural, volcanic, sulphate aerosol and CFC emissions and changes to land ice and solar forcing were then applied from year 1800 to 2005 using the PMIP3 (Paleoclimate Modelling Intercomparison Project Phase 3) data compilation (Machida et al., 1995; Battle et al., 1996; Etheridge et al., 1996, 1998; Flückiger et al., 1999, 2004; Ferretti et al., 2005; Meure et al., 2006). From year 2005 to 2400 the models were forced using increasing CO_2 concentrations and radiative forcing from all non- CO_2 greenhouse gases, fractions of the land surface devoted to agricultural uses, and the direct effect of sulphate aerosols as an alteration of the surface albedo following "business-as-usual" RCP scenario 8.5 (RCP8.5, Riahi et al., 2007). The models diagnose global CO_2 emissions for the prescribed concentration pathway. The physical response (i.e., changes in temperature, salinity, ocean circulation, sea ice) is the same across all model configurations. Differences in model response to climate forcing therefore demonstrate the effect of biogeochemical model structure, such as presence or absence of calcifiers (compare NOCAL to NOCACO3), instant CaCO₃ dissolution and sinking versus full carbonate tracer (compare NOCACO3 to CAL), and neutral versus negative calcifier response to ocean acidification (compare CAL to OMEGA).

5.2 Results and Discussion

5.2.1 Changes in Net Primary Production and Biology

Globally integrated net primary production is a key indicator of model performance. In the NOCAL model, global NPP declines until about 2125 and then starts to increase (black line of panel A in Figure 5.1). Decreasing NPP is caused by the global decline of surface nutrients PO_4^{3-} and NO_3^{-} (black lines of panels C and D in Figure 5.1) that reduce the mixed phytoplankton population. Declining surface nutrients are due to the increased stratification of the low and middle latitudes (see changes in ventilation and mixed layer depth, and change in NPP, mixed phytoplankton and surface PO_4^{3-} for NOCAL in Figure 5.2, as well as declines in NPP in the tropics and middle latitudes in panels A of both Figures 5.3 and 5.4, and declines in near-surface nutrients in panels C and D of Figure 5.3) that cut off nutrient resupply from the deep ocean (see increasing PO_4^{3-} concentration below the thermocline in panel E of Figure 5.1). Diazotroph populations expand in parts of the tropics and middle latitude gyres (Figure 5.2) because of their relatively better tolerance of low nutrient concentrations than mixed phytoplankton, but their population size is too small to influence the global NPP trend and overall their productivity declines in the first part of the run (see nitrogen fixation, panel G in Figure 5.1). Historical and 21st century declines in global NPP are consistent with other coupled multi-PFT biogeochemistry-climate models (e.g., Bopp et al., 2013;

Moore et al., 2013a; Steinacher et al., 2010; Yool et al., 2013). They depart from results using an older version of the UVic ESCM (Schmittner et al., 2008) which had used lower phytoplankton growth rates and temperature-independent zooplankton grazing to simulate increases in global NPP throughout a historical and 21st century simulation. These earlier results had identified the UVic ESCM NPP response to increasing temperatures as anomalous, but these new results are in agreement with other published transient simulations to 2100. In the NOCAL simulation, global NPP decreases by 9% by 2100 relative to the pre-industrial equilibrium value owing to declining surface nutrients. Steinacher et al. (2010) found a decrease between 2 and 20% by 2100 using the SRES A2 emission scenario applied to four different climate models for the same reason (decline in nutrient availability). A more recent model survey found a decrease of 8.6 $\pm 7.9\%$ from the 1990s to the 2090s, also for the same reason, using RCP8.5 to force ten coupled biogeochemistry models (Bopp et al., 2013). None of the model studies mentioned report simulations beyond 2100 except Schmittner et al. (2008), and also none report a reversal of the NPP trend in the 2100-2400 time range.

The reversal of the global NPP trend in NOCAL occurs as a result of ocean warming, which increases the temperature-dependent biological processes of primary production, detrital remineralisation and phytoplankton fast recycling, as well as from an increase in ocean ventilation and reduction of stratification after 2100 (see changes in ventilation and mixed layer depth, and change in NPP and surface PO_4^{3-} in Figure 5.2). A similar long-term increase in NPP driven by temperaturedependent remineralisation and recovery of near-surface stratification (and, to a lesser extent, warming-enhanced photosynthesis) has been simulated by Schmittner et al. (2008). Fast recycling rates of mixed phytoplankton never decline in spite of the overall decline in NPP and detritus production in the first half of the run (panel B in Figure 5.1), and their increase drives the recovery in global near-surface PO_4^{3-} concentrations in the second half of the run (panel C, Figure 5.1). These processes do not increase uniformly; the largest NPP response occurs in the high latitudes in NOCAL and overrides low and middle latitude NPP declines to dominate the global trend (NOCAL NPP panel in Figure 5.2). Southern Ocean NPP quadruples over the NOCAL run (panel A in Figure 5.5), whereas tropical (between 20°N and 20°S) NPP only just recovers to year 1800 values by 2400 (panel A in Figure 5.3) and NPP in a middle latitude band between 40°S and 60°S never recovers to year 1800 levels (panel A of Figure 5.4). A positive feedback establishes through nutrient transport between the low and middle latitudes and the Southern Ocean, which increases Southern Ocean NPP and reduces low and middle latitude NPP (Figure



Figure 5.1: Globally integrated change (Year-1800) for NPP (panel A), phytoplankton fast recycling (dashed lines) and detrital remineralisation (solid lines) rates (panel B), PO_4^{3-} and NO_3^- concentration integrated over 0-200 m depth (panels C and D), PO_4^{3-} and NO_3^- concentration below 200 m depth (panels E and F), nitrogen fixation rates (panel G), and denitrification (panel H). Model runs are NOCAL (black line), NOCACO3 (blue line), CAL (red line), and OMEGA (green line).

N°08

ç

0

Mixed Layer Depth (m)

Diaz

(gC m⁻³)

-0.18

0.18

ς

iii Iii

300

N°08

S₀08

S.08

N°08

°

% Ventilation % -1

N°08 5.08

Depth (m)

S_o08

N°08

sical Changes

°

o Surface

Temp (°C)

۷°08

NOCA

VOCACOS

OMEG/

 $\begin{array}{ll} \mbox{Mixed Phyt} & \mbox{NPP} (gC \ m^{-3} \ d^{-1}) \\ (gC \ m^{-3}) \end{array}$

N°08

°

Ice Area

Fraction

°

S.08

-300

S.08

N°08

S.08

2000 Year

N.08 S.08

LS₀08

2000 Year

2000 Year

2200

2000 Year 2200

2000 2200 Year

ij

Surface PO₄³

(mmol m⁻³)

Ξ 2.2 ij

Zoop

(gC m⁻³)

Calcs

(gC m⁻³)

2.2

2200

2200

S.08

N°08

Q



5.6). Declining NPP in the tropics and southern hemispheric middle latitudes increases the advection of un-utilised PO_4^{3-} southward. Panels A and B in Figure 5.4 reveal declining NPP in the 40–60°S latitudinal band over the first half of the run is accompanied by transport of PO_4^{3-} across the 40°S latitude that steadily increases from slightly negative (northward) to positive (southward). The excess PO_4^{3-} moves across 60°S into the Southern Ocean and combines with warming sea surface temperatures (SSTs) and reduced sea ice cover to increase NPP, phytoplankton fast recycling and detrital remineralisation (panels A and B of Figure 5.5). Surface PO_4^{3-} declines and deep ocean PO_4^{3-} increases (panels C and E in Figure 5.5) with increases in detrital export. Increasing remineralisation and recycling lowers the Southern Ocean deep ocean oxygen content and increases denitrification (panel G of Figure 5.5, and Figure 5.6). Establishing significant denitrification in the Southern Ocean has follow-on consequences for the global ocean as severely NO_3^- -depleted water (panel F in Figure 5.5) is transported northward and resurfaces in upwelling zones. Large declines in global NO_3^- can be seen in the global means of the nearsurface and the deep ocean (panels D and F in Figure 5.1) and are representative mainly of the extra-tropics for near-surface values. Low NO₃⁻ surface concentrations appearing in the middle latitudes further limits NPP in these regions and increases the transport of excess PO_4^{3-} into the Southern Ocean (Figure 5.4), enhancing the feedback. It is important to note that although near-surface NO_3^- concentrations also decline in the Southern Ocean, they do not reach limiting concentrations and therefore do not impact NPP (Figure 5.5).

There are two distinct regional mechanisms forcing the global NPP trend in NO-CAL that have been described previously (e.g., Bopp et al., 2001; Schmittner et al., 2008; Steinacher et al., 2010; Bopp et al., 2013; Yool et al., 2013; Segschneider and Bendtsen, 2013). Latitudes greater than 60° experience almost no decline in NPP over the simulation as warmer temperatures, increasing nutrients, and decreasing sea ice continuously expand phytoplankton poleward (Figure 5.2). NPP increases substantially on the Atlantic side of the Arctic Ocean, a trend that agrees with the robust multi-model mean of Bopp et al. (2013), and also increases significantly in the Southern Ocean (see map view of change in NPP in Figure 5.6). The Southern Ocean is a region of disagreeing trends across the Bopp et al. (2013) models, which could be partly due to differences in the strength of the nutrient transport feedback described above. These high latitude increases are overshadowed in the global NPP trend until 2100 by decreases in NPP between 60°N and 60°S, where decreasing surface nutrients reduce mixed phytoplankton populations, particularly in the North Atlantic and tropical Indian Ocean basins, and to a lesser extent in the tropical central western Pacific. Declines in these basins are consistent with the robust multi-model trend found by Bopp et al. (2013). After 2100, the global NPP trend reverses and starts to rise because of the large increase in high latitude NPP, reduction of middle and low latitude stratification, and increasing temperature-dependent biological processes. Increases in NPP in the North Pacific over the simulation can be attributed to increased temperature and ventilation depth in the region, which increases both mixed phytoplankton and diazotroph populations.

The importance of phytoplankton community composition for the low latitude and Southern Ocean nutrient feedback is highlighted in the very different global NPP response of the models that include calcifiers (schematic shown in Figure 5.6). Because calcifiers have a lower nutrient half saturation constant than mixed phytoplankton, decreasing surface nutrient concentrations in the low and middle latitudes in the first half of the model runs increase their relative advantage, and the population increases in the southern Pacific and Atlantic basins (Figure 5.2). Global NPP never declines in NOCACO3, CAL, and OMEGA in spite of globally declining surface nutrients (Figure 5.1) because of the calcifiers replacing mixed phytoplankton. Strong increases in NPP in the 40-60°S latitudinal band for the models with calcifiers compensate for increased southward transport of PO_4^{3-} into the region and result in lower near-surface PO_4^{3-} concentrations and a smaller increase in PO_4^{3-} transport into the Southern Ocean than in NOCAL (Figure 5.4). Less fertilisation of the Southern Ocean in NOCACO3, CAL, and OMEGA results in a lower regional NPP response and strong denitrification fails to develop (Figures 5.5 and 5.6). The absence of significant Southern Ocean denitrification as well as the higher tolerance of calcifiers to nutrient depletion prevents a decrease in NPP in the middle and low latitudes (Figures 5.3 and 5.4), thus maintaining mixed phytoplankton and diazotroph populations in these regions better than in NOCAL (Figure 5.2). Maintenance of NPP by calcifiers in the low and middle latitudes also has the effect of increasing the global warming-enhanced biological processes, with fast recycling and detrital remineralisation rates rising more quickly in the calcifier models than in NOCAL globally and in the tropics (panels B in Figures 5.1 and 5.3). Eventual large losses of calcifiers in the OMEGA model from acidification-enhanced fast recycling occur after warming-enhanced biological processes dominate the global NPP trend, and the opportunity for a large Southern Ocean nutrient exchange feedback to develop is missed.

Like my calcifier models, Manizza et al. (2010); Marinov et al. (2013); Moore et al. (2013a); Yool et al. (2013) also project a global increase in the proportion of small phytoplankton (calcifiers) over the 21st century, but unlike the UVic ESCM calcifier



Figure 5.3: Biogeochemical change (Year-1800) integrated over the tropics (20°N to 20°S) for NPP (panel A), phytoplankton fast recycling (dashed lines) and detrital remineralisation (solid lines) rates (panel B), PO_4^{3-} and NO_3^{-} concentration integrated over 0-200 m depth (panels C and D), PO_4^{3-} and NO_3^{-} concentration below 200 m depth (panels E and F), nitrogen fixation rates (panel G), and denitrification (panel H). Model runs are NOCAL (black line), NOCACO3 (blue line), CAL (red line), and OMEGA (green line).



Figure 5.4: Biogeochemical response integrated over Southern Hemisphere highmiddle latitudes (40°S to 60°S) for NPP (panel A), PO_4^{3-} southward transport (panel B: dashed lines are across the 40°S latitude, solid lines are across the 60°S latitude), PO_4^{3-} and NO_3^{-} concentration change integrated over 0-200 m depth (Year-1800, panels C and D), and PO_4^{3-} and NO_3^{-} concentration change below 200 m depth (Year-1800, panels E and F). Model runs are NOCAL (black line), NOCACO3 (blue line), CAL (red line), and OMEGA (green line). All panels except B show anomalies from 1800.



Figure 5.5: Biogeochemical change (Year-1800) integrated over the Southern Ocean (60°S to 90°S) for NPP (panel A), phytoplankton fast recycling (dashed lines) and detrital remineralisation (solid lines) rates (panel B), PO_4^{3-} and NO_3^- concentration integrated over 0-200 m depth (panels C and D), PO_4^{3-} and NO_3^- concentration below 200 m depth (panels E and F), and denitrification (panel G). Model runs are NOCAL (black line), NOCACO3 (blue line), CAL (red line), and OMEGA (green line).



Denitrification(2400) - Denitrification(1800) in Gmol N y⁻¹

Figure 5.6: Biogeochemical response schematic for the middle latitudes and Southern Ocean (green and blue boxes). Increases with climate change are represented in italic font. Regular font indicates little or no change with climate forcing. Bold arrows indicate the dominant factor influencing change in NPP. Dashed arrows indicate the secondary factor influencing change in NPP. Nutrient feedback between regions is shown in coloured arrows. Depth-integrated change in NPP (2400-1800), as well as depth-integrated change in denitrification (2400-1800) are also shown for NOCAL and NOCACO3. Dashed lines on the NOCACO3 denitrification plot indicate the 40 and 60°S latitudes. CAL and OMEGA model NPP and denitrification change are similar to that of NOCACO3.

models global NPP still declines in their models. Biological community composition is already recognised as critical to determination of the overall trend in NPP (e.g., Marinov et al., 2013). NOCACO3, CAL, and OMEGA have overestimated calcifier contribution to total biomass (Kvale et al., 2014, and Chapter 3), which likely overestimates the global NPP contribution of calcifiers in both pre-industrial and future scenarios. Lower contributions by calcifiers to NPP in the low and middle latitudes could allow for a global decline in NPP and a larger nutrient feedback between these regions and the Southern Ocean. It is also possible that the omission of an explicit diatom PFT (which is particularly susceptible to stratification and inhabits the high latitudes; see Marinov et al. 2010; Moore et al. 2013a; Yool et al. 2013) could alter the Southern Ocean response.

Choice of parameterisation of particle export and remineralisation by model PFTs can also control surface nutrient resupply and resultant NPP trends (e.g., Taucher and Oschlies, 2011; Segschneider and Bendtsen, 2013). For instance, low latitude increases in implicit calcifiers in Moore et al. (2013a) were not able to offset declines in global NPP driven by the other PFTs because of differences in the export efficiency across the PFTs. In the NOCACO3 model there are no differences between calcifier and mixed phytoplankton PFT carbon export efficiency, and thus calcifier replacement of mixed phytoplankton serves as an equivalent substitution. In CAL and OMEGA, however, calcifiers (including zooplankton) are more efficient exporters because of their ability to ballast detritus in protective $CaCO_3$. Increased global carbon and nutrient export efficiency as phytoplankton calcifiers take over should theoretically reduce global NPP, but these runs show the relevance of calcifier biogeography, as regions where calcifiers expand are also the regions where warming-enhanced biological processes increase the earliest. The effect of increasing carbon and nutrient export efficiency in CAL and OMEGA instead reduces the rate of increase in global and tropical NPP and the rate of global and tropical detrital remineralisation relative to that of NOCACO3, and decreases the near-surface and deep ocean nutrient response in the second half of the runs (compare red and green lines to blue lines in Figures 5.1 and 5.3 panels). Tropical and global NO_3^- fixation and denitrification trends are also sensitive to the ballast models in CAL and OMEGA. Less denitrification develops in the low latitudes in CAL and OMEGA relative to the NOCACO3 simulation because CaCO₃ ballasting of POC reduces remineralisation rates, which reduces oxygen consumption. Less NO_3^- fixation occurs because lower remineralisation rates keep absolute surface PO_4^{3-} concentrations lower in the CAL and OMEGA models (not shown), which limits all phytoplankton populations including the diazotrophs. Model responses in global carbon export are

described further in a later section.

5.2.2 NPP/SST Sensitivity

The trend reversal of global mean NPP in NOCAL in spite of continuously increasing global mean SSTs suggests a more complex relationship between these two quantities in the UVic ESCM than the linear one previously shown by Bopp et al. (2013) and Moore et al. (2013a). Figure 5.7 illustrates the different relationships between changes in NPP and SSTs for all model configurations. All models show a transition between two globally dominating feedbacks. In NOCAL, the relationship between % change in NPP and change in SST is negative and quasi-linear only until about 4°C of warming, whereupon the relationship becomes positive and exponential. At SST changes under about 4°C in NOCAL, reduced nutrient supply for phytoplankton dominates the global NPP trend (a physically-driven feedback), but a tipping point is reached at about 4°C whereupon nutrients are no longer globally limiting because of warming-enhanced biological processes (a biologically-driven feedback) and a global reduction of stratification (Schmittner et al., 2008). An exponential relationship between NPP and SSTs beyond 4°C of change is not altogether surprising since phytoplankton growth, zooplankton grazing, phytoplankton fast recycling, and POC remineralisation rates are all exponentially temperature dependent in the UVic ESCM. It is possible other models using temperature dependent rates might achieve a similar sign reversal in the NPP/SST relationship; neither Bopp et al. (2013) nor Moore et al. (2013a) plot the relationship past a 4°C SST change, nor integrate experiments past 2100.

The inclusion of calcifiers in the NOCACO3 model alters the NPP/SST relationship from one that is negative and linear and becomes positive and exponential at about 4°C of change for NOCAL, to one that is positive and linear and becomes positive and exponential at about 2°C of change. The NOCACO3 model transitions to a warming-enhanced biological process-dominated feedback earlier than NOCAL because of increased NPP in the low latitudes throughout the simulation, which is the region dominated earliest by warming-enhanced fast recycling and remineralisation.

The addition of a prognostic calcite tracer reduces model NPP sensitivity to SST warming relative to the NOCACO3 configuration. In the CAL configuration trends in all plotted variables share the same temporal and spatial patterns, but not the magnitude, with the NOCACO3 configuration. This is because of the added effect of calcite-ballasted detritus, which increases over the simulation alongside the calcifier population and effectively removes nutrients from the surface and from the



Figure 5.7: Global depth-integrated percent change in NPP (Year-1800) versus global average SST change (Year-1800) for NOCAL (black), NOCACO3 (blue), CAL (red), and OMEGA (green).

zone of warming-enhanced remineralisation (thereby mitigating the remineralisation feedback). Eventually, however, even the mitigating effect of ballasting cannot override the effect of warming-enhanced remineralisation, and the NPP/SST relationship becomes exponential.

Declining saturation state increases the microbial recycling rates of phytoplankton calcifiers in the OMEGA middle and low latitudes, and increases the sensitivity of the NPP/SST relationship relative to the CAL model. The increased sensitivity of model calcifiers in OMEGA to enhanced remineralisation causes the global NPP trend to depart from that of CAL just after 2100, or just after 2°C of SST warming, whereupon the trend becomes strongly positive and exponential. Above a 5°C change in SST, the NPP trend more closely follows that of NOCACO3, which indicates a severely reduced mitigating ballasting effect.

5.2.3 Changes in Carbon Export

Eventual increases in global NPP relative to pre-industrial values in NOCAL do not carry through to carbon export away from the surface (Figure 5.8). Global $CaCO_3$ and POC export from the near-surface decline alongside global NPP over

the historical period and 21st century in the NOCAL configuration, but while NPP and $CaCO_3$ flux eventually increase beyond the pre-industrial level, POC export production (EP) does not, and deep water POC flux declines continuously over the simulation. The decline in POC flux in NOCAL is partly due to the decline of NPP in the middle and low latitudes, but mostly due to the warming-enhanced detrital remineralisation rate in the near-surface, which removes POC from export even as NPP and CaCO₃ export increase.

In the NOCACO3 simulation, replacement of mixed phytoplankton by low and middle latitude calcifiers results in a more modest decline in globally integrated POC EP to 2100, but a much larger sensitivity to increasing temperature-dependent remineralisation rates and a resulting larger decline in deep ocean POC flux by 2400 (Figure 5.8). CaCO₃ flux, on the other hand, increases the most of all the runs because of the large NPP/SST sensitivity.

The moderating effect of the ballast model is apparent in the CAL results, which shows the smallest total long-term decline in global deep ocean POC flux and the smallest CaCO₃ EP rate increase in the remineralisation-dominated ocean (Figure 5.8). Increasing globally integrated CaCO₃ EP over the NOCACO3 and CAL simulations as a response to increasing NPP agrees with Schmittner et al. (2008), and is not reproduced in models that project declining NPP (e.g., Moore et al., 2013a; Yool et al., 2013).

OMEGA model POC EP trends at 130 meters depth follow those of CAL because even though ballasting by calcifiers is reduced and eventually eliminated by decreasing Ω values, ballasting by zooplankton-derived CaCO₃ increases under warming-enhanced remineralisation as increasing NPP increases their food supply. Zooplankton-derived CaCO₃ therefore becomes increasingly important for global export trends as calcifier-derived CaCO₃ production is decreased and dissolution is increased by increasing ocean acidification, but zooplankton CaCO₃ production is not affected.

The addition of calcifiers to the model in the NOCACO3, CAL, and OMEGA configurations decreases the early POC EP response (near-surface POC fluxes are reduced less in these models over the first part of the runs) by maintaining NPP in the warmest and lowest nutrient regions. The application of a CaCO₃ tracer mitigates the longer-term response because explicit CaCO₃ ballasting protects some POC from remineralisation, so near-surface POC fluxes to do not increase, and deep ocean POC fluxes do not decline, as much in the CAL and OMEGA models as in the NOCACO3 model. In contrast, addition of calcifiers (but no ballasting) to the PISCES-T model further reduced global EP and ocean carbon uptake relative to the



Figure 5.8: Timeseries of export production for NOCAL (black line), NOCACO3 (blue line), CAL (red line), and OMEGA (green line) at 130 meters depth (top row) and 2 km depth (bottom row). Left panels are POC, right panels are CaCO₃.

control experiment in Manizza et al. (2010) because expansion of calcifiers reduced the zooplankton population (who prefer silicifiers in their model), which reduced carbon EP and export efficiency more than if no calcifiers were included in the model. This zooplankton response is not seen in CAL because zooplankton grazing is not preferential between calcifiers and mixed phytoplankton, and reinforces the conclusion that ecosystem model parameterisation choice critically determines model EP and export efficiency behaviour in climate transitions (Taucher and Oschlies, 2011; Segschneider and Bendtsen, 2013).

Increases in high latitude POC EP caused by expanding phytoplankton populations, offset by the decline of near-surface POC EP everywhere else is a robust multi-model result described in Bopp et al. (2013). This trend occurs in all of my model configurations in the near-surface, but only extends to the deep ocean in NOCAL (not shown). It is noteworthy that alteration of the global carbon export pathway by the addition of a calcifier PFT in NOCACO3, CAL, and OMEGA results in large Southern Ocean trend differences across model configurations not only for NPP but also for POC fluxes. This is an interesting result given the calcifier PFT is never dominant in this region.

5.2.4 Changes in Oxygen

Model declines in simulated global oxygen content over the 21st century (Table 5.1) are generally in agreement with the Bopp et al. (2013) estimate of $3.45\pm0.44\%$, though the NOCAL model simulates a substantially larger decline of 5.0% due to the increase in detrital remineralisation in the Southern Ocean over this time period. Percentage differences in total oxygen loss across model configurations are reduced over the simulations as microbial processes begin to dominate, with only a 0.9% trend difference between end members by 2400.

Expansion of suboxic zones (following Oschlies et al. 2008, regions where oxygen concentrations are less than or equal to 5 mmol m^{-3}) show greater sensitivity to model configuration (Figure 5.9 and Table 5.1). In the models that do not include ballasting (NOCAL and NOCACO3), by 2100 suboxic volume has increased 2.3 and 14.2%, respectively, relative to the volume at 1800. Expansion of the suboxic regions occurs because of increased respiration rates and decreased solubility in both models as well as increased biological activity in the Southern Ocean in NOCAL. These estimates agree somewhat with Yool et al. (2013), who found a suboxic volume increase of 12.5% for the 2090s relative to the 1990s using RCP8.5, and are much lower than Oschlies et al. (2008), who found a 50% increase by the end of the century using the A2 SRES scenario and a variable C:N remineralisation ratio. The much larger suboxic volume increase in NOCACO3 than in NOCAL is a result of the higher NPP/SST sensitivity of the calcifier models. In the models that include ballasting (CAL and OMEGA), suboxic volume declines by 14.8 and 26.1%, respectively, by 2100. Thermodynamic solubility still decreases, and respiration rates still increase in these models (though not as quickly in the OMEGA model since calcifiers have a lower microbial recycling rate in carbonate saturated water). These trends decrease the total oxygen content, but the suboxic volume is affected by expansion of the calcifiers, which locally increase $CaCO_3$ export in the Eastern Equatorial Pacific, removing detritus from microbial degradation and contracting the suboxic zone. The relative impact of ballasting on oxygen trends increases as warming-enhanced remineralisation and fast recycling becomes more dominant. By 2400 the CAL and OMEGA models suboxic volume has expanded by only 2.8 and 8.2%, respectively, while in the NOCACO3 and NOCAL models the volume has increased by 60.9 and 724.9%, respectively. The exceptional expansion of suboxic volume in the NOCAL model occurs in the Southern Ocean and accompanies the large regional increase in NPP. Hofmann and Schellnhuber (2009) identified the weakening of the ballast export pathway under ocean acidification as a substantial driver of the expansion of

	Table 5.1: Global	ly integrated pre-indu	ustrial oxygen conten	t and simulated trend	ds.
Model	1800 O_2 Content	2100 % Content	2400 % Content	2100 % Suboxic	2400 % Suboxic
	in Pmol	Change	Change	Volume Change	Volume Change
NOCAL	176	-5.0	-14.7	+2.3	+724.9
NOCACO3	279	-3.2	-14.1	+14.2	+60.9
CAL	270	-3.2	-15.0	-14.8	+2.8
OMEGA	266	-3.1	-14.5	-26.1	+8.2



Figure 5.9: Change in suboxic (O₂ less than 5 mmol m^{-3}) water volume between 1800 and 2400 in all model configurations. Note the different scale for NOCAL.

hypoxic zones. These results show that inclusion of ballasting in the UVic ESCM affects the sign of the 21st century change in suboxic water volume (while within the physically-dominated climate feedback), and substantially reduces the long-term simulated expansion of suboxic water volume (in the biologically-dominated climate feedback). These results also show that the reduced ballasting pathway in OMEGA compared to CAL roughly doubles the suboxic trend. The present generation of climate models show relatively poor agreement both with each other as well as observations with respect to modern and future oxygen trends (Bopp et al., 2013), and this might very well be related to the variable formulations of calcification and carbon export, as well as to the strength of the Southern Ocean nutrient exchange feedback described earlier.

5.2.5 Changes in Carbonate Chemistry and DIC

Chemistry-dependent calcite dissolution in the CAL and OMEGA models result in only minor additional reductions in surface and deep ocean calcite saturation state over the simulations compared to NOCAL and NOCACO3 simulations (not shown). In all model configurations, a stabilisation of surface carbonate chemistry occurs shortly after 2200 that corresponds with stabilisation of atmospheric CO_2 concen-



Figure 5.10: Diagnosed global carbon emissions for NOCAL (black line), NOCACO3 (blue line), CAL (red line), and OMEGA (green line).

trations. The first year calcite and aragonite undersaturation is reached in surface waters for all model configurations varies by no more than a decade. Differences in diagnosed global accumulated emissions are also small across model configurations (Figure 5.10), with a difference of 111 Pg C in allowable emissions between 1800 and 2400 (5013 Pg C in NOCAL, 5124 Pg C in NOCACO3, 5103 Pg C in CAL, 5101 Pg C in OMEGA).

Depth integrated DIC trends differ across model configurations mostly in the Southern Ocean (Figure 5.11), where the much larger increase in NPP in the NOCAL simulation results in a larger quantity of DIC in this region. These results reinforce the conclusion of Manizza et al. (2010) and Bopp et al. (2013) that the Southern Ocean is particularly sensitive to ecosystem model parameterisation, and that ocean carbon uptake increases with increasing EP (Manizza et al., 2010).

5.3 Summary and Conclusions

The experiment described in this chapter highlights the importance of biogeochemical model parameterisation in determining the transient behaviour of the ocean carbon cycle during climate transitions. Though each model (NOCAL, NOCACO3, CAL, and OMEGA) has very similar equilibrium states, which are described in pre-


Figure 5.11: Depth integrated DIC anomalies (2400-1800) for model configurations.

vious chapters, each model's biogeochemical behaviour under forcing is unique both in global and regional trends. Overall, however, the models share a common response of a transition between two dominant feedbacks. The first is a physically-driven one that dominates at lower changes in sea surface temperatures, where reductions in PO_4^{3-} resupply from the deep ocean causes mixed phytoplankton populations to decline in the low and middle latitudes. Increased warming and reduced sea ice cover increases the mixed phytoplankton population in the high latitudes. In the NOCAL model, global NPP, POC and CaCO₃ EP decline over the first half of the simulation as a result of the low latitude trend. In the models that contain calcifiers (NO-CACO3, CAL, OMEGA), the higher nutrient affinities of the calcifiers allow them to replace the mixed phytoplankton population in the stratifying low latitudes, and global NPP, POC and CaCO₃ EP change less.

The replacement of mixed phytoplankton by calcifiers in the low and middle latitudes has a strong follow-on effect for the Southern Ocean, which fails to develop as a large carbon sink in the calcifier models. This is because maintenance of NPP in the low and middle latitudes prevents the advection of excess PO_4^{3-} into the Southern Ocean. In the NOCAL model, this excess PO_4^{3-} increases Southern Ocean NPP and associated detrital remineralisation and denitrification. NO_3^- -depleted water advects northward and surfaces in upwelling regions, and NPP in the middle latitudes becomes increasingly NO_3^- -limited, resulting in more excess PO_4^{3-} . This Southern Ocean/middle latitude nutrient exchange acts as a positive feedback for increasing Southern Ocean NPP in the NOCAL model, but not in the calcifier models. This nutrient exchange remains a secondary actor with respect to the global NPP NOCAL trend until transition to the second, biologically-driven dominant feedback occurs. It is important to note that the UVic ESCM includes a parameterisation of wind stress anomalies following Weaver et al. (2001), which produces a poleward shift and increase in the strength of the Southern Ocean westerlies in all model configurations (not shown). Real changes in wind patterns will likely differ somewhat from the model and could alter the actual SST and NPP response. That reduction of NPP in one region can potentially increase NPP in another via nutrient advection, with follow-on effects for deep carbon export and oxygen is a result that highlights just how accurately a model must represent phytoplankton physiology, ecological competition (and of course, physics) in order to adequately assess regional biogeochemical consequences to environmental change. Further testing of this Southern Ocean NPP mechanism is warranted given its potential relevance for carbon uptake, denitrification, and oxygen concentration.

The sign of the global NPP trend under the first physically-driven feedback differs between the models that include calcifiers and the model that does not. So how well do these model results reflect reconstructions of the historical period? A recent model-data hindcast simulation by Laufkötter et al. (2013) suggests global NPP and EP declined between 1960 and 2006 on an order similar to that of the NOCAL model. Also like the NOCAL model, their simulation shows the strongest declines occurring in the central-western Pacific (not shown). If a low-latitude/Southern Ocean nutrient exchange feedback is currently forming it is probably still too early to detect according to our results, which agree with the finding of no significant trend in Southern Ocean NPP over the time period by Laufkötter et al. (2013).

Oxygen trends under the first feedback depend on whether $CaCO_3$ ballasting is resolved, with expanding suboxic zones in the models that do not include it and contracting zones in those that do. This is because increased NPP in the ballast models has a corresponding increase in $CaCO_3$ flux in the eastern equatorial Pacific suboxic zone, which protects more of the POC flux from remineralisation and raises near-surface oxygen concentrations. The models without ballasting, however, show increased POC flux in this same region which decreases near-surface oxygen concentrations.

The second biologically-driven feedback dominates the first for higher sea surface

temperatures when near-surface stratification weakens and is driven by warmingenhanced remineralisation rates, which compensate for reductions in nutrient resupply by rapidly recycling carbon and nutrients in the near-surface. This feedback increases global NPP, CaCO₃ EP, and suboxic water volume in all model configurations. Transition to this second feedback in all model configurations raises the possibility that trends observed in NPP over recent decades cannot be extrapolated far into the future. POC EP response is dependent on whether the model accounts for detrived ballasting by calcite; the models that contain a ballasting parameterisation (CAL and OMEGA) show a mitigated increase in near-surface POC production, and a mitigated decline in deep ocean POC export because the calcite protects POC from near-surface remineralisation and continues to effectively remove it to the deep ocean throughout the simulations. On the one hand, no CMIP5 model currently accounts for the ballasting effect, which suggests they are not appropriate tools for examining long-term trends in POC export and oxygen. On the other hand, whether a physical ballast mechanism exists beyond a globally-relevant scale has recently been questioned by Wilson et al. (2012). Given the potential importance of ballasting to a transitioning carbon cycle, additional clarification of this issue is needed.

The transition between the two dominating feedbacks depends on model parameterisation. Including calcifiers causes the model to become more sensitive to warming-enhanced remineralisation because the calcifiers maintain NPP in the warmest (low and middle latitude) regions. The transition to the second feedback occurs at lower values of global sea surface temperature change (around 2°C), whereas in the NOCAL model the transition occurs around 4°C sea surface temperature change with NPP response occurring primarily in the Southern Ocean. A 2°C change is a well-established threshold for dangerous climate change (e.g., Graßl et al., 2003), and this analysis adds another reason to support this guardrail. This analysis also suggests that the low to middle latitude NPP response is going to be one of the more important indicators of system sensitivity to observe as ocean change continues, and that accurately reproducing phytoplankton competition in models is of utmost importance for understanding tipping points and dangerous thresholds in the global carbon cycle. Given the impact this feedback has on global NPP, further investigation of temperature-dependent remineralisation in models is warranted.

There are several shortcomings in the models presented here that likely affect the above conclusions. As mentioned in previous chapters, the calcifier models overrepresent the PFT in total biomass and in low latitudes, and underrepresent the PFT in high latitudes. This bias could contribute an over-sensitivity of the calcifier models to warming-enhanced remineralisation. Replacement of mixed phytoplankton by calcifiers is wholly dependent on shifts in relative competitive advantage, at least some of which is artificial to the model and would change by including more PFTs. Furthermore, while the OMEGA model shows a decline in and eventual cessation of calcification contributions by calcifiers, zooplankton calcification continues. None of the models include globally decreasing net calcification with increasing CO_2 concentration (Riebesell et al., 2000), which would doubtless increase the long-term model sensitivity to warming-enhanced remineralisation, but is also debatable (Lohbeck et al., 2012). Furthermore, using a single dissolution parameterisation for zooplankton and calcifier CaCO₃ ignores the likely significant contribution of aragonite dissolution (Gangstø et al., 2008), which would also increase model sensitivity to warming-enhanced remineralisation and magnify oxygen sensitivity.

Chapter 6

Conclusions

Anthropogenic forcing of the global carbon cycle is affecting and will continue to affect ocean biogeochemistry. This thesis examined parameterisations of the ocean carbon cycle in two climate models, and assessed their simulations of pre-industrial, modern, and hypothetical future climate states. All of the model parameterisations do a reasonable job of simulating observed pre-industrial ocean metrics such as carbon and nutrient distributions and carbon fluxes. Their behaviours under hypothetical future climate forcing, however, depart substantially and are dependent upon model structure.

The simplistic biogeochemistry-ocean model, CSIRO-Mk3L, demonstrated a large future ocean saturation state sensitivity to enhanced organic carbon export and reduced carbonate export. The low-latitude sub-surface and abyssal ocean regions showed particular sensitivity to the combined contribution of the dual feedbacks of varying elemental and rain ratios. As carbonate saturation is a commonly accepted proxy for calcification, such a sensitivity has relevance for predicting changes in ecosystem dynamics in an increasingly acidic marine environment. However, this model did not resolve sedimentary carbonate compensation, which is a significant actor in marine carbonate chemistry over the timescale considered.

The limitations of the CSIRO-Mk3L model (instant sinking and dissolution of CaCO₃, lack of sedimentary carbonate compensation or explicit biology) are not present in the more complex University of Victoria Earth System Climate Model (UVic ESCM), which was modified with the inclusion of a calcifying phytoplankton functional type, a full calcite tracer, carbonate chemistry dependent calcite dissolution rates, and a ballasting scheme. These modifications slightly improved UVic ESCM performance with respect to observed carbon and nutrient fluxes while significantly improving the mechanistic realism of the model. Further addition of a carbon-

ate chemistry dependency on calcifier microbial recycling rates in the UVic ESCM improved calcifier biogeography, but produced mixed results with respect to overall model skill at reproducing various observed ocean metrics. Unfortunately, there is very little in the scientific literature regarding both calcifier-specific microbes' response to acidification, and calcifier sensitivity to microbial degradation under acidification, so this exercise was mostly speculative. One limitation of the UVic ESCM is that unlike the CSIRO-Mk3L, the code structure is not easily amenable to flexible carbon and nutrient ratios. It would have been interesting to implement the same modifications made to CSIRO-Mk3L in the UVic ESCM to more directly compare the effect of sedimentary carbonate compensation, but unfortunately this would have required a major restructuring of the model code.

Greenhouse gas forcing of four variations of the UVic ESCM (1: without calcifiers, 2: with calcifiers, 3: with calcifiers and prognostic CaCO₃, and 4: with calcifiers, prognostic CaCO₃, and chemistry-dependent calcifier microbial recycling) showed a common response of a transition between two dominating biogeochemical feedbacks. The first is a physically driven one that dominated at lower changes in sea surface temperatures (SSTs) that is sensitive to phytoplankton community composition. The second overtakes the first at higher SST changes and is controlled by biology through warming-enhanced remineralisation rates. The deep ocean carbon export and oxygen response was found to be highly sensitive to the inclusion of a prognostic calcite tracer in this second feedback, because ballasting of POC by CaCO₃ increased over the simulations, reducing the amount of remineralisation occurring in the near-surface. Reduced CaCO₃ export by phytoplankton calcifiers in the 4th model configuration had little overall effect on ocean carbonate saturation since the zooplankton calcifier CaCO₃ export increased over the same time period and sedimentary carbonate compensation maintained ocean carbonate chemistry.

These experiments underscore the urgency of adequately constraining ocean biogeochemical models. Potentially large changes in global NPP, carbon uptake, and oxygen are looming in the coming decades that could have major ecological consequences. Calcifiers as a phytoplankton functional type occupy an important carbon cycle role as potentially effective detritus exporters that can mitigate warmingenhanced remineralisation feedbacks. However, their biogeography positions them in the regions affected earliest by warming-enhanced remineralisation, which increases the overall system sensitivity to changes in SSTs. Indications are their populations are due to expand over the coming decades, though any benefits in terms of carbon export will be offset by eventual enhanced microbial activity if strong anthropogenic warming is allowed to occur, and potentially also by weakening of the ballast effect by acidification. Calcifiers in the UVic ESCM simulations also act as gatekeepers for nutrient fluxes to the Southern Ocean, and are able to effectively prevent the extreme increases in NPP and deoxygenation that occur there in the model without calcifiers. These model calcifiers are barely representative of actual calcifiers because they are tuned mainly to one species (E. huxleyi) and pathetically sparse datasets. The gatekeeper role identified here could just as easily be assigned to another non-calcifying phytoplankton type with high nutrient affinities, or might not exist at all since a recent model-data hindcast indicates globally declining NPP. Establishing the likelihood of a Southern Ocean nutrient exchange developing in the real world is of high importance because of the deoxygenation implications under the microbe-dominated high SST feedback. Furthermore, the strength and global sensitivity of the temperature dependency of biological processes urgently needs to be better constrained since its onset represents a potential tipping point for ocean NPP.

Bibliography

- Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Ocean Science: Carbon flux in a changing world, URL http://www.awi.de.
- Anderson, L.: On the hydrogen and oxygen content of marine phytoplankton, Deep-Sea Research Part I-Oceanographic Research Papers, 42, 1675–1680, doi:10.1016/ 0967-0637(95)00072-E, 1995.
- Anderson, T.: Plankton functional type modelling: Running before we can walk?, Journal of Plankton Research, 27, 1073–1081, doi:10.1093/plankt/fbi076, 2005.
- Anderson, T. R., Gentleman, W. C., and Sinha, B.: Influence of grazing formulations on the emergent properties of a complex ecosystem model in a global ocean general circulation model, Progress in Oceanography, 87, 201–213, doi:10.1016/j.pocean. 2010.06.003, 2010.
- Archer, D.: An atlas of the distribution of calcium carbonate in sediments of the deep sea, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 10, 159–174, doi:10.1029/95GB03016, 1996a.
- Archer, D.: A data-driven model of the global calcite lysocline, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 10, 511–526, doi:10.1029/96GB01521, 1996b.
- Armstrong, R., Lee, C., Hedges, J., Honjo, S., and Wakeham, S.: A new, mechanistic model for organic carbon fluxes in the ocean based on the quantitative association of POC with ballast minerals, Deep-Sea Research Part II-Topical Studies in Oceanography, 49, 219–236, doi:10.1029/1998GB900012, 2002.
- Arrigo, K., Robinson, D., Worthen, D., Dunbar, R., DiTullio, G., VanWoert, M., and Lizotte, M.: Phytoplankton community structure and the drawdown of nutrients and CO2 in the Southern Ocean, Science, 283, 365–367, doi:10.1126/science.283. 5400.365, 1999.

- Aumont, O. and Bopp, L.: Globalizing results from ocean in situ iron fertilization studies, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 20, doi:10.1029/2005GB002591, 2006.
- Aumont, O., Orr, J., Monfray, P., Madec, G., and Maier-Reimer, E.: Nutrient trapping in the equatorial Pacific: The ocean circulation solution, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 13, 351–369, doi:10.1029/1998GB900012, 1999.
- Aumont, O., Maier-Reimer, E., Blain, S., and Monfray, P.: An ecosystem model of the global ocean including Fe, Si, P colimitations, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 17, doi:10.1029/2001GB001745, 2003.
- Balch, W., Gordon, H., Bowler, B., Drapeau, D., and Booth, E.: Calcium carbonate measurements in the surface global ocean based on Moderate-Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer data, Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans, 110, doi:10. 1029/2004JC002560, 2005.
- Balch, W. M. and Utgoff, P. E.: Potential interactions among ocean acidification, coccolithophores, and the optical properties of seawater, Oceanography, 22, 146– 159, doi:10.5670/oceanog.2009.104, 2009.
- Balch, W. M., Drapeau, D. T., Bowler, B. C., Lyczskowski, E., Booth, E. S., and Alley, D.: The contribution of coccolithophores to the optical and inorganic carbon budgets during the Southern Ocean Gas Exchange Experiment: New evidence in support of the "Great Calcite Belt" hypothesis, Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans, 116, doi:10.1029/2011JC006941, 2011.
- Battle, M., Bender, M., Sowers, T., Tans, P., Butler, J., Elkins, J., Ellis, J., Conway, T., Zhang, N., Lang, P., and Clarke, A.: Atmospheric gas concentrations over the past century measured in air from firm at the South Pole, Nature, 383, 231–235, doi:10.1038/383231a0, 1996.
- Beaufort, L., Probert, I., de Garidel-Thoron, T., Bendif, E. M., Ruiz-Pino, D., Metzl, N., Goyet, C., Buchet, N., Coupel, P., Grelaud, M., Rost, B., Rickaby, R.
 E. M., and de Vargas, C.: Sensitivity of coccolithophores to carbonate chemistry and ocean acidification, Nature, 476, 80–83, doi:10.1038/nature10295, 2011.
- Bednaršek, N., Možina, J., Vogt, M., O'Brien, C., and Tarling, G. A.: The global distribution of pteropods and their contribution to carbonate and carbon biomass in the modern ocean, Earth System Science Data, 4, 167–186, doi:10.5194/ essd-4-167-2012, URL http://www.earth-syst-sci-data.net/4/167/2012/, 2012.

- Berelson, W. M.: The flux of particulate organic carbon into the ocean interior: A comparison of four U.S. JGOFS regional studies, Oceanography, 4, 59 – 67, doi:10.5670/oceanog.2001.07, 2001.
- Biermann, A. and Engel, A.: Effect of CO2 on the properties and sinking velocity of aggregates of the coccolithophore Emiliania huxleyi, Biogeosciences, 7, 1017–1029, 2010.
- Bopp, L., Monfray, P., Aumont, O., Dufresne, J., Le Treut, H., Madec, G., Terray, L., and Orr, J.: Potential impact of climate change on marine export production, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 15, 81–99, doi:10.1029/1999GB001256, 2001.
- Bopp, L., Le Quéré, C., Heimann, M., Manning, A., and Monfray, P.: Climateinduced oceanic oxygen fluxes: Implications for the contemporary carbon budget, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 16, doi:10.1029/2001GB001445, 2002.
- Bopp, L., Aumont, O., Cadule, P., Alvain, S., and Gehlen, M.: Response of diatoms distribution to global warming and potential implications: A global model study, Geophysical Research Letters, 32, doi:10.1029/2005GL023653, 2005.
- Bopp, L., Resplandy, L., Orr, J. C., Doney, S. C., Dunne, J. P., Gehlen, M., Halloran, P., Heinze, C., Ilyina, T., Séférian, R., Tjiputra, J., and Vichi, M.: Multiple stressors of ocean ecosystems in the 21st century: Projections with CMIP5 models, Biogeosciences, 10, 6225–6245, doi:10.5194/bg-10-6225-2013, 2013.
- Boudreau, B. P., Middelburg, J. J., Hofmann, A. F., and Meysman, F. J. R.: Ongoing transients in carbonate compensation, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 24, doi:10.1029/2009GB003654, 2010.
- Brown, C. and Yoder, J.: Coccolithophorid blooms in the global ocean, Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans, 99, 7467–7482, doi:10.1029/93JC02156, 1994.
- Buitenhuis, E. T., Pangerc, T., Franklin, D. J., Le Quéré, C., and Malin, G.: Growth rates of six coccolithophorid strains as a function of temperature, Limnology and Oceanography, 53, 1181–1185, doi:10.4319/lo.2008.53.3.1181, 2008.
- Buitenhuis, E. T., Vogt, M., Moriarty, R., Bednaršek, N., Doney, S. C., Leblanc, K., Le Quéré, C., Luo, Y.-W., O'Brien, C., O'Brien, T., Peloquin, J., Schiebel, R., and Swan, C.: MAREDAT: Towards a world atlas of MARine Ecosystem DATa, Earth System Science Data, 5, 227–239, doi:10.5194/essd-5-227-2013, 2013a.

- Buitenhuis, E. T., Hashioka, T., and Le Quéré, C.: Combined constraints on global ocean primary production using observations and models, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 27, 847–858, doi:10.1002/gbc.20074, 2013b.
- Caldeira, K. and Wickett, M.: Anthropogenic carbon and ocean pH, Nature, 425, 365, doi:10.1038/425365a, 2003.
- Carr, M.-E., Friedrichs, M. A. M., Schmeltz, M., Aita, M. N., Antoine, D., Arrigo, K. R., Asanuma, I., Aumont, O., Barber, R., Behrenfeld, M., Bidigare, R., Buitenhuis, E. T., Campbell, J., Ciotti, A., Dierssen, H., Dowell, M., Dunne, J., Esaias, W., Gentili, B., Gregg, W., Groom, S., Hoepffner, N., Ishizaka, J., Kameda, T., Le Quéré, C., Lohrenz, S., Marra, J., Melin, F., Moore, K., Morel, A., Reddy, T. E., Ryan, J., Scardi, M., Smyth, T., Turpie, K., Tilstone, G., Waters, K., and Yamanaka, Y.: A comparison of global estimates of marine primary production from ocean color, Deep-Sea Research Part II-Topical Studies in Oceanography, 53, 741–770, doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.01.028, 2006.
- Cermeno, P., Dutkiewicz, S., Harris, R. P., Follows, M., Schofield, O., and Falkowski, P. G.: The role of nutricline depth in regulating the ocean carbon cycle, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 105, 20344–20349, doi:10.1073/pnas.0811302106, 2008.
- Chuck, A., Tyrrell, T., Totterdell, I., and Holligan, P.: The oceanic response to carbon emissions over the next century: Investigation using three ocean carbon cycle models, Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology, 57, 70–86, doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0889.2005.00127.x, 2005.
- Cropp, R. and Norbury, J.: Parameterizing plankton functional type models: Insights from a dynamical systems perspective, Journal of Plankton Research, 31, 939–963, doi:10.1093/plankt/fbp042, 2009.
- Diehl, S., Berger, S., and Wohrl, R.: Flexible nutrient stoichiometry mediates environmental influences, on phytoplankton and its resources, Ecology, 86, 2931–2945, doi:10.1890/04-1512, 2005.
- Domingues, C. M., Church, J. A., White, N. J., Gleckler, P. J., Wijffels, S. E., Barker, P. M., and Dunn, J. R.: Improved estimates of upper-ocean warming and multi-decadal sea-level rise, Nature, 453, 1090–U6, doi:10.1038/nature07080, 2008.

- Doney, S., Lindsay, K., Caldeira, K., Campin, J., Drange, H., Dutay, J., Follows, M., Gao, Y., Gnanadesikan, A., Gruber, N., Ishida, A., Joos, F., Madec, G., Maier-Reimer, E., Marshall, J., Matear, R., Monfray, P., Mouchet, A., Najjar, R., Orr, J., Plattner, G., Sarmiento, J., Schlitzer, R., Slater, R., Totterdell, I., Weirig, M., Yamanaka, Y., and Yool, A.: Evaluating global ocean carbon models: The importance of realistic physics, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 18, doi:10.1029/2003GB002150, 2004.
- Dunne, J. P., Sarmiento, J. L., and Gnanadesikan, A.: A synthesis of global particle export from the surface ocean and cycling through the ocean interior and on the seafloor, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 21, 16, doi:10.1029/2006GB002907, 2007.
- Dutay, J.-C., Bullister, J., Doney, S., Orr, J., Najjar, R., Caldeira, K., Campin, J.-M., Drange, H., Follows, M., Gao, Y., Gruber, N., Hecht, M., Ishida, A., Joos, F., Lindsay, K., Madec, G., Maier-Reimer, E., Marshall, J., Matear, R., Monfray, P., Mouchet, A., Plattner, J., Sarmiento, J., Schlitzer, R., Slater, R., Totterdell, I., Weirig, M.-F., Yamanaka, Y., and Yool, A.: Evaluation of ocean model ventilation with CFC-11: Comparison of 13 global ocean models, Ocean Modelling, 4, 89–120, doi:10.1016/S1463-5003(01)00013-0, 2002.
- Eby, M., Zickfeld, K., Montenegro, A., Archer, D., Meissner, K. J., and Weaver, A. J.: Lifetime of anthropogenic climate change: Millennial time scales of potential CO2 and surface temperature perturbations, Journal of Climate, 22, 2501–2511, doi:10.1175/2008JCLI2554.1, 2009.
- Eby, M., Weaver, A. J., Alexander, K., Zickfeld, K., Abe-Ouchi, A., Cimatoribus, A. A., Crespin, E., Drijfhout, S. S., Edwards, N. R., Eliseev, A. V., Feulner, G., Fichefet, T., Forest, C. E., Goosse, H., Holden, P. B., Joos, F., Kawamiya, M., Kicklighter, D., Kienert, H., Matsumoto, K., Mokhov, I. I., Monier, E., Olsen, S. M., Pedersen, J. O. P., Perrette, M., Philippon-Berthier, G., Ridgwell, A., Schlosser, A., von Deimling, T. S., Shaffer, G., Smith, R. S., Spahni, R., Sokolov, A. P., Steinacher, M., Tachiiri, K., Tokos, K., Yoshimori, M., Zeng, N., and Zhao, F.: Historical and idealized climate model experiments: An intercomparison of Earth system models of intermediate complexity, Climate of the Past, 9, 1111–1140, doi:10.5194/cp-9-1111-2013, 2013.
- Eppley, R.: Temperature and phytoplankton growth in the sea, Fishery Bulletin, 70, 1063–1085, 1972.

- Etheridge, D., Steele, L., Langenfelds, R., Francey, R., Barnola, J., and Morgan, V.: Natural and anthropogenic changes in atmospheric CO2 over the last 1000 years from air in Antarctic ice and firn, Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres, 101, 4115–4128, doi:10.1029/95JD03410, 1996.
- Etheridge, D., Steele, L., Francey, R., and Langenfelds, R.: Atmospheric methane between 1000 AD and present: Evidence of anthropogenic emissions and climatic variability, Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres, 103, 15 979–15 993, doi: 10.1029/98JD00923, 1998.
- Fabry, V.: Aragonite production by pteropod mollusks in the sub-Arctic Pacific, Deep-sea Research Part A-Oceanographic Research Papers, 36, 1735–1751, doi: 10.1016/0198-0149(89)90069-1, 1989.
- Feely, R., Sabine, C., Lee, K., Berelson, W., Kleypas, J., Fabry, V., and Millero, F.: Impact of anthropogenic CO2 on the CaCO3 system in the oceans, Science, 305, 362–366, doi:10.1126/science.1097329, 2004.
- Ferretti, D., Miller, J., White, J., Etheridge, D., Lassey, K., Lowe, D., Meure, C., Dreier, M., Trudinger, C., van Ommen, T., and Langenfelds, R.: Unexpected changes to the global methane budget over the past 2000 years, Science, 309, 1714–1717, doi:10.1126/science.1115193, 2005.
- Flückiger, J., Dllenbach, A., Blunier, T., Stauffer, B., Stocker, T. F., Raynaud, D., and Barnola, J.-M.: Variations in atmospheric N2O concentration during abrupt climatic changes, Science, 285, 227–230, doi:10.1126/science.285.5425.227, 1999.
- Flückiger, J., Blunier, T., Stauffer, B., Chappellaz, J., Spahni, R., Kawamura, K., Schwander, J., Stocker, T. F., and Dahl-Jensen, D.: N2O and CH4 variations during the last glacial epoch: Insight into global processes, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 18, doi:10.1029/2003GB002122, 2004.
- Flynn, K. J.: Ecological modelling in a sea of variable stoichiometry: Dysfunctionality and the legacy of Redfield and Monod, Progress in Oceanography, doi: 10.1016/j.pocean.2009.09.006, 2010.
- Friedrichs, M. A. M., Dusenberry, J. A., Anderson, L. A., Armstrong, R. A., Chai, F., Christian, J. R., Doney, S. C., Dunne, J., Fujii, M., Hood, R., McGillicuddy, Jr., D. J., Moore, J. K., Schartau, M., Spitz, Y. H., and Wiggert, J. D.: Assessment of skill and portability in regional marine biogeochemical models: Role of multiple

planktonic groups, Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans, 112, doi:10.1029/2006JC003852, 2007.

- Fujii, M., Ikeda, M., and Yamanaka, Y.: Roles of biogeochemical processes in the oceanic carbon cycle described with a simple coupled physical-biogeochemical model, Journal of Oceanography, 61, 803–815, doi:10.1007/s10872-006-0001-6, 2005.
- Fyke, J. G. and Weaver, A. J.: The effect of potential future climate change on the marine methane hydrate stability zone, Journal of Climate, 19, 5903–5917, doi:10.1175/JCLI3894.1, 2006.
- Galbraith, E. D., Gnanadesikan, A., Dunne, J. P., and Hiscock, M. R.: Regional impacts of iron-light colimitation in a global biogeochemical model, Biogeosciences, 7, 1043–1064, 2010.
- Gangstø, R., Gehlen, M., Schneider, B., Bopp, L., Aumont, O., and Joos, F.: Modeling the marine aragonite cycle: Changes under rising carbon dioxide and its role in shallow water CaCO3 dissolution, Biogeosciences, 5, 1057–1072, 2008.
- Gangstø, R., Joos, F., and Gehlen, M.: Sensitivity of pelagic calcification to ocean acidification, Biogeosciences, 8, 433–458, doi:10.5194/bg-8-433-2011, 2011.
- Garcia, H. E., Locarnini, R., Boyer, T., Antonov, J., Zweng, M., Baranova, O., and Johnson, D.: World Ocean Atlas 2009: Nutrients (phosphate, nitrate, silicate), vol. 4, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, 2009.
- Gehlen, M., Gangstø, R., Schneider, B., Bopp, L., Aumont, O., and Ethe, C.: The fate of pelagic CaCO3 production in a high CO2 ocean: A model study, Biogeosciences, 4, 505–519, 2007.
- Gordon, H., Rotstayn, L., McGregor, J., Dix, M., Kowalczyk, E., O'Farrell, S., Waterman, L., Hirst, A., Wilson, S., Collier, M., Watterson, I., and Elliott, T.: The CSIRO Mk3 Climate System Model, Technical Paper 60, CSIRO Atmospheric Research, 2002.
- Graßl, H., Kokott, J., Kulessa, M., Luther, J., Nuscheler, F., Sauerborn, R., Schellnhuber, H.-J., Schubert, R., and Schulze, E.-D.: Climate Protection Strategies for the 21st Century: Kyoto and Beyond, German Advisory Council on Global Change, http://www.wbgu.de/wbgu_sn2003_engl.html, 2003.

- Gregg, W., Ginoux, P., Schopf, P., and Casey, N.: Phytoplankton and iron: Validation of a global three-dimensional ocean biogeochemical model, Deep-Sea Research Part II-Topical Studies in Oceanography, 50, 3143–3169, doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2003. 07.013, 2003.
- Gregg, W. W. and Casey, N. W.: Modeling coccolithophores in the global oceans, Deep-Sea Research Part II-Topical Studies in Oceanography, 54, 447–477, doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.12.007, 2007.
- Gruber, N.: Warming up, turning sour, losing breath: Ocean biogeochemistry under global change, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A-Mathematical Physical and Engineering Sciences, 369, 1980–1996, doi:10.1098/rsta.2011.0003, 2011.
- Hashioka, T., Vogt, M., Yamanaka, Y., Le Quéré, C., Buitenhuis, E. T., Aita, M. N., Alvain, S., Bopp, L., Hirata, T., Lima, I., Sailley, S., and Doney, S. C.: Phytoplankton competition during the spring bloom in four plankton functional type models, Biogeosciences, 10, 6833–6850, doi:10.5194/bg-10-6833-2013, 2013.
- Heinze, C.: Simulating oceanic CaCO3 export production in the greenhouse, Geophysical Research Letters, 31, doi:10.1029/2004GL020613, 2004.
- Heinze, C., Maier-Reimer, E., and Winn, K.: Glacial pCO2 Reduction by the World Ocean: Experiments With the Hamburg Carbon Cycle Model, Paleoceanography, 6, 395–430, doi:10.1029/91PA00489, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/91PA00489, 1991.
- Hirst, A., Gordon, H., and OFarrell, S.: Global warming in a coupled climate model including oceanic eddy-induced advection, Geophysical Research Letters, 23, 3361–3364, doi:10.1029/96GL03234, 1996.
- Hofmann, M. and Schellnhuber, H.-J.: Oceanic acidification affects marine carbon pump and triggers extended marine oxygen holes, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106, 3017–3022, doi:10. 1073/pnas.0813384106, 2009.
- Honjo, S., Manganini, S. J., Krishfield, R. A., and Francois, R.: Particulate organic carbon fluxes to the ocean interior and factors controlling the biological pump: A synthesis of global sediment trap programs since 1983, Progress in Oceanography, 76, 217–285, doi:10.1016/j.pocean.2007.11.003, 2008.

- Hood, R. R., Laws, E. A., Armstrong, R. A., Bates, N. R., Brown, C. W., Carlson, C. A., Chai, F., Doney, S. C., Falkowski, P. G., Feely, R. A., Friedrichs, M. A. M., Landry, M. R., Moore, J. K., Nelson, D. M., Richardson, T. L., Salihoglu, B., Schartau, M., Toole, D. A., and Wiggert, J. D.: Pelagic functional group modeling: Progress, challenges and prospects, Deep-Sea Research Part II-Topical Studies in Oceanography, 53, 459–512, doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.01.025, 2006.
- Iglesias-Rodríguez, M., Brown, C., Doney, S., Kleypas, J., Kolber, D., Kolber, Z., Hayes, P., and Falkowski, P.: Representing key phytoplankton functional groups in ocean carbon cycle models: Coccolithophorids, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 16, doi:10.1029/2001GB001454, 2002a.
- Iglesias-Rodríguez, M. D., Armstrong, R., Feely, R., Hood, R., Kleypas, J., Milliman, J. D., Sabine, C., and Sarmiento, J.: Progress made in study of ocean's calcium carbonate budget, EOS, Transactions American Geophysical Union, 83, 365–375, doi:10.1029/2002EO000267, 2002b.
- Iglesias-Rodríguez, M. D., Halloran, P. R., Rickaby, R. E. M., Hall, I. R., Colmenero-Hidalgo, E., Gittins, J. R., Green, D. R. H., Tyrrell, T., Gibbs, S. J., von Dassow, P., Rehm, E., Armbrust, E. V., and Boessenkool, K. P.: Phytoplankton calcification in a high-CO2 world, Science, 320, 336–340, doi:10.1126/science.1154122, 2008.
- Jin, X., Gruber, N., Dunne, J. P., Sarmiento, J. L., and Armstrong, R. A.: Diagnosing the contribution of phytoplankton functional groups to the production and export of particulate organic carbon, CaCO3, and opal from global nutrient and alkalinity distributions, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 20, doi: 10.1029/2005GB002532, 2006.
- Johnson, G. C., Purkey, S. G., and Toole, J. M.: Reduced Antarctic meridional overturning circulation reaches the North Atlantic Ocean, Geophysical Research Letters, 35, doi:10.1029/2008GL035619, 2008.
- Joint, I., Pomroy, A., Savidge, G., and Boyd, P.: Size-fractionated primary productivity in the northeast Atlantic in May–July 1989, Deep-Sea Research Part II-Topical Studies in Oceanography, 40, 423–440, doi:10.1016/0967-0645(93)90025-I, 1993.
- Joos, F., Plattner, G., Stocker, T., Marchal, O., and Schmittner, A.: Global warming and marine carbon cycle feedbacks and future atmospheric CO2, Science, 284, 464–467, doi:10.1126/science.284.5413.464, 1999.

- Keeling, R. and Garcia, H.: The change in oceanic O-2 inventory associated with recent global warming, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99, 7848–7853, doi:10.1073/pnas.122154899, 2002.
- Keeling, R. F., Koertzinger, A., and Gruber, N.: Ocean deoxygenation in a warming world, Annual Review of Marine Science, 2, 199–229, doi:10.1146/annurev.marine. 010908.163855, 2010.
- Keller, D. P., Oschlies, A., and Eby, M.: A new marine ecosystem model for the University of Victoria Earth System Climate Model, Geoscientific Model Development, 5, 1195–1220, doi:10.5194/gmd-5-1195-2012, 2012.
- Key, R., Kozyr, A., Sabine, C., Lee, K., Wanninkhof, R., Bullister, J., Feely, R., Millero, F., and Mordy, C.: A global ocean carbon climatology: Results from GLODAP, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 18, doi:10.1029/2004GB002247, 2004.
- Klaas, C. and Archer, D.: Association of sinking organic matter with various types of mineral ballast in the deep sea: Implications for the rain ratio, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 16, doi:10.1029/2001GB001765, 2002.
- Kortzinger, A., Koeve, W., Kahler, P., and Mintrop, L.: C : N ratios in the mixed layer during the productive season in the northeast Atlantic Ocean, Deep-Sea Research Part I-Oceanographic Research Papers, 48, 661–688, doi: 10.1016/S0967-0637(00)00051-0, 2001.
- Kouketsu, S., Doi, T., Kawano, T., Masuda, S., Sugiura, N., Sasaki, Y., Toyoda, T., Igarashi, H., Kawai, Y., Katsumata, K., Uchida, H., Fukasawa, M., and Awaji, T.: Deep ocean heat content changes estimated from observation and reanalysis product and their influence on sea level change, Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans, 116, doi:10.1029/2010JC006464, 2011.
- Kriest, I. and Oschlies, A.: Numerical effects on organic-matter sedimentation and remineralization in biogeochemical ocean models, Ocean Modelling, 39, 275–283, doi:10.1016/j.ocemod.2011.05.001, 2011.
- Kriest, I., Khatiwala, S., and Oschlies, A.: Towards an assessment of simple global marine biogeochemical models of different complexity, Progress in Oceanography, 86, 337–360, doi:10.1016/j.pocean.2010.05.002, 2010.
- Kvale, K., Meissner, K., d'Orgeville, M., Matear, R., McNeil, B., and England, M.: The combined impact of CO2-dependent parameterizations of Redfield and rain

ratios on ocean carbonate saturation, Biogeosciences Discussions, 8, 6265–6280, 2011.

- Kvale, K., Meissner, K., Keller, D., Schmittner, S., and Eby, M.: Explicit planktic calcifiers in the University of Victoria Earth System Climate Model version 2.9, Atmosphere-Oceans, 2014.
- Lam, P. J., Doney, S. C., and Bishop, J. K. B.: The dynamic ocean biological pump: Insights from a global compilation of particulate organic carbon, CaCO3, and opal concentration profiles from the mesopelagic, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 25, doi:10.1029/2010GB003868, 2011.
- Laufkötter, C., Vogt, M., and Gruber, N.: Long-term trends in ocean plankton production and particle export between 1960–2006, Biogeosciences, 10, 7373–7393, doi:10.5194/bg-10-7373-2013, 2013.
- Le Quéré, C., Harrison, S., Prentice, I., Buitenhuis, E., Aumont, O., Bopp, L., Claustre, H., Da Cunha, L., Geider, R., Giraud, X., Klaas, C., Kohfeld, K., Legendre, L., Manizza, M., Platt, T., Rivkin, R., Sathyendranath, S., Uitz, J., Watson, A., and Wolf-Gladrow, D.: Ecosystem dynamics based on plankton functional types for global ocean biogeochemistry models, Global Change Biology, 11, 2016–2040, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2468.2005.01004.x, 2005.
- Le Quéré, C., Raupach, M. R., Canadell, J. G., Marland, G., Bopp, L., Ciais, P., Conway, T. J., Doney, S. C., Feely, R. A., Foster, P., Friedlingstein, P., Gurney, K., Houghton, R. A., House, J. I., Huntingford, C., Levy, P. E., Lomas, M. R., Majkut, J., Metzl, N., Ometto, J. P., Peters, G. P., Prentice, I. C., Randerson, J. T., Running, S. W., Sarmiento, J. L., Schuster, U., Sitch, S., Takahashi, T., Viovy, N., van der Werf, G. R., and Woodward, F. I.: Trends in the sources and sinks of carbon dioxide, Nature Geoscience, 2, 831–836, doi:10.1038/ngeo689, 2009.
- Lee, K.: Global net community production estimated from the annual cycle of surface water total dissolved inorganic carbon, Limnology and Oceanography, 46, 1287–1297, 2001.
- Litchman, E., Klausmeier, C. A., Miller, J. R., Schofield, O. M., and Falkowski, P. G.: Multi-nutrient, multi-group model of present and future oceanic phytoplankton communities, Biogeosciences, 3, 585–606, 2006.

- Lohbeck, K. T., Riebesell, U., and Reusch, T. B. H.: Adaptive evolution of a key phytoplankton species to ocean acidification, Nature Geoscience, 5, 346–351, doi: 10.1038/ngeo1441, 2012.
- Machida, T., Nakazawa, T., Fujii, Y., Aoki, S., and Watanabe, O.: Increase in the Atmospheric Nitrous-Oxide Concentration During the Last 250 Years, Geophysical Research Letters, 22, 2921–2924, doi:10.1029/95GL02822, 1995.
- Maier-Reimer, E., Mikolajewicz, U., and Winguth, A.: Future ocean uptake of CO2: Interaction between ocean circulation and biology, Climate Dynamics, 12, 711– 721, doi:10.1007/s003820050138, 1996.
- Manizza, M., Buitenhuis, E. T., and Le Quéré, C.: Sensitivity of global ocean biogeochemical dynamics to ecosystem structure in a future climate, Geophysical Research Letters, 37, doi:10.1029/2010GL043360, 2010.
- Marinov, I., Doney, S. C., and Lima, I. D.: Response of ocean phytoplankton community structure to climate change over the 21st century: Partitioning the effects of nutrients, temperature and light, Biogeosciences, 7, 3941–3959, doi: 10.5194/bg-7-3941-2010, 2010.
- Marinov, I., Doney, S. C., Lima, I. D., Lindsay, K., Moore, J. K., and Mahowald, N.: North-south asymmetry in the modeled phytoplankton community response to climate change over the 21st century, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 27, 1274– 1290, doi:10.1002/2013GB004599, 2013.
- Matear, R. and Hirst, A.: Long-term changes in dissolved oxygen concentrations in the ocean caused by protracted global warming, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 17, doi:10.1029/2002GB001997, 2003.
- Matthews, H., Weaver, A., Eby, M., and Meissner, K.: Radiative forcing of climate by historical land cover change, Geophysical Research Letters, 30, doi:10.1029/ 2002GL016098, 2003.
- Matthews, H., Weaver, A., and Meissner, K.: Terrestrial carbon cycle dynamics under recent and future climate change, Journal of Climate, 18, 1609–1628, doi: 10.1175/JCLI3359.1, 2005.
- Meissner, K., Weaver, A., Matthews, H., and Cox, P.: The role of land surface dynamics in glacial inception: A study with the UVic Earth System Model, Climate Dynamics, 21, 515–537, doi:10.1007/s00382-003-0352-2, 2003.

- Meissner, K. J.: Younger Dryas: A data to model comparison to constrain the strength of the overturning circulation, Geophysical Research Letters, 34, doi: 10.1029/2007GL031304, 2007.
- Meissner, K. J., Eby, M., Weaver, A. J., and Saenko, O. A.: CO2 threshold for millennial-scale oscillations in the climate system: Implications for global warming scenarios, Climate Dynamics, 30, 161–174, doi:10.1007/s00382-007-0279-0, 2008.
- Meissner, K. J., McNeil, B. I., Eby, M., and Wiebe, E. C.: The importance of the terrestrial weathering feedback for multimillennial coral reef habitat recovery, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 26, doi:10.1029/2011GB004098, 2012.
- Merico, A., Tyrrell, T., Lessard, E., Oguz, T., Stabeno, P., Zeeman, S., and Whitledge, T.: Modelling phytoplankton succession on the Bering Sea shelf: Role of climate influences and trophic interactions in generating Emiliania huxleyi blooms 1997-2000, Deep-Sea Research Part I-Oceanographic Research Papers, 51, 1803–1826, doi:10.1016/j.dsr.2004.07.003, 2004.
- Merico, A., Tyrrell, T., and Cokacar, T.: Is there any relationship between phytoplankton seasonal dynamics and the carbonate system?, Journal of Marine Systems, 59, 120–142, doi:10.1016/j.jmarsys.2005.11.004, 2006.
- Meure, M. C., Etheridge, D., Trudinger, C., Steele, P., Langenfelds, R., van Ommen, T., Smith, A., and Elkins, J.: Law Dome CO2, CH4 and N2O ice core records extended to 2000 years BP, Geophysical Research Letters, 33, doi: 10.1029/2006GL026152, 2006.
- Millero, F., Graham, T., Huang, F., Bustos-Serrano, H., and Pierrot, D.: Dissociation constants of carbonic acid in seawater as a function of salinity and temperature, Marine Chemistry, 100, 80–94, doi:10.1016/j.marchem.2005.12.001, 2006.
- Milliman, J.: Production and accumulation of calcium-carbonate in the ocean -Budget of a nonsteady state, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 7, 927–957, doi:10. 1029/93GB02524, 1993.
- Milliman, J., Troy, P., Balch, W., Adams, A., Li, Y., and Mackenzie, F.: Biologically mediated dissolution of calcium carbonate above the chemical lysocline?, Deep-Sea Research Part I-Oceanographic Research Papers, 46, 1653–1669, doi:10.1016/ S0967-0637(99)00034-5, 1999.

- Montegut, C., Madec, G., Fischer, A., Lazar, A., and Iudicone, D.: Mixed layer depth over the global ocean: An examination of profile data and a profilebased climatology, Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans, 109, doi:{10.1029/ 2004JC002378}, 2004.
- Moore, J., Doney, S., Kleypas, J., Glover, D., and Fung, I.: An intermediate complexity marine ecosystem model for the global domain, Deep-Sea Research Part II-Topical Studies in Oceanography, 49, 403–462, doi:10.1016/S0967-0645(01) 00108-4, 2002.
- Moore, J. K., Lindsay, K., Doney, S. C., Long, M. C., and Misumi, K.: Marine Ecosystem Dynamics and Biogeochemical Cycling in the Community Earth System Model [CESM1(BGC)]: Comparison of the 1990s with the 2090s under the RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 Scenarios, Journal of Climate, 26, 9291–9312, doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-12-00566.1, 2013a.
- Moore, J. K., Lindsay, K., Doney, S. C., Long, M. C., and Misumi, K.: Marine Ecosystem Dynamics and Biogeochemical Cycling in the Community Earth System Model [CESM1(BGC)]: Comparison of the 1990s with the 2090s under the RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 Scenarios, Journal of Climate, 26, 9291–9312, doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-12-00566.1, 2013b.
- Mysak, L., Wright, K., Sedlacek, J., and Eby, M.: Simulation of sea ice and ocean variability in the Arctic during 1955-2002 with an intermediate complexity model, Atmosphere-Ocean, 43, 101–118, doi:10.3137/ao.430106, 2005.
- Najjar, R. G., Jin, X., Louanchi, F., Aumont, O., Caldeira, K., Doney, S. C., Dutay, J.-C., Follows, M., Gruber, N., Joos, F., Lindsay, K., Maier-Reimer, E., Matear, R. J., Matsumoto, K., Monfray, P., Mouchet, A., Orr, J. C., Plattner, G.-K., Sarmiento, J. L., Schlitzer, R., Slater, R. D., Weirig, M.-F., Yamanaka, Y., and Yool, A.: Impact of circulation on export production, dissolved organic matter, and dissolved oxygen in the ocean: Results from Phase II of the Ocean Carboncycle Model Intercomparison Project (OCMIP-2), Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 21, doi:10.1029/2006GB002857, 2007.
- NASA: MODIS PIC Data product, Tech. rep., Goddard Space Flight Center, Distributed Active Archive Center, Greenbelt, MD, USA, URL http://oceancolor.gsfc.nasa.gov, 2013.
- Nof, D., Van Gorder, S., and de Boer, A.: Does the Atlantic meridional overturning cell really have more than one stable steady state?, Deep-Sea Research Part

I-Oceanographic Research Papers, 54, 2005–2021, doi:10.1016/j.dsr.2007.08.006, 2007.

- O'Brien, C. J., Peloquin, J. A., Vogt, M., Heinle, M., Gruber, N., Ajani, P., Andruleit, H., Arístegui, J., Beaufort, L., Estrada, M., Karentz, D., Kopczyńska, E., Lee, R., Poulton, A. J., Pritchard, T., and Widdicombe, C.: Global marine plankton functional type biomass distributions: Coccolithophores, Earth System Science Data, 5, 259–276, doi:10.5194/essd-5-259-2013, 2013.
- Omta, A. W., K van Voorn, G. A., M Rickaby, R. E., and Follows, M. J.: On the potential role of marine calcifiers in glacial-interglacial dynamics, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 27, 692–704, doi:10.1002/gbc.20060, 2013.
- Oschlies, A., Schulz, K. G., Riebesell, U., and Schmittner, A.: Simulated 21st century's increase in oceanic suboxia by CO2-enhanced biotic carbon export, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 22, doi:10.1029/2007GB003147, 2008.
- Paasche, E.: A review of the coccolithophorid Emiliania huxleyi (Prymnesiophyceae), with particular reference to growth, coccolith formation, and calcification-photosynthesis interactions, Phycologia, 40, 503–529, 2001.
- Palmer, J. and Totterdell, I.: Production and export in a global ocean ecosystem model, Deep-Sea Research Part I-Oceanographic Research Papers, 48, 1169–1198, doi:10.1016/S0967-0637(00)00080-7, 2001.
- Park, K.: Oceanic CO₂ system: an evaluation of ten methods of investigation, Limnology and Oceanography, 14, 179–186, 1969.
- Phipps, S.: The CSIRO Mk3L climate system model v1.2, Technical report, Antarctic Climate and Ecosystems Cooperative Research Centre, 2010.
- Pinsonneault, A. J., Matthews, H. D., Galbraith, E. D., and Schmittner, A.: Calcium carbonate production response to future ocean warming and acidification, Biogeosciences, 9, 2351–2364, doi:10.5194/bg-9-2351-2012, 2012.
- Popova, E., Coward, A., Nurser, G., de Cuevas, B., and Anderson, T.: Mechanisms controlling primary and new production in a global ecosystem model- Part I: Validation of the biological simulation, Ocean Science, 2, 2006.
- Raven, J. A. and Crawfurd, K.: Environmental controls on coccolithophore calcification, Marine Ecology Progress Series, 470, 137–166, doi:10.3354/meps09993, 2012.

- Riahi, K., Gruebler, A., and Nakicenovic, N.: Scenarios of long-term socio-economic and environmental development under climate stabilization, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 74, 887–935, doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2006.05.026, 2007.
- Ridgwell, A., Hargreaves, J. C., Edwards, N. R., Annan, J. D., Lenton, T. M., Marsh, R., Yool, A., and Watson, A.: Marine geochemical data assimilation in an efficient Earth System Model of global biogeochemical cycling, Biogeosciences, 4, 87–104, 2007a.
- Ridgwell, A., Zondervan, I., Hargreaves, J. C., Bijma, J., and Lenton, T. M.: Assessing the potential long-term increase of oceanic fossil fuel CO2 uptake due to CO2-calcification feedback, Biogeosciences, 4, 481–492, 2007b.
- Ridgwell, A., Schmidt, D. N., Turley, C., Brownlee, C., Maldonado, M. T., Tortell, P., and Young, J. R.: From laboratory manipulations to Earth system models: scaling calcification impacts of ocean acidification, Biogeosciences, 6, 2611–2623, 2009.
- Riebesell, U., Zondervan, I., Rost, B., Tortell, P., Zeebe, R., and Morel, F.: Reduced calcification of marine plankton in response to increased atmospheric CO2, Nature, 407, 364–367, doi:10.1038/35030078, 2000.
- Riebesell, U., Schulz, K. G., Bellerby, R. G. J., Botros, M.and Fritsche, P., Meyerhoefer, M., Neill, C., Nondal, G., Oschlies, A., Wohlers, J., and Zoellner, E.: Enhanced biological carbon consumption in a high CO2 ocean, Nature, 450, 545– U10, doi:10.1038/nature06267, 2007.
- Sailley, S. F., Vogt, M., Doney, S. C., Aita, M. N., Bopp, L., Buitenhuis, E. T., Hashioka, T., Lima, I., Le Quéré, C., and Yamanaka, Y.: Comparing food web structures and dynamics across a suite of global marine ecosystem models, Ecological Modelling, 261, 43–57, doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.04.006, 2013.
- Sarmiento, J. and Gruber, N.: Ocean Biogeochemical Dynamics, Princeton University Press, Princeton and Oxford, 2006.
- Sarmiento, J., LeQuéré, C., and Pacala, S.: Limiting future atmospheric carbondioxide, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 9, 121–137, doi:10.1029/94GB01779, 1995.
- Sarmiento, J., Hughes, T., Stouffer, R., and Manabe, S.: Simulated response of the ocean carbon cycle to anthropogenic climate warming, Nature, 393, 245–249, doi:10.1038/30455, 1998.

- Sarmiento, J., Dunne, J., Gnanadesikan, A., Key, R., Matsumoto, K., and Slater, R.: A new estimate of the CaCO(3) to organic carbon export ratio, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 16, doi:10.1029/2002GB001919, 2002.
- Schiebel, R.: Planktic foraminiferal sedimentation and the marine calcite budget, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 16, doi:10.1029/2001GB001459, 2002.
- Schiebel, R. and Movellan, A.: First-order estimate of the planktic foraminifer biomass in the modern ocean, Earth System Science Data, 4, 75–89, 2012.
- Schmittner, A., Oschlies, A., Giraud, X., Eby, M., and Simmons, H.: A global model of the marine ecosystem for long-term simulations: Sensitivity to ocean mixing, buoyancy forcing, particle sinking, and dissolved organic matter cycling, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 19, doi:10.1029/2004GB002283, 2005.
- Schmittner, A., Oschlies, A., Matthews, H. D., and Galbraith, E. D.: Future changes in climate, ocean circulation, ecosystems, and biogeochemical cycling simulated for a business-as-usual CO2 emission scenario until year 4000 AD, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 22, doi:10.1029/2007GB002953, 2008.
- Schneider, B., Schlitzer, R., Fischer, G., and Nothig, E.: Depth-dependent elemental compositions of particulate organic matter (POM) in the ocean, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 17, doi:10.1029/2002GB001871, 2003.
- Schneider, B., Engel, A., and Schlitzer, R.: Effects of depth- and CO2-dependent C : N ratios of particulate organic matter (POM) on the marine carbon cycle, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 18, doi:10.1029/2003GB002184, 2004.
- Scott, V., Kettle, H., and Merchant, C. J.: Sensitivity analysis of an ocean carbon cycle model in the North Atlantic: An investigation of parameters affecting the air-sea CO(2) flux, primary production and export of detritus, Ocean Science, 7, 405–419, doi:10.5194/os-7-405-2011, 2011.
- Sedlacek, J. and Mysak, L. A.: Sensitivity of sea ice to wind-stress and radiative forcing since 1500: A model study of the Little Ice Age and beyond, Climate Dynamics, 32, 817–831, doi:10.1007/s00382-008-0406-6, 2009.
- Segschneider, J. and Bendtsen, J.: Temperature-dependent remineralization in a warming ocean increases surface pCO2 through changes in marine ecosystem composition, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 27, 1214–1225, doi:10.1002/ 2013GB004684, 2013.

- Shaojun, Z. and Mucci, A.: Calcite precipitation in seawater using a constant addition technique: A new overall reaction kinetic expression, Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 57, 1409 – 1417, doi:10.1016/0016-7037(93)90002-E, 1993.
- Sinha, B., Buitenhuis, E. T., Le Quéré, C., and Anderson, T. R.: Comparison of the emergent behavior of a complex ecosystem model in two ocean general circulation models, Progress in Oceanography, 84, 204–224, doi:10.1016/j.pocean.2009.10.003, 2010.
- Six, K. and Maier-Reimer, E.: Effects of plankton dynamics on seasonal carbon fluxes in an ocean general circulation model, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 10, 559–583, doi:10.1029/96GB02561, 1996.
- Spence, J. P. and Weaver, A. J.: The impact of tropical Atlantic freshwater fluxes on the North Atlantic meridional overturning circulation, Journal of Climate, 19, 4592–4604, doi:10.1175/JCLI3873.1, 2006.
- Sperling, M., Piontek, J., Gerdts, G., Wichels, A., Schunck, H., Roy, A. S., La Roche, J., Gilbert, J., Nissimov, J. I., Bittner, L., Romac, S., Riebesell, U., and Engel, A.: Effect of elevated CO₂ on the dynamics of particle-attached and free-living bacterioplankton communities in an Arctic fjord, Biogeosciences, 10, 181–191, doi:10.5194/bg-10-181-2013, 2013.
- Steinacher, M., Joos, F., Froelicher, T. L., Bopp, L., Cadule, P., Cocco, V., Doney, S. C., Gehlen, M., Lindsay, K., Moore, J. K., Schneider, B., and Segschneider, J.: Projected 21st century decrease in marine productivity: A multi-model analysis, Biogeosciences, 7, 979–1005, 2010.
- Stock, C. and Dunne, J.: Controls on the ratio of mesozooplankton production to primary production in marine ecosystems, Deep-Sea Research Part I-Oceanographic Research Papers, 57, 95–112, doi:10.1016/j.dsr.2009.10.006, 2010.
- Stramma, L., Johnson, G. C., Sprintall, J., and Mohrholz, V.: Expanding oxygenminimum zones in the tropical oceans, Science, 320, 655–658, doi:10.1126/science. 1153847, 2008.
- Tagliabue, A., Bopp, L., and Gehlen, M.: The response of marine carbon and nutrient cycles to ocean acidification: Large uncertainties related to phytoplankton physiological assumptions, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 25, doi:10.1029/ 2010GB003929, 2011.

- Taucher, J. and Oschlies, A.: Can we predict the direction of marine primary production change under global warming?, Geophysical Research Letters, 38, doi: 10.1029/2010GL045934, 2011.
- Tyrrell, T. and Merico, A.: Emiliania huxleyi: Bloom observations and the conditions that induce them, in: Coccolithophores: From Molecular Processes to Global Impact, edited by Thierstein, H. and Young, J., pp. 75–97, Springer-Verlag Berlin, Heidelberger Platz 3, D-14197 Berlin, Germany, conference on Coccolithophores
 From Molecular Processes to Global Impact, Ascona, Switzerland, February 10-15, 2002, 2004.
- Tyrrell, T. and Taylor, A.: A modelling study of Emiliania huxleyi in the NE Atlantic, Journal of Marine Systems, 9, 83–112, doi:10.1016/0924-7963(96)00019-X, 1996.
- U.S. Joint Global Ocean Flux Study: URL http://usjgofs.whoi.edu/mzweb/.
- Veron, J. E. N.: Mass extinctions and ocean acidification: Biological constraints on geological dilemmas, Coral Reefs, 27, 459–472, doi:10.1007/s00338-008-0381-8, 2008.
- Vogt, M., Hashioka, T., Payne, M. R., Buitenhuis, E. T., Quéré, C. L., Alvain, S., Aita, M. N., Bopp, L., Doney, S. C., Hirata, T., Lima, I., Sailley, S., and Yamanaka, Y.: The distribution, dominance patterns and ecological niches of plankton functional types in Dynamic Green Ocean Models and satellite estimates, Biogeosciences Discussions, 10, 17193–17247, doi:10.5194/bgd-10-17193-2013, 2013.
- Ward, B. A., Friedrichs, M. A. M., Anderson, T. R., and Oschlies, A.: Parameter optimisation techniques and the problem of underdetermination in marine biogeochemical models, Journal of Marine Systems, 81, 34–43, doi:10.1016/j.jmarsys. 2009.12.005, symposium on Advances in Marine Ecosystem Modelling Research, Plymouth, England, Jun 23-26, 2008, 2010.
- Weaver, A., Eby, M., Wiebe, E., Bitz, C., Duffy, P., Ewen, T., Fanning, A., Holland, M., MacFadyen, A., Matthews, H., Meissner, K., Saenko, O., Schmittner, A., Wang, H., and Yoshimori, M.: The UVic Earth System Climate Model: Model description, climatology, and applications to past, present and future climates, Atmosphere-Ocean, 39, 361–428, doi:10.1080/07055900.2001.9649686, 2001.
- Weaver, A. J., Eby, M., Kienast, M., and Saenko, O. A.: Response of the Atlantic meridional overturning circulation to increasing atmospheric CO(2): Sensitivity to

mean climate state, Geophysical Research Letters, 34, doi:10.1029/2006GL028756, 2007.

- Weber, T. S. and Deutsch, C.: Ocean nutrient ratios governed by plankton biogeography, Nature, 467, 550–554, doi:10.1038/nature09403, 2010.
- Westbroek, P., Brown, C., Vanbleijswijk, J., Brownlee, C., Brummer, G., Conte, M., Egge, J., Fernandez, E., Jordan, R., Knappertsbusch, M., Stefels, J., Veldhuis, M., Vanderwal, P., and Young, J.: A model system approach to biological climate forcing - the example of Emiliania-huxleyi, Global and Planetary Change, 8, 27– 46, doi:10.1016/0921-8181(93)90061-R, 1993.
- Whitney, F. A., Freeland, H. J., and Robert, M.: Persistently declining oxygen levels in the interior waters of the eastern subarctic Pacific, Progress In Oceanography, 75, 179–199, doi:10.1016/j.pocean.2007.08.007, 2007.
- Wilson, J. D., Barker, S., and Ridgwell, A.: Assessment of the spatial variability in particulate organic matter and mineral sinking fluxes in the ocean interior: Implications for the ballast hypothesis, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 26, doi:10. 1029/2012GB004398, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2012GB004398, 2012.
- Winguth, A. and Maier-Reimer, E.: Causes of the marine productivity and oxygen changes associated with the Permian-Triassic boundary: A reevaluation with ocean general circulation models, Marine Geology, 217, 283–304, doi: 10.1016/j.margeo.2005.02.011, 2005.
- Winter, A. and Siesser, W. G.: Coccolithophores, 1994.
- Woods, H., Makino, W., Cotner, J., Hobbie, S., Harrison, J., Acharya, K., and Elser, J.: Temperature and the chemical composition of poikilothermic organisms, Functional Ecology, 17, 237–245, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2435.2003.00724.x, 2003.
- Yamanaka, Y. and Tajika, E.: The role of the vertical fluxes of particulate organic matter and calcite in the oceanic carbon cycle: Studies using an ocean biogeochemical general circulation model, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 10, 361–382, doi:10.1029/96GB00634, 1996.
- Yool, A., Popova, E. E., and Anderson, T. R.: MEDUSA-1.0: A new intermediate complexity plankton ecosystem model for the global domain, Geoscientific Model Development, 4, 381–417, doi:10.5194/gmd-4-381-2011, 2011.

- Yool, A., Popova, E. E., Coward, A. C., Bernie, D., and Anderson, T. R.: Climate change and ocean acidification impacts on lower trophic levels and the export of organic carbon to the deep ocean, Biogeosciences, 10, 5831–5854, doi:10.5194/ bg-10-5831-2013, 2013.
- Zickfeld, K., Eby, M., Matthews, H. D., Schmittner, A., and Weaver, A. J.: Nonlinearity of carbon cycle feedbacks, Journal of Climate, 24, 4255–4275, doi: 10.1175/2011JCLI3898.1, 2011.
- Zondervan, I.: The effects of light, macronutrients, trace metals and CO2 on the production of calcium carbonate and organic carbon in coccolithophores - A review, Deep-Sea Research Part II-Topical Studies in Oceanography, 54, 521–537, doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.12.004, 2007.
- Zondervan, I., Zeebe, R., Rost, B., and Riebesell, U.: Decreasing marine biogenic calcification: A negative feedback on rising atmospheric pCO2, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 15, 507–516, doi:10.1029/2000GB001321, 2001.